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FOREWORD
The question that prompted this book first struck my mind in the fall of 2000. I was on a book tour for Founding Brothers, making presentations that happened to coincide with the presidential election and the subsequent vote-counting controversy in Florida. One question that came up at every stop concerned the Electoral College. How, in heaven’s name, did the founders invent such a weird contraption? The other predictable question was more plaintive. Why must we choose between Al Gore and George W. Bush, whereas American voters two hundred years ago could choose between John Adams and Thomas Jefferson?
At least initially my answer to the second question was a model of scholarly prudence. The comparison between then and now, I explained, was inherently unfair. Those American statesmen “present at the creation” enjoyed the overwhelming advantage of being first, which conveyed a retrospective luster and iconic status that no one coming after could easily match. And once you learned something about the presidential election of 1800, which was one of the dirtiest and most controversial in American history, you would be less disposed to regard Adams and Jefferson as canonized political saints or the founding era as a pristine political paradise.
While historically correct, this answer proved wholly unsatisfying to most audiences, who seemed determined to regard the founding generation as the gold standard and our contemporary political leaders as a comparatively debased currency. Eventually I decided to play to their prejudices by paraphrasing a relevant observation from Henry Adams. If you reviewed all the American presidents panoramically, Adams joked, then you were obliged to conclude that Darwin got it exactly backward.
As a rhetorical tactic my response was a resounding success, ending the inquiry with a punch line that foreclosed further conversation. But intellectually my answer was only a clever finesse that provided no explanation whatsoever for the creative achievement of the founding generation except its privileged location at the start of the national story. And even though I was at pains to warn against any depiction of the founders as a group of demigods, my response permitted the mythical rendition of the founding era to persist as a once-upon-a-time location in the misty past sometime before the Fall.
Left unanswered, even unasked, was the obvious question: If you believed that the last quarter of the eighteenth century has stood the test of time as the most politically creative chapter in American history, and if you declared inadmissible any explanation for this creative moment that depended upon divine intervention, then what besides dumb luck can account for the achievement that was the American founding? Put simply, how did the American founding happen?
This book represents my attempt to answer that question. Early on, I decided that the answer was multisided, that no singular definition of political creativity could suffice, and that the biblical definition—to make something out of nothing—was entirely inappropriate. My approach, similar to that taken in Founding Brothers, was to assume that narrative is the highest form of historical analysis, that by inhabiting certain propitious moments and telling their stories, I stood the greatest chance of encountering and hunting down my quarry.
Later on, I discovered that some of the stories I had chosen to tell were as much about failure as success, in part because some of the problems facing the founders were insoluble, in part because some problems did not call out their fullest creative energies. Irony was also at work, meaning that impressive resolutions of some problems closed off options to solve others. By circumscribing federal power, especially at the executive level, for example, the founders placed the threat of despotism on the permanent defensive, but in so doing made it virtually impossible to end slavery or reach a just accommodation with the Native Americans.
This is a story, then, about tragedy as well as triumph, indeed about their mutual and inextricable coexistence. I come away from it still believing that the gathering of political talent at this historical moment is unlikely ever to be surpassed, which I suppose means that the Henry Adams quip, though wickedly mischievous, is not wholly unfair. But I also come away with a more chastened sense of celebration, periodically wishing that the founders had been demigods who could perform miracles. Then I catch myself and realize that, if flawless, they would have nothing to teach us. And they do.
PROLOGUE
The Founding
DURING THE LAST QUARTER of the eighteenth century a former colony of Great Britain, generally regarded as a provincial and wholly peripheral outpost of Western Civilization, somehow managed to establish a set of ideas and institutions that, over the stretch of time, became the blueprint for political and economic success for the nation-state in the modern world. Over the course of the next two centuries these ideas and institutions—labeled “democracy” or “liberalism,” though neither term would have been recognizable to the founding generation—replaced the monarchical dynasties of Europe in the nineteenth century, then defeated the totalitarian despotisms of Germany, Japan, and the Soviet Union in the twentieth.
Before we embark on the stories that follow, we need at least to glimpse the contours of the larger story, which is about the triumph of representative government bottomed on the principle of popular sovereignty, a market economy fueled by the energies of unfettered citizens, a secular state unaffiliated with any official religion, and the rule of law that presumed the equality of all citizens. What seemed so brazen and improbable at the time has become the accepted global formula for national success. The only alternative, apart from North Korea’s and Cuba’s last-stand versions of communism, is Islamic fundamentalism. And its essentially medieval values appear to be fighting a desperate rearguard action against modernity itself. The first enduring version of political modernity made its initial appearance in the United States during the revolutionary era.1
The most prominent revolutionary of all, George Washington, offered the first comprehensive explanation for this stunning achievement, and rather interestingly, he chose to emphasize the fortuitous conjunction of large-scale historical forces beyond human control rather than the actions or decisions of men. In Washington’s formulation, written in 1783, even before the full story had played out, the American Revolution enjoyed two incalculable advantages: time—or perhaps timing—and space.
“The foundation of our Empire was not laid in the gloomy age of Ignorance and Suspicion,” he wrote, “but at an Epoch when the rights of mankind were better understood and more clearly defined, than at any former period.” Over the preceding two centuries, a number of English, Scottish, and French thinkers had generated a veritable treasure trove of political knowledge that undermined the medieval worldview about government, society, and even human nature itself. The American people were the beneficiaries of this accumulated wisdom—it had yet to be called the Enlightenment—which had its origins in Europe but was now destined to enjoy its fullest implementation in America. In effect, history had handed the American revolutionaries a blueprint for a new kind of political architecture that did not need to be discovered or invented, only applied. “At this auspicious period,” Washington intoned, “the United States came into existence as a Nation, and if their Citizens should not be completely free and happy, the fault will be intirely their own.”
The second providential advantage was space. Washington was not referring to the distance from predatory European powers provided by the Atlantic Ocean, though on other occasions he did describe that geographic fact as a priceless asset. He was referring, instead, to the almost limitless resources of the North American continent: “The Citizens of America, placed in the most enviable condition, as the sole Lords and Proprietors of a vast Tract of Continent, comprehending all the various soils and climates of the World, and abounding with all the necessaries and conveniences of life, are now by the late satisfactory pacification, acknowledged to be possessed of absolute freedom and Independency; They are, from this period, to be considered as the Actors on a most conspicuous Theatre, which seems to be peculiarly designated by Providence for the display of human greatness and felicity.”2
It was a dazzlingly prophetic statement, especially since the western border at the time was the Mississippi, not the Pacific, and no one really knew what natural resources lay out there for future development and cultivation. But the key insight was that the American republic began with physical and economic assets as well as a rich intellectual legacy of enlightened ideas. It could afford to make mistakes, as it inevitably would, because the sheer potential of the continent would rescue and redeem blunders that would have proved fatal in a more constricted European context. (For example, the sale of western lands would bolster federal revenues sufficiently to make taxes unnecessary for the foreseeable future.) Though republican values were inherently opposed to all aristocratic legacies, the United States began with the largest trust fund of any emerging nation in recorded history.
Even Washington’s explanation of the historical prerequisites for American political success acknowledged that the achievement, no matter how handsomely endowed, would depend on the adroit management of the advantages bestowed by history and geography. No matter how strong a hand had been dealt the revolutionary generation, it had to be played deftly. And if misplayed, all the advantages would collapse into a pile of humiliation and failure. This is what Abraham Lincoln meant eighty years later at Gettysburg when he said that no one was quite sure whether, in the absence of imaginative leadership, a government “so conceived and so dedicated can long endure.”3
One of Washington’s most distinguished contemporaries warned, however, that any shift in focus—from emphasizing the historical conditions underlying the American achievement to insisting on the decisive role of prominent personalities—ran major risks of distortion. John Adams sensed this shift happening in the first decade of the nineteenth century as he looked back at the history he had lived from his retirement perch at Quincy and compared his own memories with the histories already beginning to appear. In a characteristically candid and extraordinarily colorful correspondence with Benjamin Rush, his longtime friend and fellow revolutionary—a correspondence that even featured reports on their respective dreams—Adams warned that the emphasis on personalities and what historians now call “agency” was all wrong.4
Rush actually put it most succinctly: “I shall continue to believe that ‘great men’ are a lie,” he observed, “and that there is very little difference in that superstition which leads us to believe in what the world calls ‘great men’ and in that which leads us to believe in witches and conjurors.” Adams heartily concurred: “The feasts and funerals in honor of Washington is as corrupt a system as that by which saints were canonized and cardinals, popes, and whole hierarchical systems created.” Adams had known and worked alongside Washington for twenty-five years, and could testify that His Excellency himself would object to “the pilgrimages to Mount Vernon as the new Mecca or Jerusalem.” In an effort to display his own modesty—not a natural act for Adams—he made a point of objecting to his own sanctification: “It is become fashionable to call me ‘The Venerable.’ It makes me think of the venerable Bede…or the venerable Savannarola…. Don’t call me ‘Godlike Adams,’ ‘The Father of His Country,’ ‘The Founder of the American Republic,’ or ‘The Founder of the American Empire.’ These titles belong to no man, but to the American people in general.”5
Adams believed that the deification of the revolutionary leaders was transforming the true story of the American Revolution into a melodramatic romance: “It is a common observation in Europe that nothing is so false as modern history,” Adams noted. “I should add that nothing is so false as modern history…except modern American history.” In the Adams formulation, the true history was about chance, contingency, unintended consequences, about political leaders who were often improvising on the edge of catastrophe. Events, not men, were in the saddle, and all the founders were imperfect men rather than gods come down from Mount Olympus. “It was patched and piebald then,” he wrote, “as it is now, ever was, and ever will be, world without end.”6
When one young man tried to congratulate him for belonging to a truly heroic generation, Adams felt obliged to correct him: “I ought not to object to your reverence for your fathers, meaning those concerned with the direction of public affairs,” he cautioned, “but to tell you a very great secret, as far as I am capable of comparing the merit of different periods, I have no reason to believe that we were better than you are.” This was the note that Adams’s grandson, Charles Francis Adams, chose to strike in the 1850s after editing his grandfather’s papers: “We are beginning to forget that the patriots of former days were men like ourselves…and we are almost irresistibly led to ascribe to them in our imaginations certain gigantic proportions and superhuman qualities, without reflecting that this at once robs their character of consistency and their virtues of all merit.”7
It is only fair to note that John Adams was particularly sensitive about the creation of a mythical American story line with a cast of demigods in part because he feared that he would not be given one of the starring roles. His critical assessments of Washington, Thomas Jefferson, and Benjamin Franklin, and even more his devastating denunciations of Alexander Hamilton and Thomas Paine, betrayed a throbbing obsession with his own place in the history books. In his old age he made himself into a one-man wrecking ball aimed at all the statues in the American temple, presumably concluding that if he was too palpably irreverent and too conspicuously imperfect to become an American icon, none of the other statues should be allowed to remain intact.8
Whatever his motives, Adams’s prediction came true. The history of the American founding has become a conversation about the American founders, who have been mythologized and capitalized as Founding Fathers just as he feared they would. And until recently, Adams’s fear that his own reputation would be eclipsed by Washington, Franklin, and Jefferson also proved prophetic. The operative question when discussing the American founding has become not “How did it happen?” but “How did they do it?”
BEFORE WE ENTER the electromagnetic field that continues to envelop both of those questions, a place where wildly extravagant claims and equally hyperbolic counterclaims seem to flourish more robustly than in any other area of American history, save perhaps the Civil War, we would be well advised to pause, get our historical bearings, and pose what is, at least on the face of it, a factual question: What, specifically, did the founding generation achieve? Why are they accorded such iconic status? What, in short, is all the fuss about? My own answer, offered with as much historical detachment as I can muster, is that there were five core achievements.
First, the revolutionary generation won the first successful war for colonial independence in the modern era, against all odds defeating the most powerful army and navy in the world. Washington liked to call the American victory “a standing miracle,” a phrase that suggests some kind of supernatural intervention on America’s side. As we shall see, the French were more important than the gods, and the strategic decisions that made victory possible also made miracles unnecessary. Nevertheless, Washington’s phrase correctly captures the improbable character of the outcome as perceived by most informed observers at the outset of the war and the all-or-nothing gamble that the most prominent revolutionary leaders were prepared to take.9
Second, they established the first nation-sized republic. Until then it was presumed that republican governments based on the principle of popular consent could function only in small areas like Greek city-states or Swiss cantons, because the inherent weakness of republican government made it incapable of decisiveness or the management of a far-flung population. This presumption was proven wrong, and in the process the very definition of what it meant to govern a people was transformed forever in ways that put all coercive forms of political authority on the permanent defensive.
Third, they created the first wholly secular state. Before the American Revolution it was broadly assumed that shared religious convictions were the primary basis for the common values that linked together the people of any political community, indeed the ideological glue that made any sense of community possible. By insisting on the complete separation of church and state, the founders successfully overturned this long-standing presumption.
Fourth, they rejected the conventional wisdom, agreed upon since Aristotle, that political sovereignty must reside in one agreed-upon location, that sovereignty was by definition singular and indivisible. The Constitution defied this assumption by creating multiple and overlapping sources of authority in which the blurring of jurisdiction between federal and state power became an asset rather than a liability, thereby making the very idea of sovereignty itself problematic and its rhetorical depository, “the people,” an elusive and ever-shifting location.
Fifth, they created political parties as institutionalized channels for ongoing debate, which eventually permitted dissent to be regarded not as a treasonable act, but as a legitimate voice in an endless argument. Although British political parties foreshadowed the American party system, and although the founders themselves found it difficult to embrace the notion of a legitimate opposition, the framework they created allowed ongoing dialogue to become a hallmark of the modern liberal state.
Though not a separate achievement per se, a corollary triumph that merits mention is the ability to reconcile two competing and, in several respects, contradictory political impulses. There were really two founding moments: the first in 1776, which declared American independence, and the second in 1787–88, which declared American nationhood. The Declaration of Independence is the seminal document in the first instance, the Constitution in the second. The former is a radical document that locates sovereignty in the individual and depicts government as an alien force, making rebellion against it a natural act. The latter is a conservative document that locates sovereignty in that collective called “the people,” makes government an essential protector of liberty rather than its enemy, and values social balance over personal liberation. It is extremely rare for the same political elite to straddle both occasions. Or, to put it differently, it is uncommon for the same men who make a revolution also to secure it.
These are considerable achievements that continue to glow even brighter with the passage of time, most especially as we witness the extreme difficulty many countries in Africa, Asia, and the Middle East experience in trying to re-create them. But while basking in the reflected glory of their glow, we also need to notice the shadows cast by the two most conspicuous failures of the revolutionary generation. In addition to asking “What did they do?,” we need to ask “What did they fail to do?”
The darkest shadow is unquestionably slavery, the failure to end it, or at least to adopt a gradual emancipation scheme that put it on the road to extinction. Virtually all the most prominent founders recognized that slavery was an embarrassing contradiction that violated all the principles the American Revolution claimed to stand for. And virtually every American historian who has studied the matter has concluded that the persistence and eventual expansion of slavery made the Civil War almost inevitable. While there is plenty of room for honest disagreement over the viability of any emancipation policy in the revolutionary era, slavery remains a permanent stain on the legacy of the founders, as most of them knew it would.
The other shadow, almost as dark, was the failure to implement a just and generous settlement with the Native Americans. Again, what such a settlement might have looked like must remain an open question. (One of the stories that follows suggests an answer that was tried and found wanting.) But all the principal founders acknowledged that the indigenous people of North America had a legitimate claim to the soil and a moral claim on the conscience of the infant republic. This is another problem, like slavery, that either failed to engage the creative energies of the founders in their fullest form or was inherently insoluble.10
If this admittedly over-succinct summary is essentially correct, then the story of the founding is, at least at one level, an extraordinary tale of monumental achievement. The British philosopher and essayist Alfred North Whitehead was probably right to observe that there have been only two instances in the history of Western Civilization when the political leaders of an emerging nation behaved as well as anyone could reasonably expect. The first was Rome under Caesar Augustus and the second was America’s revolutionary generation. The American historian Samuel Eliot Morison also thought the political creativity of the founders ranked at or near the top of any all-time list, though he cited the political ideas unleashed during the English Civil War as the only worthy competitor. Whatever the proper international comparison, there can be little doubt that the late eighteenth century was the most politically creative era in American history.11
But the triumph was also a tragedy of monumental proportions. For the founding left slavery intact south of the Potomac, a protected base from which it spread like a cancer into the territories of the southwest, thereby rendering any peaceful solution impossible as the slave population increased eightfold between 1776 and 1860. And the seeds of Indian extinction east of the Mississippi were indisputably sown in the late eighteenth century.
Taken together, these triumphal and tragic elements should constitute the ingredients for an epic historical narrative that defies all moralistic categories, a story line rooted in the coexistence of grace and sin, grandeur and failure, brilliance and blindness. No aspiring historian, or novelist, could wish for more. But that is not the way the story has been told. Instead, we have been asked to choose between two simplistic narratives of the founding, one featuring the founders as demigods who were permitted to glimpse the eternal truths, or, as Ralph Waldo Emerson once put it, “to see God face to face,” the other crowded with a cast of villains who collectively comprise the deadest, whitest males in American history.12
It is an interpretive syndrome that Henry Adams once described as “infantile,” but that might more accurately be labeled “adolescent.” In the same way that teenagers display wild mood swings toward their parents—we go from omniscient seers to despicable idiots in the twinkling of an adolescent eye—the reputation of the founders over the past two centuries has oscillated in the same kind of swoonish arc between idolization and evisceration. The mindlessly celebratory and the naively judgmental responses to the founders are in fact complementary cartoons, the front and back sides of the same distorted picture that we periodically rotate, like a child fluctuating between the emotional imperatives of unconditional love and Oedipal hate.
Although the larger contours of this hyperbolic pattern continue to hold, over the last forty years most academic historians have essentially abandoned the founding and founders altogether in order to focus their scholarly attention on the inarticulate, peripheral, dispossessed Americans—women, slaves, and Indians. Ironically, this shift in focus, rooted in a conviction that mainstream politics is overworked terrain, has coincided with the publication of comprehensive editions of the papers of the most prominent founders that, taken together, constitute the most complete documentation of human endeavor by any political elite in recorded history.
But the currently hegemonic narrative within the groves of academe—race, class, and gender are the privileged categories of analysis—customarily labels (and libels) the founders as racists, classists, and sexists, a kind of rogues’ gallery rather than a gallery of greats. Within this cloistered climate, in short, the Oedipal side of the adolescent interpretation holds sway, so that it is possible, in all seriousness, to argue that the American Revolution was an unmitigated calamity and the founding itself an abject failure because, as one historian put it, it “failed to free the slaves, failed to offer full political equality to women, failed to grant citizenship to Indians, failed to create an economic world in which all could compete on equal terms.”13
Whether the founders are studiously ignored or condescendingly reviled within the academy, the effect on the larger public has been negligible, since the scholarly debates are in-house affairs, the books and articles written in language that the uninitiated find inaccessible and often incomprehensible. For whatever the reasons, historians dedicated to a recovery of the experience of ordinary Americans in the past have chosen to abandon ordinary readers in the present, preferring to communicate only with each other. This voluntary abdication by the academy, coupled with the availability of unprecedented documentary sources for all the major founders, has created a huge gap between what we actually know about the founding in all its messy splendor and what is known by most literate and educated Americans.
Starting about a dozen years ago, however, this gap began to be filled by writers, many not professional historians, who plundered the massive new collections of correspondence and documentation on the founding era to produce a flurry of books, mostly biographies, that became a publishing sensation because of their unforeseen popularity. Books on John Adams, Benjamin Franklin, Alexander Hamilton, and George Washington, in addition to books about the drafting of the Declaration of Independence, Washington’s crossing of the Delaware on Christmas night in 1776, and the founders as a self-conscious “band of brothers,” enjoyed unprecedented commercial and critical success.
The source of this founders surge need not concern us here, though clearly there is an audience for serious history about our origins that the academy has largely ignored. The major point is that the founders and the founding are back, in a big way, as serious topics of public conversation. The long latent interest in our origins—the old “How did it happen?” question—has become relevant again. And, most importantly, the electromagnetic shield is breaking down. For one of the hallmarks of the recent founders surge is the emphasis on flawed greatness, the coexistence of intellectual depth and personal shallowness, the role of contingency and sheer accident instead of divine providence. The founding has at least begun to become the topic in an adult conversation rather than a juvenile melodrama populated only by heroes or villains. In a sense, we have reached the realistic place that John Adams wished us to occupy two hundred years ago.14
ALTHOUGH MOST professional historians of the revolutionary era have opted to avoid mainstream politics altogether in favor of less articulate and more marginalized groups—a rather bizarre choice as I see it, somewhat akin to showing up at Fenway Park with a lacrosse stick—there have been several attempts to answer the “How did they do it?” question in ways that carry us beyond the conventional cartoon. These attempts are not mutually exclusive but, quite the opposite, overlapping efforts at an explanation for the creative outburst of the founding era that carry us past vague suggestions that there was something special in the water back then.
The earliest of the recent efforts came from Douglass Adair, who focused attention on “the lust for fame” as a conspicuous thread that runs through the letters of all the founders. Fame as they understood it was not just popular recognition during their lifetimes; fame was forever. It meant living on in the memories of subsequent generations yet unborn. The only election result that counted for them, Adair argued, was posterity’s judgment, and the only way to win that vote and achieve secular immortality was to conduct themselves according to a classical code that linked their personal ambitions, which were gargantuan, to the long-term interest of the nation-in-making. Only if the United States succeeded would cities, states, and mountains be named after them. (Washington’s decision to free the slaves he owned in his will, for example, was in great part motivated by his realization that failure to do so would forever stain his reputation.) They were, in effect, always on their best behavior because they knew we would be watching, an idea we should find endearing because it makes us complicitous in their greatness.
The Adair argument certainly explains why any library of the founders’ writings must bulge at the seams. They were compulsively fastidious about preserving every scrap of paper, Washington even requesting (and receiving) a team of secretaries to transcribe his wartime correspondence from a Continental Congress then unable even to clothe and feed his army. The obsession with posterity’s judgment also explains why, in their old age, they often chose to retrospectively airbrush their youthful blunders out of the picture, as when Jefferson edited out his confident claim that the French Revolution would be a bloodless triumph. Especially toward the end, posing for posterity became an instinctive act, because posterity was the only afterlife of which most of them were certain. (Adams, colorfully irreverent to the end, declared that he was not sure if there was life after death, but “if it should be revealed or demonstrated that there is no future state, my advice to every man, woman, and child would be…to take opium.”) The Adair interpretation does not attempt to offer a comprehensive explanation for the creative explosion at the founding, but it does help to explain why the founders came down to us as otherworldly icons.15
An altogether different explanation for the distinctive character of the founders’ achievement comes from Gordon Wood, whose argument echoes the earliest observation by Washington that timing was crucial. As we have seen, Washington was referring to the availability of political ideas generated by the Enlightenment, which were abstract theories in Europe that became living ideas in the American laboratory. Wood endorses this explanation, but expands it considerably by describing the revolutionary era as a truly special moment that provided opportunities for political leadership and creativity never possible before and never achievable since.
It was simultaneously, Wood observes, a post-aristocratic and a pre-democratic age. The first condition meant that politics in America was open to a whole class of talented men—women were still unimaginable as public figures—who would have languished in obscurity throughout Europe because they lacked the proper bloodlines. Washington, for example, would have never risen beyond the rank of major in the British army. Adams would have become a mere country lawyer. Hamilton, who was literally a bastard, would have never enjoyed the opportunity to display his natural brilliance. To be sure, there was still a discernible social hierarchy in revolutionary America, but there was also unprecedented opportunity for movement from bottom to top (and vice versa). When the revolutionary crisis arrived, it could draw upon the latent talent of a segment of the population never before permitted access.
The pre-democratic side of the story, which Wood emphasizes, describes the founders as a self-conscious and unembarrassed political elite, what Jefferson called “a natural aristocracy,” altogether contemptuous of being described as democrats. All of them regarded the act of campaigning for office as a formal confession that they were unworthy to serve, a statement that they were not statesmen but demagogues. While popular opinion was hardly irrelevant, it was regarded as flighty, undependable, shortsighted, and easily manipulated. The ultimate allegiance of the founders was not to “the people” but to “the public,” which was the long-term interest of the citizenry that they, the founders, had been chosen to divine.
The founding generation, then, had the advantage of occupying a place in time that enjoyed the benefit of post-aristocratic access to latent talent without the liabilities of a fully egalitarian society in which an elitist sense of superiority was forbidden. Living between two worlds, without belonging completely to either, the founders maximized the advantages of both. In a sense, they were America’s first and only Lost Generation, for, as Wood is at pains to show, they can never happen again. Or, as Mark Twain pronounced upon arriving at the Holy Land: “Christ been here once. Will never come again.”16
A third explanation comes from Bernard Bailyn, who offers the disarmingly counterintuitive argument that the prescience of the founders was a function of their provincialism. Bailyn poses, more clearly than anyone else, the core question: How did this backwoods population of three to five million farmers, mechanics, and minor gentry, huddled on the distant edge of the British Empire, far removed from the epicenters of learning and culture in London and Paris, somehow produce thinkers and ideas that fundamentally transformed the landscape of modern politics?
His answer, at least as I read it, is that less was more. The American political conversation, in effect, could afford to range more widely because it was not weighed down by encrusted traditions, embedded institutions, and socially sanctioned inhibitions. Being on the periphery rather than at the cosmopolitan center carried a cultural stigma, to be sure, in which Britons described their American cousins as awkward bumpkins only one step removed from primitive savagery. (Proudly and slyly donning his coonskin hat in Paris, Franklin embraced the stigma and made it into a badge of honor.) But being far removed from the cultural metropolis, which was laden with what Jefferson liked to call “the dead hand of the past,” the revolutionary generation was freer to question the old self-evident truths and invent their own without fear of offending established sources of power and authority because, in fact, there were none.17
Finally, and I hope not awkwardly, I have argued that the success of the founders was partially attributable to their ideological and even temperamental diversity. Although George Washington was primus inter pares, first among equals within the leadership class of the revolutionary generation, we speak of the founders in the plural for a reason. The American founding was a collective enterprise with multiple players who harbored fundamentally different beliefs about what the American Revolution meant. Adams and Jefferson went to their graves arguing with each other about what they had actually founded and how they had somehow done it. Unlike the French, Russian, and Chinese revolutions, or the scores of Third World revolutions in the twentieth century, the American Revolution never devolved into a one-man despotism—Napoleon, Lenin/Stalin, Mao—that became the sole face of the revolutionary project. The American founding was, and still is, a group portrait.
Political and personal diversity enhanced creativity by generating a dynamic chemistry that surfaced routinely in the form of competing convictions whenever a major crisis materialized. Every major decision—the ratification of the Constitution, the creation of the National Bank, the response to the French Revolution, the Jay Treaty—produced a bracing argument among founders of different persuasions about revolutionary principles. This not only enriched the intellectual ferment, but also replicated the checks and balances of the Constitution with a human version of the same principle.18
Despite their different points of emphasis, all four of these interpretations are welcome contributions, because they move us beyond the infamous electromagnetic field inhabited only by heroes and villains. And like the best of the recent entries in the founders sweepstakes, they contribute to a discernibly adult conversation about the sources and causes of the American founding as a significant political triumph. The stories that follow represent my effort to continue that conversation, and extend it so as to include the tragic dimension as well.
THE STORIES do not claim to offer either an exhaustive or a wholly comprehensive account of the founding era, here defined as the twenty-eight-year period between the start of the War for Independence (1775) and the Louisiana Purchase (1803). The repertory company of players has been assembled according to the Casablanca Principle, which is to say that I have rounded up the usual suspects, who have starring roles in some stories and make only cameo appearances in others. If four of the founders must be listed at the top of the bill, they would be, in alphabetical order, John Adams, Thomas Jefferson, James Madison, and George Washington. Although each of the stories has been designed to stand on its own as a narrative of one significant moment of creative achievement or failure, taken together they feature several recurrent themes.
First, Adams was essentially correct in insisting that the major political decisions that shaped the founding were usually improvisational occasions. While there were a few cerebral epiphanies based on intense thinking, most creative choices were pragmatic responses to rapidly moving events beyond human control, on-the-run adaptations of classical texts to shifting contexts. The founders were, in fact, making it up as they went along, and any historical interpretation that emphasizes their otherworldly serenity or uncommon prescience in grasping how it would all turn out is a fundamental distortion of the way history happened.
Second, Washington was also correct in claiming that space was a priceless American asset. While that asset was an unsolicited geographic gift for which the founders could take no credit, recognizing its advantages provided the occasion for several of the most creative moments in the founding era. The scale of the American theater was unprecedented, especially when compared to tidier European spaces, and the most original political contributions made by the founders were offered in response to that unique condition.
Third, in terms of creativity, the control of pace was almost as impressive as the control of space. The founders opted for an evolutionary rather than revolutionary version of political and social change, preferring to delay delivery on the full promise of the American Revolution rather than risk implosion in the mode of the French Revolution. Although it is difficult for many modern-day critics to acknowledge the point, this deferral strategy, far from being a moral failure, was in fact a profound insight rooted in a realistic appraisal of how enduring social change best happens. But the exception to this rule, removing slavery from the political agenda on the grounds that it would die a natural death, proved a massive miscalculation.
Fourth, the successful management of space and pace was not matched when it came to race, which proved impervious to any imaginative response whatsoever. In the end, it was psychologically impossible for the founders to imagine the peaceful coexistence of whites and free African Americans in the same nation-state. (The same was not true for Native Americans.) Without any historical precedents to guide them, the founders could imagine a secular state and a large-scale republic, but they could not imagine a biracial society. As a result, whenever race entered the founding conversation, tragedy prevailed.
The sheer act of listing these themes suggests that an orderly set of conclusions resides inherently in the following stories, that generalizations can be neatly teased out of the separate tales, which then can levitate above the ground like distilled clouds of truth. But that is not really the way that stories work, or the way that historical truth, if there is such a thing, ought to be approached. Rather than float above the ground, we need to dive into the messy moments and do our best to listen as a finite number of long-dead men struggle to understand the historical currents of their rather propitious time. It is the spring of 1775, the War for Independence has just begun, but no one is quite sure what to do…
CHAPTER ONE
The Year
IF PERMITTED the historical license to stretch the definition of a year, then the fifteen months between the shots fired at Lexington and Concord in April of 1775 and the adoption of the Declaration of Independence in July of 1776 can justifiably claim to be both the most consequential and the strangest year in American history. It was consequential because the rationale for American independence and the political agenda for an independent American republic first became explicit at this time. It was strange because while men were dying, whole towns being burned to the ground, women being raped, captured spies and traitors being executed, the official posture of what called itself “The United Colonies of North America” remained abiding loyalty to the British Crown.1
Whether the American colonists were living a lie, an illusion, or a calculated procrastination is a good question. But when Thomas Jefferson finally got around to drafting the Declaration of Independence in June of 1776, one sentence enjoyed special resonance as an accurate characterization of the past year: “Prudence, indeed, will dictate that governments long established should not be changed for light and transient causes; and accordingly all experience hath shown, that mankind are more disposed to suffer, while evils are sufferable, than to right themselves by abolishing the forms to which they are accustomed.” This was Jefferson’s lyrical way of describing the quite remarkable feat of making an explosion happen in slow motion.
After all, prudence does not ordinarily make its way onto any list of revolutionary virtues. The very idea of a cautious revolutionary would seem, on the face of it, a contradiction in terms. The standard story of most revolutions features a cast of desperate characters with impulsive temperaments, utopian visions, a surefire sense of where history is headed, and an unquenchable urge to get there fast. Indeed, tarrying along the way is usually regarded as counterrevolutionary.
If that is what the standard story of a revolution requires, then one of two conclusions about the American Revolution follows naturally: either it was not really a revolution at all but merely (or perhaps not so merely) a war for colonial independence, the first of its kind in the modern world, to be sure, but not a fundamental shift in the social order that left the world changed forever; or else it was a strange kind of revolution that did not fit the standard pattern because many of its most prominent leaders were convinced that the pace of change must be slowed down and the most radical of the revolutionary promises deferred. The result is another contradiction, or perhaps a paradox: namely, an evolutionary revolution.
In short, the decision to secede from the British Empire was accompanied by a truly revolutionary agenda for the infant American republic. But the most prominent leaders, John Adams chief among them, insisted on the deferral of the revolutionary agenda and, in some instances, its postponement into the distant future. Instead of regarding this gradualist approach as a moral and political failure, a conclusion that historians on the left regard as, shall we say, self-evident, the argument offered here is just the opposite. In my judgment the calculated decision to make the American Revolution happen in slow motion was a creative act of statesmanship that allowed the United States to avoid the bloody and chaotic fate of subsequent revolutionary movements in France, Russia, and China.
And so, within a very strange year of full-scale war occurring alongside political reticence, we find an equally strange pattern emerging that will establish the uniquely judicious framework within which the American Revolution proceeded. John Adams, the major figure in the Continental Congress, and George Washington, the commander in chief of the Continental Army, are the chief players in this unusual story. Thomas Paine, who fits the more conventional revolutionary pattern perfectly, turns out to be the exception rather than the rule, temporarily indispensable but ultimately disposable. The great creative achievement embodied in the leadership of Adams and Washington at this propitious moment was to assure that the American Revolution moved forward, to borrow a modern phrase, with all deliberate speed.
HINDSIGHTS
WHEN JOHN ADAMS looked back from retirement on his experience thirty years earlier in the Second Continental Congress, two recollections nudged out all the other memories. The first was a bit awkward to acknowledge publicly, but since Adams believed that truth should always trump modesty (especially false modesty), he laid down his personal marker on the proceedings: “I was incessantly employed through the Whole Fall, Winter and Spring of 1775 and 1776 during their Sittings and on Committees on mornings and Evenings,” he recalled, “and unquestionably did more business than any other Member of that house.”2
The second recollection had the effect of making the first impossible to verify. No true history of that fateful time would ever be written, Adams insisted, because the most important conversations occurred “out of doors” in local taverns and coffeehouses. What’s more, the official record of the deliberations imposed a misleading gloss of coherence over the congressional proceedings, concealing the messy confusion that reigned supreme for all the delegates, himself included. Any coherent narrative of the deliberations must necessarily falsify the way it really was for all the participants, who were improvising without a script in a historical drama without a known conclusion.3
Adams was making a serious, perhaps even a profound, point: namely, that retrospective history—that is, history viewed with the benefit of hindsight—is invariably neater and tidier than history as experienced by those making it. But since hindsight is the only interpretive tool historians have at their disposal, we must run the risk of deploying it here, enjoying the clairvoyance that Adams and his fellow delegates were denied in order to establish the political context of the imperial crisis that they, albeit lacking our prescient perch, were confronting in the late spring and summer of 1775.
Why was there an imperial crisis? The answer of the moment was that British troops had gunned down ninety-five American patriots at Lexington and Concord. Adams was not sure whether this bloodletting would become the opening shot in a war for American independence. He was sure that it represented another escalation in what had become a twelve-year argument about the proper place of the American colonies within a reconfigured British Empire. The Adams version of that dispute was highly partisan. In effect, a corrupt British government had arbitrarily decided to impose new taxes and political restrictions on its loyal American subjects as part of a conspiratorial plot to deprive them of their traditional rights as Englishmen. The carnage at Lexington and Concord, then, was the logical and inevitable culmination of a conscious British scheme to transform loyal subjects into abject slaves.4
Hindsight permits a more detached and ultimately ironic version of the imperial story. In 1763, as a result of its stupendous victory in the French and Indian War, Great Britain found itself a newly arrived world power with a vast empire in the eastern third of North America. Previously, British governance of their thirteen coastal colonies had been a lackadaisical affair, with royal governors largely beholden to local legislatures, which controlled the power of the purse. Enforcement of the trade regulations purportedly required by the Navigation Acts was equally blithe in spirit. Now, however, the sheer scale of its recently acquired American empire, plus the sudden recognition that governance of its expanded domain required more management than a few secretaries and clerks in Whitehall could muster, forced a major overhaul of this accidental empire into something more appropriately imperial. What looked to Adams like a sinister plot to enslave the American colonists was viewed from London as a sensible plan to make the British Empire worthy of its name.5
There then ensued a decade of parliamentary legislation—the Sugar Act, the Stamp Act, the Townshend Acts, the Coercive Acts—all designed to fold the colonies into the empire by placing them within the authority of Parliament, which represented the collective interests of all British citizens everywhere. The colonists, of course, contested that claim, Adams leading the way by arguing that American interests were not represented in Parliament, but rather in the respective colonial legislatures, which alone could justifiably speak for American interests because they alone were duly elected to do so.6
Knowing as we do the world-changing events about to transpire—a seven-and-a-half-year war in which more Americans were killed or wounded proportionally than in any subsequent conflict save the Civil War, in which the British lost their entire empire in North America except for Canada—it seems strange that such a massive movement of the historical templates could be caused by such a minor, merely constitutional, difference of opinion. In retrospect, the core problem blocking a sensible resolution was the British presumption—fully as self-evident to them as the truths that Jefferson was soon to hurl at “a candid world”—that imperial sovereignty must be singular. For George III and his chief minister, Lord North, it was akin to an axiom of political physics, a veritable Newtonian principle of political theory, that there must be one sovereign source of governance. To suggest otherwise was tantamount to arguing there was not one but many gods.
If they could only have jettisoned that assumption, a workable solution to the imperial crisis was staring them right in the face. Indeed, it was proposed by the First Continental Congress in 1774 and would be proposed several times again by the Second Continental Congress throughout 1775 and up to July of 1776. The solution was shared sovereignty, whereby the American colonies remained within the British Empire as loyal subjects of the Crown but retained control over their own domestic affairs. A version of this creative solution, called federalism, became the basis for the American constitutional settlement in 1787–88. A century later the same principle became the organizing feature of the British Commonwealth. Our dalliance with hindsight, then, ends with two overlapping conclusions: first, the American Revolution was eminently avoidable; second, the imaginative failure of the British ministry in 1775–76 constitutes perhaps the greatest blunder in the history of British statecraft.7
THE SUMMER OF 1775
THE SECOND Continental Congress convened in Philadelphia on May 10, 1775. It was the second because there had already been a first the previous year. The term “Continental” derived from the primary purpose of that earlier gathering, which was to establish a Continental Association charged with overseeing the nonimportation agreements adopted by the separate colonies in order to exert pressure on British merchants, and through them on the British government. The more obvious term “American” still carried lingering connotations of stigma, a word Londoners continued to use to describe low-life provincials on the periphery of the great metropolitan empire. “American” also implied a national identity and agenda that most colonists were not prepared to declare publicly, if at all.8
The man destined to dominate the sessions and eventually earn the title “Atlas of independence” did not look the part. At thirty-nine John Adams had already lost much of his hair, several of his teeth, and any semblance of a waistline. Though he had gained a reputation in the previous congress as an impressive orator, his diaries and letters reveal a man alternately vain and insecure, constantly measuring himself against his colleagues as a way of bolstering his own self-confidence. Edward Rutledge of South Carolina, for example, was “sprightly but not deep.” Benjamin Rush of Pennsylvania, who eventually became a lifelong friend, was initially described as “Awkward as a junior Batchelor, or Sophomore.” Adams seemed to regard the congress less as a legislature than as a theater, where he and the other delegates were trying out for the roles of Demosthenes or Cicero. “It is to be a School of Political Prophets, I suppose,” he wrote to James Warren, then his closest friend, “a Nursery of American Statesmen.” His highest aspiration was to be one of them.9
The chief Adams asset—apart from his almost painful earnestness, his Harvard degree, his deep reading of history, and his remarkable wife, Abigail, who loved him unconditionally but confronted him candidly whenever his ego began to swell (e.g., “Down vanity!”)—was a keen sense of where this political drama was destined to end. Just before leaving for Philadelphia he wrote Abigail, expressing his disdain for “Moody’s Doctrine,” named after an eccentric New England minister, Samuel Moody. The essence of Moody’s Doctrine was that “When Men know not what to do, they ought not to do they know not what.” Adams liked what he called “this oracular Jingle of Words,” which made sense, he thought, for the majority of delegates in Philadelphia, who believed that a total rupture with Great Britain must be avoided at all costs. It did not, however, apply to him, since he believed the rupture had already occurred.10
Adams arrived at the Second Continental Congress as one of the avowed radicals, meaning one of the few delegates prepared to contemplate outright American independence. After the bloodletting at Lexington and Concord, to be sure, his radical posture no longer seemed so extreme, though the moderates in congress retained the balance of power. But Adams believed that the moderate agenda, despite its majority status, was already doomed. “We shall be convinced that the Cancer is too deeply rooted,” he predicted, “and too far spread to be cured by anything short of cutting it out entirely.” The moderates, he apprised Abigail, were “waiting for a Messiah…that will never come.”11
But then, in almost the next breath, Adams sounded a more cautionary note that effectively outlined the two-pronged strategy that would define the agenda of the Second Continental Congress for the next year. The congress should move simultaneously on two parallel tracks, “the Sword in one Hand and the Olive Branch in the other—to proceed with Warlike Measures, and conciliatory Measures Pari Passu.” Adams never seriously believed that conciliatory gestures possessed even a remote chance of succeeding. (This is why, many years later, when asked who did more than anyone else to promote American independence, he declined the honor in favor of George III.) On several occasions during the summer of 1775 he lost his composure and fired impertinent and ill-advised volleys at the moderate coalition in congress, which invariably got him into trouble. John Dickinson, the most prominent moderate from Pennsylvania, he dismissed as “a certain great Fortune and piddling Genius whose Fame has been trumpeted so loudly, [and] has given a silly Cast to our whole Doings.” When this remark made it into the press, Dickinson and many of the other moderates ceased speaking to Adams.12
But his abiding posture was patience. “We must have a Petition to the King, and a delicate Proposal of Negociation & C. This Negociation I dread like Death. But it must be proposed.” He dreaded the effort at political conciliation because, though only a chimera, it afforded a golden opportunity for the British ministry to seize the political initiative by appearing open to a compromise, thus splitting the radical and moderate coalitions in congress into wholly separate camps. (Fortunately, neither George III nor his chief ministers ever gave this obvious strategy serious consideration until it was too late.) Despite his periodic outbursts against moderates like Dickinson, Adams actually embraced the two-track approach because it allowed the radical option of independence to ripen on the political vine: “We cannot force Events,” he explained. “We must Suffer People to make their own Way in many Cases.” Whether he was referring to the moderates in congress or the much larger constituency out there in the American countryside was not clear. But he believed that ideas needed to fester until both his fellow delegates and his fellow Americans came to recognize, at their own speed and in their own way, that what had initially seemed so improbable was in fact inevitable.13
In the meantime, the radicals and moderates in the congress could work together, both sides acknowledging the complementary legitimacy of the other. The hobbyhorse of the moderates was a compromise that proposed an immediate cessation of hostilities and a recognition of royal authority, but not parliamentary authority, over the colonies. The records of the Second Continental Congress and the modern editions of the collected letters of the delegates, on the other hand, are littered with preparations for war: locating depositories of saltpeter for gunpowder and lead for muskets or cannonballs; plans for an invasion of Canada; the appointment of one of their own, George Washington, to assume command of New England militia units outside Boston; opening American ports to foreign trade in brazen defiance of the Navigation Acts; plans to create an American navy—Adams was the chief advocate and architect of this scheme—with regulations modeled on the harsh but effective code of the British navy.14
But, as Adams predicted, events rather than petitions would dictate the direction of the outcome. On June 18, 1775, Abigail reported the first salvo: “The battle began upon our intrenchments upon Bunker’s Hill, Saturday morning about three o’clock, and has not ceased yet, and it is now three o’clock Sabbath afternoon…. How many have fallen, we know not. The constant roar of the cannon is so distressing that we cannot eat, drink, or sleep…. I will add more as I hear further.” She noted that the Adams family physician, Joseph Warren, was a conspicuous casualty who “fell gloriously fighting for his country.” As casualty estimates trickled back to Philadelphia and London, it became clear that the British had achieved a nearly ruinous victory, suffering over one thousand killed and wounded out of an attacking force of less than twenty-five hundred. Critics of George III’s policy in London had a field day, noting that a few more victories like this would result in the annihilation of the British army.15
Rather than cause George III and Lord North to reconsider their policy, the Battle of Bunker Hill only hardened their resolve to crush the American rebellion. They immediately began inquiries with Scottish and German allies to recruit a mercenary army of twenty thousand troops to supplement a British expeditionary force that would launch an invasion of America the following spring or summer. For his part, Adams interpreted the Battle of Bunker Hill as clear evidence that the British army was not the unbeatable leviathan that had been advertised. His resolve was also fortified a few months later upon receiving the news that a British officer, James Drew, had walked over the battlefield the day after the event and ordered his troops to summarily execute all the wounded Americans. Drew himself also dug up the shallow grave of Joseph Warren, spit on his body, then cut off his head. Gratuitous atrocities of this sort only confirmed what Adams already knew: that there was no turning back, that lines had been crossed that could never be retraced. But Adams made no passionate speeches about Bunker Hill to his fellow delegates in the congress. For once, he kept his mouth shut. Events spoke louder than words, and they were all headed his way.16
THE ENCAMPMENT
“I CAN NOW INFORM YOU,” Adams wrote to Abigail in mid-June, “that the Congress have made choice of the modest and virtuous, the amiable, generous and brave General Washington, Esquire, to be General of the American army, and that he is to repair, as soon as possible, to the camp before Boston.” While the newly appointed commander in chief was certainly virtuous and brave by any standard, very few candid observers would have called him modest or amiable. And the claim that there was an American army for him to command was, it turns out, a laughable exaggeration.17
When Adams recalled this moment in his memoirs many years later, he amplified his earlier inaccuracies, claiming that several other viable candidates were under serious consideration and that only his own strenuous effort on Washington’s behalf assured his appointment. The simpler truth was that Washington alone possessed the core qualifications for the job: he was the most prominent American military hero during the French and Indian War; he was a Virginian, which was crucial in order to establish Virginia’s solidarity with the ongoing conflict in Massachusetts; he was a fellow delegate sitting in the congress—the only one wearing a military uniform, by the way—and therefore one of their own. His selection was so foreordained that a story Adams liked to tell in old age actually captured a larger share of the truth: Washington was always chosen whenever American statesmen gathered because, Adams joked, at slightly over six foot three he was always a head taller than anyone else in the room.18
Temperamentally, at least on the face of it, Washington was the anti-Adams. If Adams was excitable, always on the verge of a volcanic eruption that threatened to overwhelm his opponents in a lava flow of words, Washington was preternaturally calm and almost obsessively self-controlled, a man accustomed to dominating any room by his sheer physical presence, to lead by listening while less secure men babbled on. If Adams was a voracious reader with impeccable intellectual credentials as a lifelong student of politics and history, Washington’s formal education had stopped at the grade-school level and his primal convictions about the world and how it worked had developed through experience rather than reading, chiefly as a young soldier on the Virginia frontier. (In effect, Adams had gone to Harvard and Washington had gone to war.) If Adams wore his ambitions and his heart on his sleeve, Washington’s equally monumental ambitions were buried in a heart that no one was permitted to see, much less touch. If Adams conducted an ongoing conversation with himself in his diary, recording his doubts, impulses, vanities, even his dreams, Washington’s introspections were invisible, thereby conveying the impression that they did not exist or that he regarded their expression as a wasteful self-indulgence. His diary entries were all about the weather, and when he recorded which way the wind was blowing, he was not being metaphorical.
On the other hand, Washington shared Adams’s contempt for British presumptions of superiority. The fact that he had once been rejected for a commission in the British army did not strike Washington as a measure of his inferiority so much as a statement of their stupidity. In that sense, both men were self-confident and self-made; both deeply resented any imperial system that treated them as mere subjects. Finally, like Adams, Washington had come to the Second Continental Congress convinced that the prospect for a peaceful resolution of the imperial crisis was remote in the extreme. Despite their temperamental differences, then, in the crucible of this propitious moment they were kindred spirits politically, marching several steps ahead of public opinion.19
Even more than Adams, Washington harbored a realistic sense of the challenge posed by the British army, the finest and most professional force of its kind in the world. As he departed Philadelphia for Boston, Washington confessed to his brother-in-law, Burwell Bassett, that he might have committed himself to an impossible mission: “I am now Imbarked on a tempestuous ocean, from whence, perhaps, no friendly harbour is to be found…. I can answer but for three things, a firm belief in the justice of our Cause—close attention to the prosecution of it—and the strictest integrity—If these cannot supply the places of Ability & Experience, the Cause will suffer & more than probably my character along with it, as reputation derives its principal support from success.” Compared to the cream of the British officer corps that he would encounter at Boston, Washington was a rank amateur who had never commanded more than a regiment in battle. He purchased several books on military organization and tactics on the way out of Philadelphia in the hope of giving himself a crash course on commanding an army.20
By the time Washington arrived at the outskirts of Boston on July 3, the smoke from Bunker Hill had cleared and the shape of the military engagement between American and British troops had already assumed the character of a marathon staring match. The American army, comprised entirely of New England militia, though soon to be reinforced by several companies of sharpshooters racing up from Virginia, Maryland, and Pennsylvania, occupied an eight-mile arc of breastworks and trenches encircling the town of Boston. Inside were seven thousand British regulars—Washington incorrectly believed they totaled over eleven thousand—under the command of Thomas Gage, soon to be replaced by William Howe. It was a recipe for stalemate, since the British had no intention of repeating the catastrophe of Bunker Hill, and the Americans lacked the tactical experience and proficiency to launch a successful offensive. As Washington put it a few months later: “Put them [his troops] behind a Parapet—a Breast Work—Stone Wall…and they will give a good Acct…. But they will not March boldly up to a work…or stand exposed on a plain.” And so the Battle of Boston became the Boston Siege. “It seemed to be the principle employment of both armies,” wrote one observer, “to look at each other with spyglasses.”21
It also became clear very quickly that Washington had assumed command not of an army so much as of an insurgency. It was one thing to declare that a unified American army existed, and Washington did so immediately upon his arrival: “The Continental Congress having now taken all the troops of the several Colonies, which have been raised, or which may be hereafter raised for the support and defence of the liberties of America; into their Pay and Service. They are now the Troops of the United Provinces of North America; and it is hoped that all Distinctions of Colonies will be laid aside.” But it was another thing altogether to translate that declaration from a hope into reality.22
New England farmers, artisans, and laborers had rallied to the cause in a glorious display of patriotism that, at its most primal level, was rooted in a stubborn and fiercely independent spirit. At its nub, that spirit resented and resisted anyone telling them what they must do. But that same independent spirit also recoiled at the imposition of military discipline as a violation of the very values they believed they were fighting for. Washington got himself into all kinds of political trouble by describing his New England soldiers as “an exceedingly dirty & nasty people” who are “by no means such troops, in any respect, as you are led to believe of them from the Accts which are published.” They felt perfectly free to ignore the orders of their officers, whom they had elected and therefore regarded as chosen representatives rather than superiors. Leaving their posts for a few weeks to return home struck them not as desertion, but instead as a wholly sensible exercise of the very freedom they were defending.23
There are a few almost comical General Orders issued by Washington’s headquarters, one demanding that soldiers cease randomly firing their muskets into the air, another that enlisted men refrain from relieving themselves wherever they felt the urge. Then there was this: “The General does not mean to discourage the practice of bathing…but he expressly forbids any person doing it at or near the Bridge in Cambridge, where it has been observed and complained of that many Men, lost to all sense of decency and common modesty, are running about naked upon the Bridge, whilst Passengers, and even ladies of the first fashion in the neighbourhood are passing over it, as if they meant to glory in their shame.” Washington was just beginning to glimpse the paradox that would haunt his leadership of the Continental Army for the next seven years. In effect, the success of the army depended upon instilling a level of discipline that seemed, on the face of it, to defy the very values the American Revolution claimed to stand for.24
But this underlying and long-term problem—more finessed than ever really solved—paled in comparison to the immediate challenge, which was how to improvise an army. For over a century the British army had managed, by trial and error, to produce manuals and regulations providing routinized answers to the following questions: How are officers selected? What are the appropriate pay rates? Who controls the distribution of food, amenities, and clothing? Where should kitchens and latrines be located? To whom does the head of medical care report? These and a veritable litany of analogous organizational questions needed to be answered on the fly in the summer of 1775. Washington’s experience as the master of Mount Vernon had accustomed him to manage a flood of details, but nothing could have prepared him for the daunting task of inventing an army de novo. “I have often thought how much happier I should have been,” he admitted, “if instead of a command under such circumstances, I had taken my Musket upon my Shoulder & enterd the Ranks, or, if I could have justified the Measure to Posterity, & my own Conscience, had returned to the back Country, & liv’d in a Wig-wam.”25
Washington’s frustrations hint at the real story of the Boston Siege, which was not the bottling up of the British regulars, who eventually sailed off to Halifax to fight another day, but rather the haphazard creation of the Continental Army. Down in Philadelphia, Adams was attempting to manage a revolutionary conversation responsibly. Up in Boston, Washington was conducting a real-life experiment with the implications of that conversation for an army of citizen-soldiers.
For example, a core conviction of the day, sanctioned by revolutionary ideology and apparently confirmed by the bravery displayed at Bunker Hill, was that an army of American volunteers fighting for heartfelt principles could easily defeat an army of British professionals fighting for money. The orders emanating from Washington’s headquarters gave frequent voice to this cherished conviction, usually in the form of a plea to make it come true: “Whilst we have men therefore who in every respect are superior to British Troops, that are fighting for two pence or three pence a day: Why cannot we in appearance also be superior to them, when we fight for Life, Liberty, Property and our Country?”26
But it soon became clear to Washington that this cherished conviction was really a seductive illusion. The voluntary principle, it turned out, was like an evanescent glow at daybreak, or the rapture of a new romance—marvelous while it lasted, but of limited duration. As Washington discovered, the initial enthusiasm of most militia units waned after a few weeks, so that “we find it impossible to detain men…in Service after they get a little tired of the Duties of it—& Homesick.” As enlistments ran out in the fall and winter, Washington issued multiple pleas to remain in camp to defend “the Glorious Cause,” but whole units saluted the cause while marching out of camp to their firesides, thereby forcing Washington to count on the arrival of fresh but inexperienced volunteers to replace them: “It is not in the pages of History,” he observed, “to furnish a case like ours; to maintain a post within Musket Shot of the Enemy for Six Months…and at the same time to disband one Army and recruit another, within that distance of twenty odd British regiments.”27
It all boded badly if the undeclared war should, as seemed almost certain to Washington, become a fully declared and protracted conflict. For in such a contest Washington believed the British army of committed professionals would enjoy a decided advantage over American volunteers. “To expect then the Same Service from Raw and undisciplined Recruits as from Veteran Soldiers,” he warned, “is to expect what never did, and perhaps never will happen.” Whether the ironies were lost on Washington is not clear, but his experience at the Boston encampment had forced him to conclude that in order to win a war for freedom, Americans must be coerced to fight, and the proper model for an effective fighting force was nothing less than the British army itself. In effect, the only way to defeat a standing army was to create one of your own.28
Fortunately, the very exigencies that forced Washington to reach such an unrevolutionary conclusion also had collateral consequences more in keeping with revolutionary principles. On both the racial and the class fronts, the pressures generated by the manpower demands of the Continental Army forced Washington to make decisions that, if only in retrospect, had revolutionary implications.
The first decision concerned African Americans. A sizable group of ex-slaves and slaves had joined the New England militia units that fought at Bunker Hill and then manned the breastworks encircling Boston. No one had seen fit to comment on their presence until the southern riflemen arrived in camp and began to question serving alongside black troops. These complaints filtered their way up to headquarters, where Washington put the question to a Council of War consisting of all the general officers. The verdict was clear: “Agree unanimously to reject all slaves, & by a great Majority to reject Negroes altogether.” The question came up again the following month during a discussion of the criteria for new enlistees: “Neither Negroes, Boys unable to bear arms, nor old men unfit to endure the fatigues of the campaign, are to be inlisted.”29
But a month later, in December, as it became clear that the imminent departure of so many militia would leave the Continental Army seriously undermanned, Washington had a change of mind, if not a change of heart. “It has been represented to me that the free negroes who have Served in the Army, are very much dissatisfied at being discarded—and it is to be apprehended, that they may Seek employ in the ministerial Army—I have presumed to depart from the Resolution respecting them,” he wrote to John Hancock, “& have given Licence for them being enlisted.” He then apprised Hancock, who was serving as president of the Continental Congress, that “if this is disapproved by the Congress, I will put a Stop to it.”30
Hancock, buried under an avalanche of paperwork, never responded. And so, in this backhanded, indeed grudging, fashion, Washington had inadvertently decided that the Continental Army would be racially integrated. Nor were black troops assigned only to segregated units. Though a few all-black units were added later in the war, most blacks served alongside whites and comprised, at any time, between 6 and 12 percent of the fighting force. Here was a stunning if silent social statement far ahead of popular opinion. The next time any American army would be so fully integrated was the Korean War.
Analogous movement occurred on the class front, again more out of necessity than choice. The awkward question this time was: Who should be appointed a general? In the British army the answer to this question was defined by aristocratic bloodlines and years of experience in the field. And in fact two of the generals Washington appointed to his staff, Charles Lee and Horatio Gates, were former British officers, though not generals, with greater military experience than Washington himself. But the two appointments that would shine with greater brilliance the longer the war lasted were Henry Knox and Nathanael Greene.
Knox was a portly Boston bookseller who could pass for a modern-day version of Santa Claus. Greene was an intense Rhode Island Quaker who had volunteered and served as a private in a local militia until after the outbreak of hostilities at Lexington and Concord. Neither man had any previous military experience, though both were serious students of military history. The very notion of either man serving as a British officer, much less a general, would have been preposterous. Over the course of the next seven years, however, both men displayed their natural talent for leadership, Knox as Washington’s head of artillery, Greene most spectacularly during the Carolina campaign, when he bested the most accomplished British general, Lord Charles Cornwallis, on multiple occasions. Their latent talent would have remained latent, and therefore invisible, if Washington had not plucked them from the ranks in the first year of the war. And he did so because more obviously qualified candidates were simply unavailable. The careers of Knox and Greene serve as stellar examples of the dynamic role the American Revolution played in creating talent by providing it with an outlet impossible to imagine in any European nation at the time.31
Finally, there was one additional achievement locked into place at the Boston encampment, done so quietly and seamlessly that no one noticed it at the time—and very few have since. It was the routinized acceptance of civilian control over the military. Washington was the key figure. He simply took it for granted that he served at the pleasure of the Continental Congress and that the Continental Army, once that name started to stick, was the military arm of the delegates in Philadelphia. From the start, Washington deferred to the congress on questions of pay, the allotted size of the army, even final decisions about strategy. “I am not fond of stretching my powers,” he explained, “and if Congress will say thus far & no farther you shall go, I will promise not to offend whilst I continue in their Service.”32
The congress, for its part, avoided possible conflicts by routinely endorsing Washington’s judgments as their own. In October a three-person congressional delegation, headed by Benjamin Franklin, traveled up to Boston to confer with the commander in chief on all the outstanding questions and ratified all his major recommendations. For his part, Washington went along with the official line that the British regulars ensconced in Boston were “ministerial troops,” so that the ongoing war was officially not going on at all, because the king purportedly remained ignorant of the fighting. This allowed the minuet between radicals and moderates in congress to proceed apace with Washington’s blessing. Not until April of 1776, when the siege had ended, did Washington express impatience with this functional piece of fancy, admitting that “I think it idle to keep up the distinction of Ministerial Troops.” But by then, as we shall see, most members of congress concurred.33
Washington’s supreme statement of civilian control, of course, would not occur until the end of the war, when he surrendered his sword to the president of congress and rode off into retirement as the American Cincinnatus. But his convictions on this score were present from the very start. It was typical of Washington: so simple, so essential, so unquestioned, yet so crucial.
Along the way, Washington’s conspicuous deferral to the Continental Congress implicitly endorsed the unstated fact that the congress had assumed the status of a provisional national government empowered to speak for the American people as a collective whole. The congress never officially claimed that power outright, for to have done so would have surely provoked loud howls of protest from the emerging state governments. It had simply stepped forward in the midst of the imperial crisis, a political emergency if there ever was one, to coordinate the American response. But no matter how unstated and crisis-driven the causes, there were now two discernible projections of national unity—the Continental Congress and the Continental Army—even though no independent nation had yet declared its existence.
BIG BANG
THE TWO-PRONGED strategy of the Continental Congress—to pursue war and the possibility of reconciliation with Great Britain simultaneously—was a direct expression of the split between moderates and radicals in the congress. But there was also a third prong, a third perspective not represented in the congress at all, festering away “out of doors” throughout the nine months of the Boston Siege. It is difficult to know what to call this emerging constituency, since the term “radical” is already taken by the outright proponents of independence, and “radical revolutionaries” sounds like a verbal version of double exposure. Whatever we call this new political camp, its advocates interpreted the arguments hurled at Parliament’s arbitrary power as more than a rationale for secession from the British Empire. Such arguments were also heard as a clarion call to topple all forms of arbitrary power in American society whatever their source. Here we first glimpse the revolutionary edge of the American Revolution.
Take, for example, the obvious anomaly of slavery. In June of 1775 Adams received an unsigned letter from a resident of Fredericksburg, Virginia, asking an awkward question: “Is it not incompatible with the glorious Struggle America is making for her own Liberty, to hold in absolute Slavery a Number of Wretches, who will be urged by Despair on one Side, and the most flattering Promises on the other, to become the most inveterate Enemies to the present Masters?” A few months later he received another letter signed “Humanity” that raised the same question in less literate but more poignant terms: “Whot has the negros the africans don to us that shuld tak them from thar own land and mak them sarve us to the da of thar deth…? God forbit that it shuld be so anay longer…. I hear the gentelman that leads the army [i.e., Washington] holds 700 of them in bondeg.” In point of fact, at the time Washington owned slightly more than a hundred slaves, but the discrepancy did nothing to blunt the force of the writer’s question.34
Or take the question of women’s rights. On this score Adams did not depend on unsolicited letters from anonymous authors. His own beloved Abigail lectured him in a series of letters during the spring of 1776. While her tone was playful, the banter had a discernibly serious purpose: “And, by the way, in the new code of laws which I suppose it will be necessary for you to make, I desire you will remember the ladies and be more generous and favorable to them than your ancestors. Do not put such unlimited power in the hands of husbands. Remember, all men would be tyrants if they could. If particular care and attention is not paid to the ladies, we are determined to foment a rebellion, and will not hold ourselves bound by any laws in which we have no voice or representation.”35
Adams attempted to retaliate with mock disbelief, suggesting that women were the real tyrants within the household and that he had no intention of exchanging the tyranny of George III for “the despotism of the petticoat.” But Abigail, determined to have the last word, concluded the exchange with a firm reiteration of her main point, which was that the very principles her husband was deploying to justify American independence had profound consequences for the status of women in an independent American republic: “But you must remember,” she concluded, “that arbitrary power is like most other things which are very hard…and notwithstanding all your wise laws and maxims, we have it in our power, not only to free ourselves, but to subdue our masters, and, without violence, throw your natural and legal authority at your feet.”36
Finally, there was that suddenly troubling phrase “the consent of the people,” which was beginning to demonstrate alarmingly expansive tendencies. The favorite watering hole for delegates to the Continental Congress was City Tavern, where those unrecorded conversations that Adams predicted would never get into the history books happened every evening. The artisans, mechanics, and laboring class of Philadelphia exerted a discernible influence on those unofficial deliberations, an influence that reflected the important role these previously excluded groups had played since 1774 in running the committee structure that enforced the nonimportation agreements and, truth be told, dominated the politics of the city. An editorial in the Pennsylvania Evening Post conveys the flavor of the ongoing conversation:
Do not mechanics, and farmers constitute ninety-nine out of a hundred of the people of America? If these, by their occupations, are to be excluded from having any share in the choice of their rulers, or forms of government, would it not be best to acknowledge the jurisdiction of the British Parliament, which is composed entirely of GENTLEMEN? Is not half the property in the city owned by men who wear LEATHER APRONS? Does not the other half belong to men whose fathers or grandfathers wore LEATHER APRONS?37
More of the same came at Adams from Elbridge Gerry, an old Massachusetts friend, who forwarded his recent correspondence with James Sullivan, another New England stalwart for independence, who seemed to be undergoing a radical epiphany. As Sullivan put it:
Laws and Government are founded on the Consent of the people, and that consent should by each member of Society be given in proportion to his Right. Every member of Society has a Right to give his Consent to the Laws of the Community or he owes no obedience to them. This proposition will never be denied to him who has the least acquaintance with republican principles…. Why a man is supposed to consent to the acts of a Society of which in this respect he is an absolute Excommunicate, none but a lawyer well Labled in the feudal Sistem can tell.
Sullivan’s major argument was that Massachusetts should abolish all property qualifications for the vote, but, as Adams pointed out to him, the implication of his argument destroyed all distinctions for citizenship: “There will be no end to it,” Adams warned. “New Claims will rise. Women will demand a Vote. Lads from 12 to 21 will think their Rights not enough attended to, and every Man, who has not a Farthing, will demand an equal Voice with any other in all Acts of State.” Why, followed to its logical conclusion, the Pandora’s box Sullivan had opened dictated the establishment of unfettered democracy.38
Hindsight, our double-edged asset, again allows another prescient pronouncement at this stage of the story. To wit, it is no exaggeration to observe that between the summer of 1775 and the spring of 1776, the entire liberal agenda for the next century of American history made its appearance for the first time. Indeed, if one wished to push the evidence a bit, to include the civil rights and feminist movements, the next two centuries of political reform were previewed. But at the very least, the end of slavery, the recognition of women as citizens, and the expansion of the franchise to include the poor and propertyless were placed on the political table as inevitable consequences of the principles that the American Revolution claimed to embody.
The man who most passionately embraced this expanded agenda was Thomas Paine. Neither as tall as Washington nor as short as Adams, Paine was more improbable than either as a major figure. He was already thirty-seven years old when he arrived in Philadelphia in 1774, his only asset a letter of recommendation from Benjamin Franklin describing him as “an ingenious young man.” Exactly what genius Franklin had detected in the not-so-young man can be divined only retrospectively, since his previous career in Lewes and London had featured a failed marriage, several failures as a shop owner and corset maker, and a knack for alienating himself from those in power. Beneath this disappointing veneer of a career, however, Paine had developed two talents that merited Franklin’s description and that would bloom luxuriously in American soil: first, a deep sense of social justice that was rooted in the injustices he had witnessed and experienced within the urban working class of London; second, an uncommon ability to craft prose that expressed his political convictions in language that was simultaneously simple and dazzling. It soon became clear that he also possessed one additional gift, an exquisite sense of timing, for he was bringing his talents into a political environment primed to hear his unique voice and message. He became the prophet of the expansive American promise.39
In January of 1776 Paine burst onto the national scene with the publication of Common Sense, perhaps the most auspicious entrance in American journalistic history. Unlike most previous revolutionary pamphlets, which tended to dissect the legal tangles of Parliament’s dubious claim to authority over the colonies in language most familiar to lawyers, Common Sense was true to its title and used the idiom of ordinary conversation. Whereas Adams had defended American claims to legal sovereignty over their own domestic affairs with conspicuous erudition in Novanglus (1774), Paine clinched the argument with the observation that an island could not rule a continent. Instead of tiptoeing around the sensitive question of royal authority, thereby endorsing the illusion that George III was some distant father figure anxious to undo the misguided travesties of his own ministers, Paine launched a frontal attack on George III and the very idea of monarchy itself.
Who in his right mind, Paine asked, still believed that kings enjoyed some unique access to God’s will? No, the true history of the British monarchy was a sordid tale of corruption, criminal neglect, and institutionalized arrogance. The notion that George III cared a wit about his American subjects was a fairy tale for children, a sentimental dream from which all responsible citizens needed to awake. The myth of a kind and benevolent king was too good to be true, just as the diabolical demeanor of the real king was too true to be good.
In addition to its electric style, the sensational impact of Common Sense—it sold 150,000 copies within three months—was a function of its timing. It appeared just as news had leaked across the Atlantic of George III’s speech to Parliament in October, which declared the colonies to be in a state of rebellion, rejected all diplomatic solutions, and requested authorization to dispatch a massive military expedition to smash the rebellion in one decisive blow. Whether the emperor had no clothes or was clad in a warrior’s armor, Paine’s point enjoyed the decisive advantage of an idea whose time had come.40
Ironically, Adams was initially presumed to be the author of all this. Common Sense had been unsigned, and Adams was well known as the most prominent critic of reconciliation in the congress. “I am as innocent of it as a Babe,” Adams told his friends, adding that “I could not reach the Strength and Brevity of his style, Nor his elegant Simplicity, nor his piercing pathos.” He then added a revealing caveat. The author of Common Sense had performed an invaluable role by ridiculing the futile strategy of the moderate faction in congress, but he was also a dangerous thinker who “has a better hand in pulling down than building.”41
Adams was probably referring to Paine’s proposal for an American government to replace Parliament and the king. It envisioned a unicameral National Assembly with elected representatives from all the states, no fewer than 390 delegates, that would meet once a year to pass all laws on the basis of a three-fifths majority. Though Paine never used the word “democracy” in Common Sense, presumably because he realized that the term carried negative connotations for most Americans as the rough equivalent of mob rule, his prescription for America’s political future leaned in a discernibly democratic direction. And although Paine also refrained from mentioning slavery in Common Sense, presumably because he did not want to alienate readers south of the Potomac, he was on record elsewhere as making its abolition one of the first pieces of business in the independent American republic. And so, while Adams’s nervous response to Common Sense can be attributed to envy at Paine’s sudden emergence as the most visible spokesman for the radical cause of independence, the cause Adams regarded as his own special province, and while no explanation of Adams’s behavior on such occasions should ever dismiss his throbbing sense of prideful insecurity, it also seems clear that his highly sensitive political antenna had correctly detected a new revolutionary presence in the radical camp.42
The clearest clue in Common Sense came near the end. “The cause of America is in a great measure the cause of all mankind,” Paine had written. “We have it in our power to begin the world over again. The birthday of a new world is at hand.” As Paine’s subsequent career was to demonstrate beyond any doubt, these words provided a preview of coming attractions for Paine’s mature vision of the American Revolution as the opening shot in a radical transformation of political institutions throughout the world. While Paine’s working-class origins have made him a cult hero to historians and political activists with a Marxist bent, his revolutionary mentality had eighteenth-century origins that predated any Marxist scheme of class consciousness. Paine was a product of what came to be called the Enlightenment.
Like the French philosophes, primarily Diderot and Voltaire, Paine believed that a society of genuine equality and justice would materialize naturally once the last king was strangled with the entrails of the last priest. Once those despotic institutions imposed on mankind during the Dark Ages were toppled, then the latent potential for self-government inside all human beings would flow forward to create a perfectly harmonious society requiring only a minimum of supervision. (Socialist utopias of the nineteenth century also featured this illusion.) One might also explain Paine’s political vision as a projection of his own experience as a recent immigrant to America who discovered a comparatively open Philadelphia society where his own talents were not stymied by Old World barriers.
Whatever their origins, Paine’s deepest political convictions were, as Adams correctly sensed, thoroughly visionary, blissfully utopian, completely confident that the laws of nature and history were on his side, and wholly contemptuous of any argument urging caution. Once the revolutionary energies were released, which in the current case meant once America renounced its ties with British monarchy, then the only proper course was to get out of the way, since the revolutionary agenda was self-enacting. Adams, of course, thought it needed to be carefully managed. From the Adams perspective, Paine was an indispensable ally in the cause of American independence. But the combination of his utopian convictions and his brilliant pen also made him the most dangerous man in America once independence was declared.43
THE SPRING OF 1776
“BY INTELLIGENCE hourly arriving from abroad,” Adams observed in February of 1776, “we are more and more confirmed that a kind of Confederation will be formed among the Crowned Skulls, and numbskulls of Europe, against Human Nature.” He was referring to the agreements the British ministry was negotiating with several Germanic principalities to provide mercenaries for the looming invasion of North America. News of the Prohibitory Act reached the Continental Congress about the same time, revealing that the king had declared the colonists beyond his protection, outlawed them as rebels, and confiscated all their property in Great Britain.44
If Adams himself had written the script for George III, he could have done no better at exposing the moderate faction’s hope for conciliation as an utter fantasy. In fact, the moderate agenda in congress was effectively dead after the Prohibitory Act, since George III had not waited for his American subjects to declare their independence of his authority but had declared his independence of them. Ironically, this preemptive action created a major new dilemma for Adams, because it accelerated the political schedule on which he had been working. For the past year, of course, he had been pushing hard within the congress against the moderates, pleading the inescapable conclusion of American independence. Now that the inescapable conclusion was suddenly staring all the delegates in the face, Adams, instead of rejoicing, began worrying that events were moving faster than he or anyone else could manage. As he saw it, George III’s precipitous action caused problems on two fronts.
First, out there in the countryside, beyond the corridors of congress, it was still unclear if the bulk of the citizenry were ready for a vote on American independence. What Adams called “the ripening” had proceeded apace, helped immeasurably by the magic of Paine’s words in Common Sense. But whether the fruit was ripe enough for picking remained uncertain. The ordinary people out there in the farms and towns “are advancing by slow and steady steps to that Mighty Revolution which you and I expected for some time,” he observed to James Warren, “but Forced Attempts to accelerate their Motions, would have been attended with Discontent and Convulsions.” There were, of course, no modern-day polling experts to gauge popular opinion, but Adams’s instincts told him that huge pockets of reluctance remained alive in key regions like New York and Pennsylvania.45
Second, it was by no means clear what forms of governance would replace those jettisoned once independence officially arrived. The Continental Congress had been functioning as a provisional national government for nearly a year. And a motley mixture of ad hoc provincial legislatures and extralegal committees had assumed emergency powers at the colony and local level. But how could these provisional improvisations be transformed into permanent institutions with some semblance of legitimacy? Abigail had raised that very question several months earlier in her own candid fashion: “If we separate from Great Britain, what code of laws will be established? How shall we be governed to retain our liberties? Can any government be free which is not administered by general stated laws? Who shall frame these laws? Who will give them force and energy? ’Tis true your resolutions [in the Continental Congress], as a body, have hitherto had the force of laws; but will they continue to have?”46
These were the kind of questions that Paine thought superfluous because he believed they would pretty much answer themselves. For Adams, however, they posed the quintessential problem for any statesman who happened to find himself in a revolutionary situation. In the Adams political universe, a revolution was more than an act of liberation from discredited authority; it was a transfer of authority from one corrupt regime to a more enlightened substitute that was achieved, if possible, with a minimum of trauma and a maximum of continuity. “I have ever thought it the most difficult and dangerous Part of the Business,” he explained to Mercy Otis Warren, his other female confidante, “to contrive some method for the Colonies to glide insensibly, from under the old Government, into a peaceable and contented Submission to new ones…. There is danger of Convulsions. But I hope not great ones.” He was that rarest of creatures, a conservative revolutionary.47
For the moment, there was nothing Adams could do to delay the revolutionary conversation that George III, of all people, had accelerated. So he chose to move on the other front in March of 1776. For several months his fellow delegates had been informally seeking his advice about the prospective shape of their respective colonial constitutions, which would obviously need major overhaul if not outright replacement if and when independence arrived. The delegations from New York, North Carolina, and Pennsylvania approached him more formally in March, deferring to his acknowledged authority as a student of government. After drafting several letters offering guidance, Adams decided to publish a single document that any or all colonies could consult. He gave it the modest title Thoughts on Government, and it appeared in the Pennsylvania Packet on April 22.48
Adams subsequently described Thoughts as a “poor scrap” and “mere sketch” that was “done in haste.” This was typical Adams false humility. For our purposes, Thoughts is extremely revealing, since it provided the clearest statement to date of the principles that he believed essential in determining the shape of any American republic after independence. (The fact that it should be a republic was assumed by all.) Despite his modest posture and latter-day lamentations, Adams acknowledged the privileged opportunity he enjoyed, as he put it, “to have been sent into life, at a time when the greatest law-givers of antiquity would have wished to have.” He was almost surely referring to Thoughts when he posed a confessional question to Abigail:
Is it not a saying of Moses, “Who am I, that I should go in and out before this great people?” When I consider the great events which are passed, and the greater which are rapidly advancing, and that I may have been instrumental in touching some springs and turning some small wheels, which have had and will have such effects, I feel an awe upon my mind which is not easily described.49
Adams recommended a constitutional blueprint in which there were three branches of government—executive, legislative, and judicial—and in which the principles of separation of powers, an independent judiciary, and a bicameral legislature were the most salient features. Because these features eventually became hallowed harbingers of the federal Constitution, it has proved almost irresistible to view Thoughts through the window of 1787, as a shrewd prophecy of the core principles shaping the ultimate structure of the national government. Such forward-looking assessments, which Adams would surely have welcomed as acknowledgments of his prescience, invariably distort the historical significance of Thoughts, which was very much a creature of its own moment, the spring of 1776.
Most obviously, Adams was proposing an outline for republican government at the state, not the national, level. He was also careful not to describe Thoughts as a prescription that each colony should adopt wholesale. Instead, he urged the lawmakers in each colony to modify his model to fit their own experience. New England would want to insist on annual elections for all officeholders in keeping with its colonial charters, while most southern colonies would probably resist that feature as too popular and unfamiliar. Adams wanted the new constitutions to feel like adaptations of the old colonial governments rather than jarringly novel innovations. Given the traumatic impact of American independence, he emphasized the need for continuity with past political practices. Moreover, he openly acknowledged that different colonies would, indeed should, come up with different versions of republican government. A great experiment was being launched in the spring of 1776, and the colonies were a diverse collection of laboratories in which one should fully expect somewhat different results to emerge. In effect, America was just beginning a great conversation about what a republic should look like, a conversation that would almost surely continue for many years, perhaps decades, so it was naive to expect either uniformity or consensus about all the answers at the start.
Over the course of a long career Adams would make several contributions to that ongoing conversation. But here, at the very start, he insisted on the rejection of one premise that would haunt the conversation for decades to come, most especially when the dialogue developed a French accent. The premise was rooted in the assumption that once you removed the king as the sovereign source of authority, you needed to replace him with another equally sovereign authority. The republican alternative to a divinely inspired monarch, then, was an equally omniscient creature called “the people.” And from that assumption flowed the premise that the essence of republican government was a single-house legislature or assembly where elected representatives would give voice to its new sovereign, “the people.”
In contrast to Paine’s plan, the distinguishing feature of the Adams republican framework, as described in Thoughts, was the notion that once you moved from a monarchy to a republic, you entered a new and thoroughly modern world bereft of absolutes and with multiple rather than singular sources of sovereignty. The belief in an omniscient entity called “the people,” Adams suggested, was every bit as fictional as the belief in a divinely inspired king. One of the reasons Adams proposed a bicameral legislature—a core feature of his political thought that he kept harping on throughout his life—was that it created two arenas for the different versions of “the people.” When asked, Adams would always concur that a republic was bottomed on the principle of popular sovereignty, but the political expression of that sovereignty in any government must be plural rather than singular because the interests of “the people” were diverse and often mutually exclusive. Hindsight again allows us to detect a truly modern idea entering the conversation in Thoughts, the idea of multiple or shared sovereignties. While Adams was a firm believer in making the American Revolution happen slowly in order to cushion the shock of abrupt change, this particular feature of his political thought represented a fundamental break with past wisdom that contained truly jarring implications for any singular definition of political authority.50
By May of 1776 Adams had developed a clear picture of how the orderly march toward independence should proceed: “The Colonies should all assume the Powers of Government in all its Branches first,” he explained. “They should then confederate with each other, and define the Powers of Congress next. They should then endeavor to form an Alliance with some foreign State. When this is done, a public Declaration [of Independence] might be made.” Over the next three months events would make a shambles of this neat scenario, but the scenario itself provides a revealing look at the conservative cast of Adams’s revolutionary mentality. The formal break with Great Britain should come last, only after state and national governments were in place to responsibly manage the turbulence sure to accompany the rupture. As it turned out, only one part of the Adams vision, the creation of new state governments, played out as he intended.51
On May 10 the congress adopted a resolution recommending that every colony draft a new constitution to replace the existent British charters of governance. On May 15 Adams stepped forward to present a resolution that he had drafted, designed to serve as a preface to the congressional recommendation. It deserves to be quoted in full because it was a de facto declaration of independence, adopted only after a fierce debate occasioned by the clear realization of all the delegates that, with its passage, the die was cast:
Whereas his Brittanie Majesty, in conjunction with the Lords and Commons of Great-Britain, has, by a late Act of Parliament, excluded the inhabitants of these United Colonies from the protection of his crown: And whereas no answer whatever to the humble petitions of the Colonies for redress of grievances, and reconciliation with Great-Britain has been or is likely to be given; but the whole force of that kingdom, aided by foreign mercenaries, is to be exerted for the destruction of the good people of these Colonies; And whereas it appears absolutely irreconcilable to reason and good conscience, for the people of these Colonies now to take the oaths and affirmations necessary for the support of any government under the Crown of Great-Britain; and it is necessary that the exercise of every kind of authority under the said Crown should be totally suppressed, and all the powers of government exerted under the authority of the people of the Colonies for the preservation of internal peace, virtue, and good order; as well as for the defence of their lives, liberties and properties, against the hostile invasions and cruel depredations of their enemies: Therefore
RESOLVED, that it be recommended to the respective Assemblies and Conventions of the United Colonies, where no Government sufficient to the exigencies of their affairs has been hitherto established, to adopt such Governments as shall in the opinion of the Representatives of the People best conduce to the happiness and safety of their Constituents in particular, and Americans in general.
Adams immediately described these words to a friend as “the most important Revolution that ever was taken in America” and went to his grave fifty years later insisting that he, not Thomas Jefferson, drafted the real declaration of American independence.52
One collateral consequence of the resolution was to prompt a widespread series of public meetings throughout the colonies at several levels—colony, county, town, village—to debate and decide on the congressional recommendation. This was the ultimate revolutionary moment for Adams, the occasion to discover whether the fruit of independence had sufficiently ripened within the people at large to permit a harvest. In a sense, Adams dreaded this moment most of all, fearing he might discover that he had been leading a parade that only a precious few chose to join. While he knew in his heart he was right, he also knew in his head that popular opinion should never be trusted to know the right. But he also knew in his soul that, at this dramatic moment, it must be trusted, for this was the acid test of the entire republican experiment. George III had made a fatal decision in a monarchical way, imposing his policy to subdue the American rebellion by force rather than resolve it by diplomacy, despite huge pockets of opposition throughout the British nation, most especially in London. Now an equivalent decision on the American side needed to be made in a republican way, bottom up rather than top down. All a true republican believer could do in a situation like this, even one as dubious about the omniscience of “the people” as Adams, was to hold his breath and wait for ordinary citizens to speak.
It was like an election that lasted for several months, though early returns in the initial weeks made the final verdict abundantly clear. Despite lingering pools of reticence in New York and Pennsylvania, what we now call “the grass roots” came out overwhelmingly for independence, often adopting the language of Adams’s resolution of May 15 to justify their regretful but resolute decision. The fruit of independence essentially declared itself ready for picking. Almost as important, the multiple state, county, and local manifestos tended to subordinate the controversial questions about the political agenda of an independent American republic to the more pressing requirement of national union. Inherently divisive issues like slavery, voting qualifications, and women’s rights were postponed to the future, lest they complicate and contaminate the major message, which was separation from the British Empire. The Adams strategy was, in effect, fully vindicated. The revolutionary implications of the republican argument were suppressed—this was the dog that did not bark—in deference to the more compelling need to rally around what was now almost universally described as “The Cause.”53
IMPORTANT EPILOGUE
AS IF IN A STORM, the lightning struck in May of 1776 and did its work, but it took another six weeks for the thunder to sound in the form of the Declaration of Independence. During that time critical events proceeded apace on three separate tracks: the ongoing referendum in the American countryside continued to register a popular mandate for independence; a British expeditionary force of more than 100 ships and 32,000 troops began its voyage across the Atlantic with orders to nip the incipient American rebellion in the bud; Washington’s ragtag version of an army marched out of Boston toward New York, 12,000 amateur soldiers that Washington somehow hoped could hold their own against a vastly superior and more experienced British force.
By the early summer of 1776, then, all the essential political and military questions that had been lingering in limbo for over a year had been resolved. The outcome of the American Revolution, of course, remained undecided. And it would take over seven years of desperate fighting, the near dissolution of the Continental Army, multiple humiliations at the hands of British regulars and the despised Hessian mercenaries, a veritable roller-coaster ride for Washington from hope to despair and back again, before the British eventually decided that the whole bloody business had been a terrible mistake that could and should have been avoided. But the arrival of that realization came too late to prevent the loss of Britain’s North American empire. The lessons learned from that painful experience were profound, and became the basis for governing the second British Empire the following century and for making it the most successful imperial power in world history. But that, as they say, is another story.54
The end of this story, at least the version of it that Adams liked to tell in his old age, has always had a discernibly self-serving tone and the distinctive odor of jealousy. In the Adams version, the drafting of the Declaration of Independence was merely an ornamental afterthought. The real declaration had already happened in May, when the congress, guided by his resolution, had ordered the states to draft new constitutions. No one in the Continental Congress, Adams argued, regarded the formal declaration in July as anything more than a ceremonial culmination, an epilogue, if you will, to the main story, where he had been the central character.
Somehow, Adams complained, an alternative story line had found its way into the history books, a narrative that featured the Declaration of Independence as the decisive event and Thomas Jefferson as the major figure. “Was there ever a Coup de Theatre, that had so great an effect as Jefferson’s Penmanship of the Declaration of Independence?” Adams asked incredulously. The Declaration was merely “a theatrical side show…Jefferson ran away with the stage effect—and all the glory of it.”55
Should we take Adams at his obviously self-serving word? Here are the unadorned facts of the matter. On June 7, Richard Henry Lee of Virginia moved the resolution “that these United Colonies are, and of right ought to be, free and independent States.” The congress decided to delay a vote on Lee’s resolution until July 1 in deference to several delegations that were legally bound to confer with their constituents before casting a vote for independence. In the meantime, the congress appointed a five-person committee—Adams, Jefferson, Benjamin Franklin, Robert Livingston, and Roger Sherman—to draft a document implementing Lee’s resolution, so that, presuming the resolution passed, the congress could proceed without pause to announce the decision to the world.
Acting as informal chair of the committee, Adams first asked Franklin to draft the document, but he declined, citing as reasons a bad case of gout and a lifelong aversion to writing anything that would be edited by a committee. At the time, Adams had just assumed the duties as chair of the newly created Board of War and Ordnance, duties he considered his top priority given the looming British invasion at New York. So he delegated the drafting to Jefferson, who performed the task promptly—Adams later claimed it took him only “a day or two.” After making a few minor revisions in Jefferson’s draft, the committee placed the document before the full congress on June 28.56
Thus far, the facts tend to align themselves with the Adams version of the story. The deep sense of significance that later generations would ascribe to the Declaration of Independence did not exist for most delegates in the congress, who were preoccupied with more pressing military and strategic priorities. Adams was also historically correct to insist that the key decisions had already been made, both in the congress and in the towns and hamlets throughout the land. Weeks before Jefferson penned his famous words, independence had become a foregone conclusion and the main arena had shifted from Philadelphia to New York, where all the finely wrought arguments about colonial rights were about to be put to the ultimate test on the battlefield.
One piece of evidence, however, does not fit Adams’s interpretive pattern, ironically provided by none other than Adams himself. On July 2, after two days of debate, the congress passed Lee’s resolution. The next day Adams wrote the following words to Abigail:
Yesterday the greatest question was decided which ever was debated in America, and a greater, perhaps never has nor will be decided among men. A Resolution was passed without one dissenting Colony, “that these United Colonies are, and of right ought to be, independent States…” The second day of July, 1776, will be the most memorable epocha in the history of America. I am apt to believe that it will be celebrated by succeeding generations as the great anniversary festival…. It ought to be solemnized with pomp and parade, with shows, games, sports, guns, bonfires and illuminations from one end of this continent to the other, from this time forward forevermore.57
Adams got everything right about the anniversary of independence, even down to the obligatory fireworks, everything except the date itself. True enough, he thought the passage of the Lee resolution more significant than the passage of the Declaration itself. But his own words at the moment convey an excited recognition that the formal vote on independence, no matter how foreshadowed, was still a major event. If only an epilogue, it was nonetheless a rather important epilogue.
That still begs the question of the wording of the Declaration itself. After voting on the Lee resolution, the congress moved immediately to a consideration of Jefferson’s draft. In committee-of-the-whole format the delegates spent two days making editorial changes that revised or deleted about 20 percent of the text. They found Jefferson a bit wordy for their taste, some of his language too florid or sentimental, and insisted on removing any reference to the slave trade or slavery itself, even when Jefferson blamed it all on George III. Mostly they focused on the latter two-thirds of the document, the lengthy list of grievances against the king. They cared most about that section because the whole point of the Declaration was to justify independence, which depended upon demonstrating in one conclusive indictment that George III had betrayed their trust. Different colonies had also experienced imperial oppression in different ways over the past fifteen years, and each delegation wanted its own experience reflected in the text.58
It is difficult to imagine any modern-day legislature performing an editing task of this magnitude and scope, and it is impossible to imagine it being done as well. While Jefferson went to his grave thinking that the delegates had “mangled” his draft, the overwhelming opinion of scholars is that they improved it considerably. All of which seems to further erode the Adams version of history. The obvious interest the delegates demonstrated in the content and language of the Declaration seems to indicate that they regarded it as more than a mere afterthought.
Finally, there is one more consideration that escaped everyone’s notice at the time but has since become the singular focus of attention almost to the exclusion of all else. The delegates made very few changes in the early section of the Declaration that preceded the litany of grievances against the king. The following words, as far as we can tell, occasioned little if any comment:
We hold these truths to be self-evident, that all men are created equal, that they are endowed by their Creator with certain unalienable rights, that among these are Life, Liberty, and the pursuit of Happiness. That to secure these rights, Governments are instituted among Men, deriving their just powers from the consent of the governed.
Apparently regarded by all the delegates at the time as a mere rhetorical flourish designed to introduce the more serious business, these fifty-five words would grow in meaning to become the seminal statement of the American creed. With these words, Jefferson had smuggled the revolutionary agenda into the founding document, casually and almost inadvertently planting the seeds that would grow into the expanding mandate for individual rights that eventually ended slavery, made women’s suffrage inevitable, and sanctioned the civil rights of all minorities. No less a figure than Abraham Lincoln, who could rival Jefferson in his way with words, put it most poignantly in 1858: “All honor to Jefferson—to the man who, in the concrete pressure of a struggle for national independence by a single people, had the coolness, forecast, and capacity to introduce into a merely revolutionary document, an abstract truth, applicable to all men and all times, and so to embalm it there, that to-day, and in all coming days, it shall be a rebuke and a stumbling block to the very harbingers of the re-appearing tyranny and oppression.”59
To repeat, no one noticed it at the time. And there is no evidence that Jefferson himself had any inkling that he had written the seminal statement of the American promise. Nevertheless, Lincoln was right. There they were, the magic words of American history, buried in the text, lying dormant until subsequent generations awakened to their implications, an awakening process that, truth be told, continues into the twenty-first century. At first blush it might seem extravagant to make so much of fifty-five words composed in solitude by a junior member of the Virginia delegation who just happened to be a genius with language, hastily approved by very busy men who were too preoccupied with present challenges to focus on the future implications of Jefferson’s words. But in this particular instance we can say with considerable confidence that these were destined to become the most potent and consequential words in American history, perhaps in modern history. They became the political fountainhead for all the liberal reforms that would seep out and over the nation, and eventually much of the world.60
A year filled with desperate improvisations, then, ended with a culminating moment of creativity that has turned out to be the most brilliant improvisation of all. In that sense, though Adams had been proven right at each stage of the yearlong march toward independence, he was proven wrong about the final chapter. For the draft of the Declaration of Independence, sent out to the world on July 4, 1776, assured that the War for Independence would be more than just that. If only latently and surreptitiously, it deserved to be called the American Revolution.
CHAPTER TWO
The Winter
LOOKING BACK at the moment of triumph in 1783, no less an authority than George Washington observed that the American victory in the War for Independence defied all logic, indeed was quite likely to defy the capacities of future historians to explain it at all.
If Historiographers should be hardy enough to fill the page of History with the advantages that have been gained with unequal numbers (on the part of America) in the course of this contest, and attempt to relate the distressing circumstances under which they have been obtained, it is more than probable that Posterity will bestow on their labors the epithet and marks of fiction; for it will not be believed, that such a force as Great Britain has employed for eight years in Country could be baffled in their plan of Subjugating it by numbers infinitely less, composed of Men oftentimes half-starved; always in Rags, without pay, and experiencing, at times every species of distress which human nature is capable of undergoing.1
Washington’s endorsement of the war’s successful outcome as a highly improbable and almost incredulous achievement was rooted in the assumption that it was primarily a contest between two armies. And from that perspective incredulity is wholly justified, since the British army was unquestionably the most proficient fighting force in the world, as the French had discovered to their shock and horror on the Plains of Abraham at Quebec in 1759, and would discover again at Waterloo in 1815. Indeed, the chief reason the sun never set on the British Empire in the nineteenth century is largely attributable to the invincible combination of its army and navy, which remained the supreme military power in the world until hollowed out by the grinding depravities on the Western Front in World War I. Within the panoramic span of more than a century and a half of British imperial hegemony, then, the defeat in North America stands out as an exception to the dominant pattern, a providential accident that verges on a miracle, which is pretty much what Washington claimed.
Since supernatural explanations are not customarily considered either permissible or persuasive by most historians, it seems obvious that there is something wrong with the assumption that the war was primarily or exclusively a contest between armies. In terms of logic, the Continental Army, especially after it was bolstered by the French army and navy in 1778, was a necessary but not a sufficient cause of the American victory. Some additional ingredient must have played a crucial role in the military chemistry, something that offset and eventually eroded the professional advantage enjoyed by the all-powerful British leviathan.
Recent American experience in Iraq, and our earlier experience in Southeast Asia, should help to identify the missing variable in the equation by allowing us to grasp the strategic dilemma confronting British policy-makers in London and Whitehall more empathetically than was previously possible. The earliest articulation of this strategic dilemma appeared in the House of Lords in 1775, when the Earl of Camden, attempting to question the wisdom of George III and Lord North in imposing a military solution on the American rebellion, delivered a prescient warning: “To conquer a great continent of 1,800 miles, containing three millions of people, all indissolubly United on the great Whig bottom of liberty and justice, seems an undertaking not to be rashly engaged in…. It is obvious, my lords, that you cannot furnish armies, or treasure, competent to the mighty purpose of subduing America.”2
The Earl of Camden was not correct in describing the American colonists as “indissolubly United” behind the principles of the American Revolution. There were hefty pockets of loyalist sentiment throughout the middle colonies and the Carolinas. And, more significantly, there was a substantial portion of the American populace, probably a statistical majority, that wanted to get on with their own lives without worrying about declaring their allegiance to one side or the other. But the good earl was absolutely correct in recognizing that the vast scale of the American theater posed potentially intractable problems of control for any army of occupation.
Winning battles was important, but not decisive. The ultimate battlefield was popular opinion in that elusive and extended arena called “the countryside,” where allegiance ebbed and flowed according to the sustained presence of British or American troops on the ground. Given the limited number of British troops, and the nearly unlimited geographic space they needed to control, the British army faced an insurmountable problem in Lord Camden’s assessment. For their vaunted battlefield prowess would eventually dissipate its energies marching hither and yon through the vast American theater, searching for the strategic center of the rebellion, which in fact had no geographic location.
From the very outset of the war, then, there were two competing scenarios for its conduct, each of which led to near-certain but contradictory conclusions. On the one hand, if the war became a conventional contest between armies along the lines of the French and Indian War, the Americans could not hope to win. On the other hand, if it became a protracted conflict for the hearts and minds of the American populace, the British would almost surely lose. Or, perhaps more accurately, the British would be forced to recognize that winning came at a cost in troops and treasure that they were unprepared to pay.
The pivotal moment in the war, when the second scenario replaced the first, occurred in the winter of 1777–78. The locale for this decisive strategic shift was a previously obscure hamlet twenty miles northwest of Philadelphia named Valley Forge, a place enshrined in mythology ever since as a kind of American Gethsemane, where Washington, the American Christ, kneels in prayer amidst bloodstained snow beseeching the Lord for deliverance. The real story of Valley Forge is both more and less dramatic than the mythological stereotype. While the sheer survival of the Continental Army was at stake that winter, the real story of Valley Forge went far beyond questions of suffering and survival. The very character of the War for Independence changed at this moment from a clash between armies to a competition for control of the countryside. It moved from a war the Americans could not win to a struggle they were unlikely to lose.3
While there were no epiphanies at Valley Forge that made it into the historical record—the image of Washington kneeling in prayer amidst the snowdrifts is a complete fabrication—lessons were learned, gradually and grudgingly as it turned out, that altered the strategy of the Continental Army for the remainder of the war. The key insight, which went against all of Washington’s personal instincts, was that both space and time were on the American side, so that the only way to lose the war was to try to win it.
The major player in this story is Washington, with Nathanael Greene cast in an important supporting role. A very young John Marshall makes a cameo appearance, glimpsing for the first time why the political goals as well as the military strategy of the War for Independence needed to change, from a confederated republic to a consolidated nation-state. In several senses, then, the winter at Valley Forge became the decisive moment both in the war and in the very meaning of the American Revolution.
WINTRY SCENES
GIVEN THE HISTORICAL haze that has settled over Valley Forge as the quintessential symbol of stoic survival amidst the snow, best to begin with the unadorned facts about the place itself, then the firsthand testimony of witnesses present on the ground at the time, uncorrupted by any subsequent sentimentalism.
Valley Forge was a rural village in southeastern Pennsylvania, about two thousand acres of wooded hills dotted by occasional clearings, surrounding farmhouses, and outlying buildings. Far from a vacant wilderness, at fifty residents per square mile it was one of the more densely populated farming regions in Pennsylvania. Neither deserted nor a desert, the fertile land produced more wheat, grain, and livestock for sale in the markets of Philadelphia and beyond than any similarly sized area in North America. In fact, one of the reasons Washington had selected Valley Forge as a site for his winter encampment was its abundant food supply, which he wanted to deny the British army ensconced in nearby Philadelphia and claim for his own troops. The central irony of the “starving time” that afflicted the army at Valley Forge was that it occurred squarely in the middle of the richest and most productive agrarian community on the Atlantic coast.4
What about the ordinary troops—Washington called them “the soldiery”—of the Continental Army that inhabited those log huts at Valley Forge? Our best guess is that there were approximately twelve thousand of them. But all records of troop strength are snapshots in a moving picture. Because of desertions, expiring enlistments, and new arrivals, the Continental Army was an ever-shifting aggregate, part turnstile and part accordion. By the time of Valley Forge the enlisted veterans, what we might call the core of the corps, were not typical yeoman farmers of the sort that fought at Bunker Hill or the Boston Siege. They were, instead, indentured servants, recently arrived immigrants from Ireland or Scotland, emancipated slaves, landless sons from New England, mechanics from Philadelphia. They represented the poorest strata of American society, there because, truth be known, they had no brighter prospects. The more representative, property-owning citizenry had gravitated to the state militias, where the obligations were less open-ended and the discipline less demanding. One of the likely reasons the ordinary soldiers suffered so silently and patiently at Valley Forge was that the harsh conditions only replicated the difficult experiences of their earlier lives as the dregs of society.5
It is also wrong to think of these men all clumped together within the Valley Forge hamlet. The headquarters of the Continental Army was located there, to be sure, but the army itself was deployed in a wide arc, stretching from northern Delaware up through Valley Forge, then around to southern New Jersey. This crescent-shaped deployment provided a more secure defensive perimeter, afforded greater range for foraging expeditions in the countryside, and provided multiple avenues of escape to the interior if General William Howe, for some inexplicable reason, decided to abandon his comfortable quarters in Philadelphia and launch a winter campaign. Just as the Continental Army was the name for an ever-changing congregation, Valley Forge was the name for the center of a broadly diffused deployment.6
If these historical facts complicate and confuse the mythical picture of Valley Forge, virtually all of the firsthand accounts tend to confirm the desperate character of the conditions experienced by the Continental Army at the onset of the Valley Forge winter. An army surgeon, Albigence Waldo, described a soldier named Will upon arrival in camp. He was without shoes, his breeches were tattered and his shirt in strings, his hair was lice-infested and disheveled, his body covered with sores. Exhausted by hunger and exposure, he kept repeating the lamentation “I fail fast. Soon I shall be no more.” No less an authority than Washington himself confirmed the scenes of “blood on the snow”: “To see men without Cloathes to cover their nakedness, without blankets to lay on, without Shoes, by which their Marches might be traced by the Blood from their feet—and almost as often without Provisions as with; Marching through frost & Snow…is a mark of patience and obedience which in my opinion can scarce be parallel’d.”7
Statistical evidence only reinforces the firsthand anecdotal evidence. The hospital records reveal that, on average, only 3,000 to 4,000 of the 12,000 troops were fit for duty. About 2,000 were unavailable for lack of clothes or shoes, 3,500 were “sick present,” meaning confined to their huts but too weak to fight, and 2,500 were “sick absent,” meaning in hospital. Benjamin Rush, who supervised all the hospitals, warned Washington that they were all laboratories for contagious diseases like dysentery, typhus, and smallpox: “There cannot be greater clamity for such men to come into our hospitals at this season of the year,” Rush observed. “I assert that the great majority of those who die under our hands perish with diseases caught in our hospitals.”8
Only a week after arriving at Valley Forge, Washington wrote Henry Laurens, the new president of the Continental Congress, describing the prevailing miseries of his troops, “which must be seen to be believed” and which “it is neither in my power to relieve or prevent.” He concluded with an ominous warning that some historians have speculated was excessive and melodramatic: “I am now convinced beyond a doubt, that unless some great and capital change suddenly takes place…this Army must inevitably be reduced to one or the other of these three things: Starve—dissolve—or disperse.”
In his monumental biography of Washington, John Marshall, who was present at Valley Forge as a junior officer in Daniel Morgan’s elite unit of Virginia riflemen, made a point of endorsing Washington’s dire appraisal to Laurens. “The representations made in this letter,” Marshall observed, “were not exaggerated.” In addition to the statistical and anecdotal evidence, there are also brief glimpses of desperation in the official record, as when the troops were forbidden to cut up their tents as they moved into log huts, even though they were using the shredded canvas as wraps for their bare feet in lieu of shoes. The Continental Army, it seems abundantly clear, was on the verge of collapse.9
The immediate cause of the crisis was the sudden disintegration of the quartermaster department and its operational arm, the commissary system. Thomas Mifflin, a prominent Philadelphia Quaker of some ability and greater ambition, had been serving as quartermaster general for nearly two years, capably managing an ad hoc collection of commissary agents, maintaining at least a measure of control over the inevitable graft and corruption that came with sizable government contracts. When Mifflin abruptly resigned his post in the fall of 1777, his replacement proved incompetent and the entire supply system collapsed into a heap of administrative chaos and profiteering. To be fair, the outright criminal negligence was accompanied by a dramatic plunge in the purchasing power of the wildly inflated Continental currency, which many American farmers regarded as virtually worthless. The net result was that the pipeline of food and clothing stopped flowing and then dried up altogether just when the Continental Army arrived at Valley Forge.
Washington’s initial response was to explode in a fury of frustration, peppering his letters to derelict commissary agents with curse words (e.g., “Dam it”). His aides attempted to cast the verbal indiscretions in a positive light. “This is language that His Excellency is by no means accustom’d to use,” they explained to one agent, “and you may judge of the provocation when he is oblig’d to adopt it.” Washington’s eventual solution to the problem was to appoint Nathanael Greene, his ablest and most trusted lieutenant, as quartermaster general. Given Greene’s rank and status as a field commander, this decision, which Greene initially resisted, signaled Washington’s newfound recognition that the supply problem constituted the most serious threat, more serious than Howe’s army, to the army’s survival. But before Greene could begin to work his customary magic, the empty stores and magazines meant that food, clothing, blankets, and shoes were simply unavailable when the snow started.10
February of 1778 was probably the worst month, as shortages forced the entire garrison to survive on half rations and visitors described soldiers crying, “Famine! Famine!” While precise numbers are impossible to calculate, the best educated guess is that about two thousand troops died of some combination of disease, malnutrition, and exposure throughout the winter. Ironically, despite supply lines that stretched over two thousand miles across the Atlantic, the British army at Philadelphia spent the winter nestled in the bosom of comparative health and serenity.11
THE SINEWS OF WAR
THE SUPPLY PROBLEM, while catastrophic in its immediate consequences, was eminently solvable. (Indeed, Greene eventually solved it.) But the deeper problems afflicting the Continental Army all flowed from the fact that the war, now in its third year, had gone on longer than anyone expected at the start. As Greene put it to Washington, “Every body expected a short and speedy issue to the unhappy dispute, and every one felt a perfect freedom to make the necessary sacrifices to bring about a proper reconciliation.” But now, after three grueling campaigns and with no end in sight, the bloom was off the patriotic rose: “People begin to think coolly, they compare their condition in the field with that at home—the situation of their families, & their future prospects grow into objects of importance…. Every officer sais he is willing to bear apart of the common burden, but a very few have resolution to engage under such a hopeless prospect as the present institution exhibits to the view of every one in the service.”
In effect, the Continental Army, which had been built around the principle of voluntary sacrifice to “The Cause,” had never been designed to fight a protracted war of attrition. Expecting a sprint, it now found itself engaged in a marathon. And in that kind of contest, the superior resources of the British army would gradually grind down whatever remnant of dedicated patriots that emerged from those makeshift huts in the spring. If Greene was right, two of the conventional assumptions that had shaped American thinking about the conduct of the war were turned on their heads: first, a group of virtuous volunteers could not defeat an army of professionals; second, in a protracted war, time was on the British, not the American, side. “It is almost an established maxim in European Politics,” Greene observed, that in a lengthy war “the longest purse will remain masters of the field,” for in such a contest “money is the sinews of war.”12
These were not the kind of conclusions calculated to buoy the spirits of the starving soldiers shivering in those huts. But Greene’s strategic assessment provided just the kind of candid appraisal that Washington had requested, in fact ordered, from all the general officers in camp. Their written opinions were designed to inform Washington as he prepared for a crucial conference with a civilian delegation from the Continental Congress that convened at Valley Forge in January of 1778. Washington synthesized their uniformly pessimistic judgments to draft his own report to what was called the Camp Committee. (Actually, Washington delegated the drafting to a precocious aide-de-camp by the name of Alexander Hamilton.)13
This deliberative process itself merits at least a passing comment, since it is difficult to imagine the senior officers of any European army being consulted so fully or responding so candidly, especially when the news being delivered to the commander in chief was all bad. The overwhelming consensus, on the other hand, confirmed Washington’s early diagnosis: namely, the Continental Army as currently constituted was on the verge of dissolution.14
In fact, the report that Washington delivered to the Camp Committee contained a message that defied the central assumption on which the entire military effort had rested until now, an assumption hallowed by its association with the republican values that the American Revolution purportedly embodied. This cherished assumption, Washington was at pains to explain, was in fact a sentimental illusion:
Men may speculate as they will—they may talk of patriotism—they may draw a few examples from ancient stories of great achievements performed by its influence; but, whoever builds upon it, as a sufficient basis, for conducting a long and bloody War, will find themselves deceived in the end. We must take the passions of Men, as nature has given them, and those principles as a guide…. I do not mean to exclude altogether the idea of patriotism. I know it exists, and I know it has done much in the present contest. But I will venture to assert that a great and lasting War can never be supported on this principle alone…. For a time it may, of itself, push men to action—to bear much—to encounter difficulties; but it will not endure unassisted by interest.15
The report proposed a litany of organizational reforms for a “new model” army: consolidating the number of undermanned battalions; upgrading the status of the cavalry; regularizing the criteria for promotion. But there were two essential recommendations on which all the other reforms depended: first, all officers who signed up for the duration should receive pensions of half pay for life, and, if they are permanently disabled or killed, their wives and children should be compensated; second, mandatory quotas, in effect a draft, should be imposed on each state in order to assure that the fighting strength of the Continental Army reached its full complement of slightly more than forty thousand troops. Washington recognized that both requests (i.e., creating a standing army of professionals and replacing voluntarism with coercion) violated the very principles the American Revolution purportedly embodied. But it was the only way to win the war. And defeat rendered all the republican principles irrelevant.16
While the Camp Committee planned to take that painfully paradoxical message back to congress, where the reception could be expected to be some combination of incredulity and stunned silence, there appeared in camp a one-man answer to one of Washington’s military problems, a former Prussian officer who styled himself Baron von Steuben. The title was a complete fabrication, as were Steuben’s claims of intimacy with Frederick the Great and the rank of general. (He had never gotten beyond captain.) In that sense Steuben looked much like those other European officers who kept showing up at Valley Forge with inflated credentials and equally inflated egos, demanding high rank and quickly exposing themselves as insufferable nuisances.17
Steuben, it turned out, was different. Though a fraud, he proved himself a lovable character and a highly competent officer with a special knack for drilling soldiers on the parade ground. Soon after his arrival in late February he could be seen every morning barking commands in his imperfect English, studded with German profanities, maneuvering troops from column to line and back again with increasing precision, shouting orders to platoons, then companies, then entire regiments. Within weeks his appearance on the parade ground became the major attraction of the day for all visitors to the camp, and Steuben himself became the self-styled maestro of military orchestrations.
But Steuben’s daily performance was more than an amusing show that broke the boredom of camp. To be sure, modern soldiers justifiably regard marching exercises as tiresome routines designed to occupy time with no direct connection to their combat effectiveness. On the eighteenth-century battlefield, however, the tactical deployment of troops in disciplined formations often made the crucial difference in adjusting to shifts in the direction of flanking assaults, massing fire-power at the point of attack, or maintaining unit cohesion during a strategic retreat. Rather incredibly, prior to Steuben’s arrival there had been no uniform standards of march and maneuver at all in the Continental Army. (Different units had their own tactical rules, just as they had their own uniforms.) During two recent battles, at Brandywine and Germantown, despite spirited efforts and excellent marksmanship that impressed several British officers, the inability of American troops to move in disciplined formations amidst the smoke and confusion had a decisive impact on the outcome. What Steuben had to teach, then, the Continental Army had a considerable need to learn if they ever hoped to match the prowess of the British army on a conventional battlefield.18
Just as Greene had been Washington’s answer to the supply problem, Steuben became his answer to the discipline problem. Washington appointed him inspector general toward the end of the Valley Forge encampment. No equivalently simple solution existed for what we might call the turnstile problem, the transitory character and ever-shifting composition of the Continental Army, now a problem rendered more acute by a prolonged war that had outlived its glory phase. The only person who could solve that problem was a magician who could wave his magic wand and re-create in the population at large the patriotic ethos already being referred to nostalgically as “the spirit of ’76.” No one of that description showed up at Valley Forge, so from Washington’s perspective, still fixated on the conventional assumption that it was a mano a mano contest between his army and Howe’s, the future seemed as bleak as the Valley Forge weather.
FLUTTERINGS
THE SOCIAL STRUCTURE of the Valley Forge encampment was a perfect pyramid built out of the classic Aristotelian categories: the one, the few, and the many. The one, of course, was Washington, whose lodgings at the Isaac Potts farmhouse became operational headquarters from which he rode out each day to inspect the troops in much the manner that he inspected the slaves and fields of his Mount Vernon plantation. The many were the ordinary soldiers huddled in their huts, by all accounts bearing their deplorable conditions with remarkable patience, sometimes singing a patriotic ditty entitled “War and Washington” as the commander in chief rode past. The few were the officers, whose demeanor, at least as reflected in the official records, comes across as sufficiently strange to merit our attention.
Two overlapping patterns of behavior within the officer corps catch the eye. First, the records reveal an obsessive concern with rank, to include minute distinctions of seniority that often required courtsmartial to resolve. While the enlisted men were suffering silently, the officers seemed to be perpetually engaged in petty arguments about their relative status in the military hierarchy, at times resembling, as Adams put it, apes scrambling for nuts. Second, minor arguments around the campfires (e.g., Did you bring your troops up fast enough at Brandywine? Whose horse should be allowed to feed first?) quickly escalated to major matters of honor, which often required adjudications before they escalated again to personal challenges and even duels. While the ordinary soldiers shivered stoically, their officers seemed fixated on a kind of juvenile competition about their respective reputations.19
All these fragile and throbbing egos could be attributed to stress, but the more plausible explanation is that the officer corps at Valley Forge had come to regard itself as an indigenous American aristocracy. Looking ahead to the postwar years, the seeds of the Society of the Cincinnati were planted at this moment, rooted in the conviction that the officer corps was the elite “band of brothers” that remained true to “The Cause” just when it seemed to be lost and when the idealism of 1775–76 was dying out in the population at large.
In the British army, one was an officer because one was an aristocrat. In the Continental Army, one was an aristocrat because one was an officer. And because elite status depended upon negotiable calculations of merit rather than clear bloodlines or established fortunes, the persistent bickering within the officer corps, the excessive laments about “mortification” and “indignity,” were expressions of a thin-skinned uncertainty about where one stood in the pecking order. The American officers clearly regarded themselves as an American meritocracy. But merit in this new American context proved incessantly negotiable and contentious once unmoored from European guidelines and forced to invent its own criteria.
With all the advantages of hindsight, one can also detect a new idea emerging within the officer corps at Valley Forge about the political goals of the American Revolution. Peeking ahead to the 1780s and 1790s, it is no accident that the leadership of the Federalist Party—to include Washington, Alexander Hamilton, and John Marshall—shared the sufferings of the Valley Forge winter, and internalized in those dire conditions a palpable sense that a fully empowered central government was necessary to win the war and oversee the peace.
The Continental Congress, which had functioned as a de facto central government throughout the first year of the war, had surrendered that mandate in the summer of 1776. More accurately, it had been wrestled away by the states, which became the sovereign units of an American confederation rather than the junior partners in an American nation. By 1777 Washington had begun the practice of drafting an annual Circular to the States, and his correspondence at Valley Forge was littered with letters to the respective governors of Pennsylvania, New Jersey, Virginia, Connecticut, and New York, each one acknowledging that the states, not the Continental Congress, had the final say on all crucial questions of manpower and money.20
This made eminent ideological sense, since the state legislatures could justifiably claim that the constitutional crisis which prompted secession from the British Empire had rejected Parliament’s authority in favor of the colonial assemblies, which were just as unwilling to subordinate themselves to a domestic version of Parliament in Philadelphia. While ideologically correct, this political arrangement was a fiscal and military nightmare, for the diffusion of authority from one to thirteen autonomous sources wreaked havoc with any coherent process of planning or policy. It was like surveying the battlefield not with binoculars but with a kaleidoscope.
As a result, the seeds of a truly national vision were planted at Valley Forge for the first time. The war was still about American independence, to be sure, but unless a consolidated nation-state with powers to make domestic and foreign policy for all the states emerged after independence, all the wartime sacrifices would be for naught, because the infant American republic would most probably dissolve into a collection of state and regional sovereignties. At least the germ of this nationalistic perspective began to congeal within the officer corps at this time, alongside the belief that the Continental Army, not the state-centered Continental Congress, was the only surviving national institution that represented the American people as a whole. During the first third of the nineteenth century the most articulate and influential advocate for a truly national interpretation of the American Revolution was John Marshall, who in his capacity as chief justice of the Supreme Court enjoyed a privileged perch from which to exercise his influence. Valley Forge was the place where his animating idea was born, for it was the place where the inherent inadequacy of a state-based confederation first materialized and the linkage between independence and nationhood first entered the political conversation.21
Alongside the flutterings of a proud but insecure officer corps, the surviving records contain analogous flutterings about challenges to the previously impregnable status of the commander in chief himself. During the military campaign of 1777 Washington had failed to prevent Howe’s army from occupying the American capital at Philadelphia, despite heroic but futile efforts at Brandywine and Germantown. The singular American military victory had occurred at Saratoga in October, when Horatio Gates had managed to defeat and force the surrender of General John Burgoyne’s entire army, about seven thousand troops, in large part because the New England militia had rallied in impressive numbers to surround and subdue Burgoyne’s marooned force. The contrast between Washington’s failure and Gates’s success prompted a whispering campaign within the Continental Congress and beyond about the wisdom of replacing Washington with Gates.22
Nothing much came of this ill-managed scheme, which included the publication of letters—all forgeries—purporting to reveal that Washington was really a British spy who had been poised to sell out his countrymen for money from the start of the war, much in the manner of Benedict Arnold two years later, though the opportunity never quite presented itself. The identities of the major schemers—Thomas Mifflin, Benjamin Rush, and a previously obscure foreign officer named Thomas Conway—were quickly exposed. For his part, Washington maintained a calm public front, leaking to the press this bravado statement: “Whenever the public gets dissatisfied with my services, or a person is found better qualified to answer her expectation, I shall quit the helm with as much satisfaction, and retire to private life with as much content, as ever the wearied pilgrim felt upon his safe arrival in the Holy-Land.”23
Knowing as we do how this little episode turned out, most historians have sensibly concluded that Washington’s survival as commander in chief was never seriously threatened, and therefore the subject deserves only a quick glance before moving on to more important matters. But within the Valley Forge encampment the conclusion of the story was unclear, so the scheme to replace Washington fueled the gossip engines throughout the winter, producing a sustained surge of support for Washington within the officer corps and several challenges to duel with anyone failing to demonstrate sufficient levels of loyalty to his leadership. In the same way that the officers of the Continental Army closed ranks around their own superior virtue at Valley Forge, they also closed ranks around Washington as their only and irreplaceable commander in chief. “I wish you Could know as well as myself,” wrote Lafayette, “what difference there is Between You and Any other man Upon the Continent…. If you were lost for America, there is no Body who could keep the army and the Revolution for Six Months.”24
In the longer sweep of history, the ill-fated scheme to replace Washington marked the start of an unbroken pattern. Throughout the remainder of his public life, anyone who went up against Washington frontally was soon the recipient of a one-way ticket to oblivion. Within the briefer compass of the Valley Forge encampment, Washington’s status as “the singular figure,” the only man to command the Continental Army enjoying the complete confidence of his soldiers and officers, hardened into another self-evident truth of the American Revolution, which, like “The Cause” itself, must never again be questioned.
THE COUNTRYSIDE
AT LEAST ON THE FACE of it, two unquestioned facts about the conditions at Valley Forge appear irreconcilable. On the one hand, the chronic food shortages of December and January became a full-fledged famine in February. Several officers commented on the deplorable situation, describing troops on the verge of both starvation and desertion, horses dying for lack of forage, their decaying bodies filling the air with a sickening stench. On the other hand, the arc of the army’s deployment ran directly across the most fertile and productive farming region in the country. Gouverneur Morris, one of the delegates on the Camp Committee, put it most succinctly: “An American Army in the Bosom of America is about to disband for the want of something to eat.” In effect, the Continental Army was starving to death while located squarely in the middle of America’s most bountiful breadbasket. How could that possibly be?25
The short answer is that the bulk of the local farmers preferred to sell their crops to the British army in Philadelphia. “I can assure Your Excellency,” explained one officer on patrol duty, “not less Flour than is sufficient to maintain Eight or Ten Thousand men goes daily to Philadelphia…and scarcely a day passes but a Number gets into that Place by the different roads on this side of the Schuylkill.” A veritable caravan of grain and livestock flowed from the countryside into the city to feed British troops, the wagons often driven by women and children in order to minimize the likelihood of arrest if stopped by American patrols. “I am the more chagrined at the want of provisions to which I am informed your Army is reduced,” wrote William Livingston, the governor of New Jersey, “as I believe it is partly owing to the boundless Avarice of some of our Farmers, who would rather see us ingulphed in eternal Bondage, than sell their produce at a reasonable price.”26
Actually, at least from the point of view of the farmers, price was the problem, because the Continental Army purchased supplies with certificates whose value was tied to the vastly inflated Continental currency, making the certificates nearly worthless. The British paid in pounds sterling, a much more reliable medium of exchange. And so their decision to sell to the British army was not so much a political statement as it was a wholly rational economic calculation based on self-interest.27
But even that explanation oversimplifies a more complicated question of allegiance throughout the countryside surrounding Valley Forge. For it implies that the bulk of the populace identified with the patriot cause, but were forced to put their patriotism aside in order to feed their own families. The social and political reality, in truth, was much messier. If we could draw a map of the adjoining counties and color the pro-British areas red and the pro-American areas blue, the result would resemble a random pattern of red and blue patches, but the largest area would need to be colored purple, reflecting a population that remained equivocal: Quakers who were conscience-bound to a posture of neutrality; lukewarm patriots or loyalists whose allegiance shifted in accord with the military balance of power in their neighborhoods; and a substantial segment of indifferent citizens who just wanted the war to go somewhere else and allow them to get on with their lives.28
Such a map exposes the utter inadequacy of two political assumptions prevalent at the time and resonant in the history books ever since. The first assumption claimed that the vast majority of the American citizenry supported the war. That was probably true in 1775–76, but it was no longer true by 1777–78. The second assumption claimed that the two political camps, labeled Whig and Tory or patriot and loyalist, were clearly delineated and permanent categories. That was never true, and the longer the war went on, the more fluid and dynamic these categories became, and the larger the population became that did not fit neatly into either political camp. In effect, the countryside around Valley Forge constituted a microcosm of the increasingly muddled allegiances that a protracted war had created in those middle states where the conflict had generated its greatest havoc.
And the worse the famine within the Valley Forge encampment became, the worse the muddle and the havoc became for the local residents. With the army facing starvation, Washington felt obliged to order a “Grand Forage,” sending Greene with a detachment of nearly a thousand troops to forcibly purchase, which meant to confiscate, all the cattle, horses, and grain that remained in the region. The ever-resourceful Greene vowed to do his duty, despite the distasteful business of watching whole families collapse in sorrow and desperation as his soldiers carried away everything they owned. Greene reported that the scenes could break your heart, but also that the pickings were surprisingly slim because British foraging expeditions out of Philadelphia had already picked the country clean. “We take all the Horses and Cattle, Hogs and Sheep fit for our use,” he explained, “but the Country has been so gleaned that there is but little left in it.” Most of the local farmers tried to hide whatever crops and livestock not already sold to the British in nearby swamps in order to feed themselves during the remainder of the winter. And it was almost impossible to get reliable intelligence on these hidden caches, because, as Greene explained, “Whigs here are afraid to give any information respecting the Tories for fear that when we are gone they will be carried prisoners into Philadelphia.”29
Indeed, the war in the countryside had become a series of foraging fights between the two armies, with the local residents trapped in between. One farmer, who claimed allegiance to the cause of American independence, described the vicious cycle that resulted from the ever-shifting situation on the ground: “That we can neither stay at our Houses, go out nor come in with Safety. That we can neither plough, plant, sow, reap nor gather. That we are fast falling into Poverty, Distress, and into the Hands of our Enemy.” And farmers of a loyalist persuasion suffered the same fate whenever the Continental Army was in the area. Those attempting to avoid recriminations by claiming neutrality quickly discovered that no such thing existed.30
If the local residents were trapped between the unpredictable arrivals of two marauding armies, Washington was caught between two equivalently incompatible courses: confiscating the food that prevented the starvation of his soldiers, which understandably alienated the very people the American Revolution was intending to defend, or maintaining his revolutionary principles while watching his army dissolve. This was never a difficult choice, though Washington preserved his conscience by insisting that all confiscated crops must be paid for in certificates. While worthless, they provided a moral balm. As for the women and children driving supplies into Philadelphia, they should not be physically harmed, but their horses and wagons should be confiscated. And those men identified as ringleaders in this illicit traffic should be arrested and hanged in public executions designed to make a statement. He did not reverse a request from the commander of one patrol outside Philadelphia to fire on all men carrying food into the city, then leave their bodies on the road as warnings to those similarly disposed. He drew the line, however, short of what we now call “pacification.” When presented with a proposal to deny Howe’s army access to the farms within a ten-mile radius of Philadelphia by forcibly removing all the inhabitants to more distant locations, he rejected the suggestion as a solution that was worse than the problem it solved, concluding that “the horror of depopulating a whole district…would forbid the measure.”31
These sorrowful scenes and difficult choices exposed a major new development in the strategic chemistry of the war. In the countryside around Valley Forge it became clear for the first time that the American Revolution, while still and always a struggle for independence, was also now a civil war for the hearts and minds of the American people. And the two contests were closely connected.
Until now, Washington had viewed the war as a conventional contest between two armies. His whole effort had focused on sustaining a fighting force in the field that could match and eventually defeat the British army. While he never entirely abandoned that conventional conviction, the foraging fights around Valley Forge forced him to confront the unconventional dimensions of the emerging conflict. Greene had warned him that “the longest purse” usually won a protracted war, a viewpoint that made an eventual British victory, like the added sums of an accountant’s ledger, almost a mathematical certainty. Now, however, the volatile political chemistry of the countryside changed the terms of the equation, for the new variable was not money but allegiance. Even the longest purse could not defeat the deepest resistance.
A new term entered Washington’s military vocabulary, “cover the country,” signaling the recognition that deployment of the Continental Army and local militia units as a kind of roving police force that controlled the countryside was a crucial new mission, in many ways more important than set-piece battles with the British army. This was a new way of thinking for Washington, not easy for him to embrace given his honor-driven sense of battle as much like a summons to duel. Nor did it arrive in his mind as lightning flash or epiphany. (Temperamentally, Washington was incapable of epiphanies, and indisposed to trust them in others.) But as the snows at Valley Forge began to melt, he was gradually coming to grasp the wisdom of a defensive strategy designed to make control of the countryside as crucial as winning battles.32
RITES OF SPRING
ONE OF THE BEGUILINGLY quaint customs of eighteenth-century warfare was the agreed-upon understanding that armies do not fight in winter. If Howe had chosen to defy that custom in the winter of 1777–78 (and the same argument would apply to the previous winter encampment at Morristown), he would almost surely have destroyed the Continental Army during its season of wholesale comings and goings, when it was completely vulnerable. But the idea of waging a decisive winter campaign, so obvious to us schooled in the relentless character of modern warfare, never even occurred to Howe, for the same reason that it never occurred to regular troops in either army to lie down in the prone position on the battlefield when the enemy prepared to fire a volley. The mentality of the age was closer chronologically to the chivalric world of medieval jousts than it was to the more lethal landscape of the modern battlefield after World War I. This despite the fact that most combat casualties on the American side during the American Revolution occurred at extremely close quarters, at the point of a bayonet in the most grisly and gruesome fashion imaginable. There were no rules of civility at that horrific moment, but there were unspoken and unbreakable rules of engagement that commanders of armies honored as gentlemen, and one of them was that war did not happen in winter.
But that also meant that the arrival of spring foreshadowed preparations for the next campaign. As Washington began those preparations, his major problem was knowing how large a force he would command. About two hundred officers had resigned their commissions in the course of the winter. Expiring enlistments, desertions, debilitating wounds, and deaths had reduced the enlisted troops to less than five thousand men—exact numbers are impossible to calculate—and therefore made all planning dependent on the number of new recruits who would show up for the next campaign. In late March Washington apprised Henry Laurens and the Continental Congress that “our present situation at this advanced Season is truly alarming, and to me highly distressing, as I am convinced that we shall be plunged into the campaign before our new arrangements are made and the Army properly organized.”33
Strictly speaking, there was nothing new about this predicament. The accordion-like contraction, then expansion, of the Continental Army had become, like the campaign season itself, another rite of spring. During the previous winter encampment at Morristown, troop strength had actually dropped lower than the bottom point reached at Valley Forge. But Washington’s major argument to the Camp Committee, and through it to the congress, had been based on the proposition that such annual ups and downs could not continue. At some point, and Washington had warned that Valley Forge might very well mark that point, the ranks would not refill and the Continental Army would simply disappear.34
As new enlistees began to trickle into camp in March and April it became clear that nothing so dramatic would occur this season. But it also became clear that nothing so robust as Washington had envisioned in his report to the Camp Committee—a total force of over forty thousand—was even remotely possible. By the time the new complement of troops from Virginia arrived in camp—they were late because of delays forced by undergoing mandatory inoculation for smallpox—the newly constituted army numbered about twelve thousand. In effect, the army that marched out of Valley Forge would be the same size as the army that marched in, though many of the men filling the ranks would be different.35
Where would they be marching to? That was the question Washington put to all his general officers in April, the same solicitation of opinion from his chief lieutenants that he had requested earlier before drafting his report to the Camp Committee. As Washington saw it, there were three strategic options: attack Howe’s army in Philadelphia; assault the British garrison in New York and occupy the city, a notorious haven for loyalists; or assume a defensive posture and fight a “war of posts” in which direct engagement with the British army should be avoided except under the most favorable conditions.36
All the general officers responded within a matter of days, leaving a written record that affords a clear window into the strategic thinking of the leadership within the Continental Army at this most propitious moment. Most of the officers were still thinking of the war in conventional terms as a contest between armies. Most favored one of the two offensive choices, though one aggressive officer, Lord Stirling, recommended simultaneous attacks on both Philadelphia and New York. The clear consensus was that the Continental Army needed to deliver a decisive blow against Howe’s army along the lines that Gates had delivered against Burgoyne at Saratoga. This was a matter of honor, as they saw it, as well as the only way to win the war.
In retrospect, there were two fault lines running through their recommendations: first, they continued to assume that the more protracted the war, the greater the British advantage, in effect that time was on the side of the British army; second, they were proposing an aggressive strategy that, by their own calculations, would require between 25,000 and 35,000 troops to succeed, yet the current strength of the Continental Army was less than half that level. The very idea of a defensive strategy seemed dishonorable, almost cowardly, though one officer, William Maxwell, observed that Washington’s third option made no sense to him “unless it should be our designs to beat the Enemy by protracting the War to a length that they could no [longer] prosecute it, which I believe is not our Intention.”37
Three officers dissented from the majority view. Steuben was somewhat equivocal, preferring an attack on either New York or Philadelphia, but also worrying about any strategy that put the survival of the Continental Army at risk. “In the present Situation of American Affairs,” he explained, “I could never determine myself to vote for general actions, upon which the fate of the nation might depend.”38
The most outspoken endorsement of a wholly defensive strategy came from a French engineering officer, Antoine-Jean-Louis Duportail, who dismissed the offensive options as suicidal and the men who advocated them as juvenile romantics obsessed with honor and glory, therefore blind to the obvious strategic reality—namely, that it was the British and not the American army that needed to win the war. Duportail offered the clearest and most prescient analysis of the advantages that would accrue to the American cause over time, and of the folly of discarding that advantage by seeking a decisive battle against a superior British army. The key strategic question, he noted, was not even being posed. All prospective engagements, wherever they occurred, should be evaluated according to the geographic availability of escape routes for the Continental Army if it was defeated. In that sense, the only strategy that mattered was an exit strategy.39
The most imaginative and prophetic advice came from Greene, in part because he had spent the winter at Valley Forge reconnoitering the countryside, in part because he had read widely in the military history of the Roman Empire and therefore was more keenly attuned to the intrinsic difficulties faced by any army of occupation, no matter how formidable its military prowess. “The only hope that the Enemy can ever have of subjugating this Country,” Greene observed, “is by possessing themselves of our Capital Cities, distressing our trade—destroying our stores, and debauching one part of the Community to lend their Aid to subjugate the other.” Over the past two years the British army had demonstrated its capability to accomplish most of the initial goals, as their current occupation of both New York and Philadelphia clearly demonstrated. But the latter goals, which required them to consolidate their conquests, that is, to convince the population to accept as permanent their supremacy, were a much more daunting task, requiring the abiding deployment of more troops than Great Britain could ever afford to provide. “The great difficulty the Enemy labour under,” Green concluded, “is to continue and secure their conquests at the same time.” He went on to predict, correctly it turned out, that the British would launch a southern campaign aimed at the Carolinas and Virginia, hoping that military victories in that region would break the spirit of the rebellion by convincing the majority of southerners that resistance was doomed. In Greene’s analysis the two armies were primarily pawns in a struggle for the hearts and minds of ordinary citizens in the countryside, the ultimate battlefield where the conflict would be decided. The New York versus Philadelphia question that Washington posed, he argued, should be resolved within that larger strategic context.40
It would be lovely if we were writing a story about Washington’s capacity to recognize wisdom when it was offered. At later moments in his military and political career that story would be true. But in this instance he digested the written recommendations from all his general officers and decided he could not make a decision. His response, written out as “Thoughts Upon a Plan of Operation for Campaign, 1778,” simply summarized the competing pieces of advice without indicating a preference. Indeed, like most of his senior officers, he seemed disposed toward an offensive strategy. All his personal instincts pointed him in that direction. What held him back was not recognition of the strategic insights provided by Steuben, Duportail, or Greene, but rather the more practical recognition that he lacked the troops to mount an offensive campaign against either Philadelphia or New York. He was not by nature an indecisive man, but in this situation he opted to “wait on events,” a backhanded way of adopting the defensive option, at least for the time being.41
EVENTS AND ARCS
WHILE WASHINGTON brooded, those events on which he was waiting began to arrive at Valley Forge faster than the new recruits. The major event, long anticipated but stunning in its impact, was the news that France had signed a treaty of alliance with the United States. This was the equivalent of an international earthquake that shook all the capitals of Europe, none more so than London, where the North ministry now found it necessary to reassess its military commitment in North America within a larger global struggle against its most formidable European rival. Washington announced the splendid news to the army on May 5, and the following day Steuben staged a grand parade of the entire Continental Army that featured a demonstration of “running fire” up and down the line, salvos from thirteen cannons, and spirited shouts of “huzzah” from all the assembled troops. A huge table was set up in the middle of camp, where all the officers were invited to join the commander in chief to sample “a profusion of fat meat, strong wine and other liquors.” The celebratory mood was an appropriate way to declare the end of the Valley Forge winter and to anticipate the imminent assistance of the French army, coming to the rescue like cavalry from across the Atlantic.42
Another piece of foreign news with strategic implications carried a more mixed message. In late April Washington learned that the British ministry, probably anticipating America’s French connection, had proposed new conciliatory terms and appointed a peace commission to negotiate an end to the conflict. In truth, the terms being proposed were not new, but were essentially identical to those offered by the Continental Congress two years earlier. In effect, Parliament would agree not to tax the colonies, recognizing the right of each colonial assembly to do so, and the colonists would pledge their allegiance to the king and remain economic partners within a reconfigured British Empire.
From a British perspective this was an idea whose time had come, but from Washington’s perspective it was an idea whose time had come and gone. He interpreted the peace initiative as another British plot that was “founded in principles of the most wicked and diabolical baseness, meant to poison the minds of the people.” The real British goal, he believed, was to divide the American people, who “are pretty generally weary of the present war,” therefore vulnerable to any apparently sensible political compromise that ended the suffering. But it was too late for compromise. Too much blood had been spilled, the pains and losses were “so great and so many, that they can never be forgotten.” The British were now prepared to offer America everything except independence, but, as Washington put it to Laurens, “Nothing short of Independence…can possibly do.” Laurens concurred, reading the new British proposal as a tacit acknowledgment that their army was mired down in a war without end against “a country that cannot be subjugated.”43
Unbeknownst to either Laurens or Washington, another message from Lord North’s ministry was being delivered to Howe in Philadelphia at about this time. Sir William had bested Washington on almost every battlefield, but he had not found a way to win the war. So he had fallen out of favor with the powers that be in London and was being recalled. He was to be succeeded by Henry Clinton, who would soon receive new instructions from George Germain, the minister of war and chief architect of British strategy. These instructions reflected the sea change in British thinking produced by the anticipated French alliance and, more generally, the eroding public support for an increasingly expensive quagmire. Given these new developments, “the war must be prosecuted upon a different plan from that which it has hitherto been carried on.” Clinton should “relinquish the idea of carrying on offensive operations against the rebels within land.” More specifically, he should evacuate Philadelphia, consolidate his main army in New York, and abandon any effort to crush the Continental Army with one decisive blow. Meanwhile, a sizable British force would be deployed in the Carolinas, where robust loyalist sentiment was presumed to exist.44
It was a strategic decision made in a much more imperial, top-down fashion than the messier and more consensual process followed by Washington. And it left little discretion to Clinton—or Howe for that matter—whereas Washington himself enjoyed near-dictatorial powers on all questions involving the deployment of the Continental Army. But despite the stark difference in style, and despite Washington’s wait-and-see version of a decision, both sides were committing themselves to a defensive strategy north of the Potomac for at least the foreseeable future. It was a recipe for an even more protracted war in which dueling armies gave way to the much murkier competition for hearts and minds.
And so, as Washington led the Continental Army out of Valley Forge on June 18, 1778, one chapter in the War for Independence ended and a new one began. Most elementally, the Continental Army had survived a near-death experience to fight another day, so the subsequent mythological renderings—Gethsemane, Christ in the desert, the winter of discontent—contain more than a grain of truth. It truly was a close call, and if the army had not survived, the story of American independence would have ended abruptly, then had to wait another century or so to reappear as a more evolutionary than revolutionary tale, along the lines of a Canada or an Australia. The strategic center of the rebellion was not a place, it was the Continental Army itself. By marching out of Valley Forge with approximately the same number of troops that marched in, Washington was essentially declaring that the soul of the American Revolution remained alive and well.
But Valley Forge was also pivotal for another reason. During the next three years the Continental Army would fight only one major battle. That was at Monmouth Court House soon after decamping from Valley Forge, when plans to harass Clinton’s rear guard as it marched toward New York accidentally escalated into a full-fledged conventional battle. Otherwise, there were no set-piece battles at all within the crucial corridor running from eastern Pennsylvania up to western Connecticut, where all the major engagements had previously occurred. There the character of the conflict shifted from winning battles to controlling the countryside.
Washington grasped, but only partially, the implications of these altered conditions. The conventional strain in his thinking remained dominant, as he kept waiting for the arrival of the French army and navy that would allow him to smash the British army at New York in one decisive war-ending battle. (Eventually he got his wish, though at Yorktown rather than New York.) In truth, the only reason he avoided a major engagement for so long was that he lacked the manpower. If all his recommendations to the Continental Congress had been implemented, and if the Continental Army had therefore doubled in size with a permanent core of well-supplied veteran troops, Washington would have surely acted differently and more aggressively. But that never happened.
Instead, he was forced to keep the Continental Army in a defensive posture. And in doing so he demonstrated that he did grasp the new strategic conditions that first revealed themselves at Valley Forge. The key piece of evidence on this score was his deployment of the Continental Army. For three years it was stretched in a long arc that started in Philadelphia, moved up through New Jersey, around New York into the Hudson Highlands, then down into the hill country of western Connecticut. This represented a macroscopic version of the microscopic deployment at Valley Forge, offering accessible avenues of escape to the west if confronted by a superior British force and, more importantly, assuring American control of the countryside where the bulk of the civilian population resided.45
Even when the British adopted a southern strategy in 1780 and dispatched their main army under Charles Cornwallis into the Carolinas, Washington refused to budge from his strategic perimeter. (He made Greene his one-man solution again, sending him with a small “flying army” to bedevil Cornwallis, which he proceeded to do with his customary brilliance.) In spite of his instinctive urge to defeat the British army, Washington realized that the most crucial battlefield was elsewhere, out there on that psychological terrain where ordinary Americans were calculating their interests and allegiances. By controlling that terrain he assured victory in the most decisive battle of the war. Yorktown thus became a gift from the gods that satisfied Washington’s fondest dream, but Valley Forge was the pivotal moment when he first glimpsed the strategic reality that made a Yorktown of some sort inevitable.
CHAPTER THREE
The Argument
IN 1783, the year the War for Independence officially ended, Washington wrote his last Circular to the States. His prose was uncharacteristically lyrical; indeed, the letter contained the most poetical passages that Washington ever wrote. And his message was equally uplifting—nothing less than a visionary version of just what the recent American victory actually meant. “The Citizens of America,” Washington wrote,
placed in the most enviable condition, as the sole Lords and Proprietors of a vast Tract of Continent, comprehending all the various soils and climates of the World, and abounding with all the necessaries and conveniences of life, are now by the late satisfactory pacification, acknowledged to be possessed of absolute freedom and Independency; They are, from this period, to be considered as the Actors on a most conspicuous Theatre, which seems to be designated by Providence for the display of human greatness and felicity.1
In short, the American victory not only meant independence from the British Empire, it also meant the creation of an American empire in its stead as the dominant power on the continent. The American Revolution, as Washington saw it, was a continuation of the French and Indian War for control of the eastern third of North America. The Peace of Paris (1763) had eliminated France from contention. Now the Treaty of Paris (1783) had eliminated Great Britain. There was now no one left, save the disparate Indian tribes, to contest American supremacy east of the Mississippi.
When Lafayette proposed a grand tour of the European capitals as a kind of victory parade, Washington countered with a proposal for an American tour of the “New Empire,” starting in Detroit, sailing down the Mississippi River to New Orleans, then heading back through modern-day Mississippi and Alabama to Savannah. It was a breathtaking imperial vision, which more than half a century later would be given the name “manifest destiny.” “We have indeed so plain a road before us,” wrote Washington, “that it must be worse than ignorance if we miss it.”2
Not everyone agreed. The very fact that Washington’s Circular was directed at the respective state governments constituted an implicit recognition that they, and not the Confederation Congress (i.e., the government under the Articles of Confederation), were the true sovereign sources of political power in the infant American republic. Meanwhile, down in Philadelphia, the Treaty of Paris could not be approved for several weeks because not enough delegates cared enough to show up to constitute a quorum. Instead of a powerful nation-state with imperial pretensions, the government established under the Articles of Confederation was not really much of a government at all, but rather a diplomatic conference where the sovereign states, each of which regarded itself as an autonomous nation, met to coordinate a domestic version of foreign policy. It was, in effect, designed to be weak, and lacked altogether the authority to manage a burgeoning empire.
Given the subsequent history of the United States, which confirmed Washington’s imperial vision by consolidating its power on the continent in the course of the nineteenth century, then emerged in the twentieth century as the dominant economic and military power in the world, it is essential to remember that the term “United States” began as a plural rather than singular noun, more like the modern-day European Union than a latter-day Roman Empire. Allegiances remained primarily local; they then clustered into state-based loyalties, then periodically enlarged to regional affinities and interests. (Just before Jefferson sat down to write the Declaration of Independence, he bemoaned his exile in Philadelphia, far away from the bosom of “my country,” by which he meant Virginia.) The dominant view of most prominent and ordinary American colonists in 1776 was that they were joining together in common cause to defeat the British leviathan, but this union was a temporary necessity, less a marriage than a forced friendship. The only thing that had held the colonies together was their mutual membership in the British Empire. The only thing that had held the states together, and only barely, was their mutual opposition to the authority of the British Empire. Now that the war was won, the states began to go their separate ways.
If Washington was right, the burgeoning American empire required a fully empowered central government to manage its inevitable expansion across the continent. But such a national government contradicted the most cherished political values the American Revolution claimed to stand for. From Washington’s perspective the Confederation Congress appeared “little more than an empty sound” or “a Nugatory body” destined to “sink into contempt in the eyes of Europe.” From the perspective of the vast majority of American citizens, however, the inherent weakness of the Articles of Confederation was a shining example of republican principles, since a strong central government replicated the distant and despotic political power against which they had recently rebelled.3
The gap between these two political camps was an unbridgeable chasm separated by a fundamental difference of opinion over the true meaning of the American Revolution. The outright nationalists, of whom Washington and most officers in the Continental Army were the most outspoken advocates, were a decided minority at war’s end. The staunch confederationists, on the other hand, were a clear majority who also enjoyed the incalculable ideological advantage of knowing that a powerful American nation-state violated the hallowed political principles embodied in “the spirit of ’76.”
How that chasm was bridged, how a dedicated minority of nationalists managed to redefine “the spirit of ’76,” which then became “the spirit of ’87,” is the story we try to tell here. It is, of course, an oft-told tale, and the ground we will be traversing is littered with the dead bodies of many previous historians, who have thereby, if inadvertently, marked the trail. Unfortunately, their respective versions of the story tend to align themselves either with the nationalists, who regarded the Constitution as the culmination of the American Revolution, or with the confederationists, who regarded it as a betrayal. As a result, the historical dialogue has been trapped within the political framework the original participants established in the 1780s, essentially repeating, over and over again, the partisan arguments of each side or, on occasion, attempting to fashion a split-the-difference compromise that still remained hostage to the original formulation.4
As I have argued elsewhere, taking sides in this debate is like choosing between the words and music of the American Revolution. Both sides had legitimate claims to historical truth. Both sides harbored the sincere conviction that they spoke for the deepest impulses of the American Revolution. That awkward fact should serve as the bipartisan starting point for any genuinely detached effort at grasping the messy and shifting meanings of the American Revolution after independence was won.5
Our focus, the two-year period from 1786 to 1788, can make a plausible claim to being the most creative moment in all of American political history. The climax of the story is not the Constitutional Convention in the summer of 1787, but rather the Virginia Ratifying Convention in the summer of 1788, where the contested terms of the debate between the two sides are most fully exposed. The main character in the story is James Madison, a diminutive, paralyzingly shy Virginian who emerged at this dramatic moment as America’s most profound political thinker. The star-studded supporting cast features George Washington, Alexander Hamilton, George Mason, and, perhaps most poignantly, Patrick Henry. Ironically, none of these players believed wholeheartedly in the constitutional settlement proposed in 1787 and ratified in 1788, which was more the product of painful compromise and elegant improvisation than any pure and sustained argument about political theory.
The argument that eventually won out, which was a new and wholly unprecedented version of federalism, emerged from the messy political process itself rather than from the mind of any single thinker. In essence, the argument that triumphed defied logic and the accumulated wisdom of the entire European political tradition, for it made argument itself the answer by creating a framework in which federal and state authority engaged in an ongoing negotiation for supremacy, thereby making the Constitution, like history itself, an argument without end.
AN AMERICAN EUROPE
BY 1786, only three years after his panoramic prophecy of an emerging American empire, George Washington had grown convinced that his beloved American republic was not on the verge of greatness but rather at the edge of anarchy. Multiple letters poured out from Mount Vernon, warning that the government established under the Articles of Confederation had proved itself “a rope of sand” and was now lurching from mere incompetence to complete dissolution: “Without some alteration in our political creed, the superstructure we have been seven years raising at the expense of much blood and treasure must fall. We are fast verging to anarchy & confusion.”6
The fear that the infant nation would not fulfill its vast promise was almost more than he could bear: “No morn ever dawned more favourable than ours did—and no day was ever more clouded than the present…. Thirteen sovereignties pulling against each other, and all tugging at the foederal head, will soon bring ruin on the whole.” The solution was simultaneously obvious and, at least within the current framework, impossible: “I do not conceive we can exist long as a nation,” he lamented to John Jay, “without having lodged somewhere a power which will pervade the whole Union in as energetic a manner, as the authority of the different state governments extends over the several States.” The time was fast approaching when responsible statesmen needed to make a fundamental choice: “We are either a United people, or we are not. If the former, let us, in all matters of general concern act as a nation, which have national objects to promote and a National character to support—If we are not, let us no longer act a farce by pretending to it.”7
Therein lay the rub. For the vast majority of Americans regarded the Confederation Congress as some distant irrelevancy and their local and state governments as their only meaningful sources of political authority. Washington’s broader nationalistic perspective was exceptional rather than typical, having developed in the crucible of a long war in which the inability of the Continental Congress to coerce the states, and the recalcitrance of the states to provide men and money on a reliable basis, nearly cost America its glorious victory. Or so thought the former commander in chief, for whom American independence had become synonymous with the creation of American nationhood.8
His lamentations after the war, then, were merely reiterations of his complaints during the war about the absence of a fully empowered central government, then to win the war, now to manage the peace, which included the consolidation of the continent over the course of the next century. The bulk of the populace did not share this perspective for two elemental reasons: first, the political arguments against Parliament’s authority located sovereignty in the states and stigmatized any American version of Parliament as an equivalent threat to the very liberties won in the war; second, no positive national ethos existed in the minds and hearts of ordinary Americans to maintain some semblance of unity once the British troops sailed away. As a result, the weak federal government established under the Articles of Confederation accurately reflected both the ideology that justified the American Revolution as well as the mentality and experience of most American citizens, for whom grand visions of a powerful nation-state with imperial pretensions floated far above their daily lives.
The result was a prevailing indifference toward the obvious inadequacies of the Confederation Congress. Considerable debate had accompanied the creation of the respective state constitutions, most of which adopted some version of the Adams model proposed in Thoughts on Government: an elected executive, a bicameral legislature, and an independent judiciary. Nothing comparable occurred when the government was established under the Articles of Confederation, in part because it was designed and ratified while the war still raged, in part because it was not really supposed to be a national government at all.9
As a result, when the Confederation Congress shifted its location from Philadelphia to Princeton, then to Annapolis, then to Trenton, then to New York, no one objected to the appearance of impermanence. Indeed, impermanence was somewhat reassuring. So was the abject failure to retire the swelling national debt, loosely estimated at $150 million, though no one was really sure. After all, federal taxes or duties smacked of Parliament’s ill-begotten efforts two decades earlier, which of course had started all the trouble. Finally, the fact that many delegates refused to show up, or, when they did, chose to leave as soon as their own business was finished, only confirmed the appropriately ephemeral status of any faraway central authority. Critics of the inherent weakness of this fly-by-night arrangement failed to grasp that weakness was what most Americans wanted.10
James Madison was one of the critics who did grasp this frustrating fact: “The question whether it is possible and worthwhile to preserve the Union of the States,” he warned in 1786, “must be speedily decided one way or other. Those who are indifferent to the preservation would do well to look forward to the consequences of its extinction.” The word that Madison, along with most critics of the current confederation, used to describe the consequences of inaction was “anarchy,” a term suggesting utter chaos, widespread violence, possible civil war between or among the states, and the likely intervention of several European powers eager to exploit the political disarray for their own imperial purposes.11
While we can never know for sure, since history veered sharply in another direction at the end of the decade, the most likely outcome if the Articles of Confederation collapsed was not anarchy but dismemberment into two or three separate confederacies. Madison himself acknowledged that the gossip mills in both Europe and America were predicting that the imminent dissolution of the Articles would probably lead to “a partition of the states into two or more Confederacies.” An article in the Boston Independent Chronicle envisioned a regional union of five New England states, leaving “the rest of the continent to pursue their own imbecilic and disjointed plans.” The most probable scenario was a tripartite division of regional alliances that created an American version of Europe. New England would be like Scandinavia, the middle Atlantic states like western Europe, the states south of the Potomac like the Mediterranean countries. How this new American trinity would have fared over the ensuing decades is anybody’s guess. Whether it would have become a mere way station on the road to civil war and foreign invasion or a stable set of independent republics that coexisted peacefully and prosperously is impossible to know. But separate confederacies, not outright anarchy, appeared the most likely alternative if and when the Articles dissolved.12
Madison had come to the same conclusion as Washington: namely, that the full promise of the American Revolution could be secured only by a stable and wholly consolidated nation-state. But he had reached that conclusion by a very different route. His fragile constitution made service in the Continental Army or Virginia militia impossible to contemplate, so he never shared Washington’s wartime frustrations at serving thirteen different masters or watching men die of starvation at Valley Forge. Madison’s frustrations took shape in the political arena, more specifically in the Virginia legislature and Confederation Congress, where he watched a bewildering collection of interest groups and political factions conspire to block essential legislation and conceal their narrowly partisan agendas behind a veil of popular rhetoric. In Virginia, these insidious efforts took the form of fearmongering the Anglican clergy in order to block Jefferson’s bill for religious freedom, paper money schemes designed to swindle creditors by permitting debts to be paid off in wildly inflated currency, or candidates for office irresponsibly promising to eliminate all taxes upon election. In the Confederation Congress they took the form of persistent absenteeism, utter disregard for the mounting national debt, Rhode Island’s reliably obstructionist stance toward all money bills, and sectional scheming that distorted any coherent conversation about foreign policy. In effect, Madison encountered the early manifestation of a wild-and-woolly democratic political culture in the states, with all its attendant excesses and shenanigans, topped off by a federal government that was not really a government in any meaningful sense of the term.13
In August of 1786 Madison apprised Thomas Jefferson, then serving as America’s minister in Paris, of a recent proposal floating around the delegations at the Confederation Congress. The proposal recommended the calling of a “Plenipotentiary Convention” to amend the Articles of Confederation in ways that were left unspecified: “Though my wishes are in favor of such an event,” Madison explained to Jefferson, “yet I despair so much of its accomplishment at the present crisis that I do not extend my views beyond a Commercial Reform. To speak the truth, I almost despair even of this.” Madison was reflecting the prevailing opinion within the small circle of nationalists, which recognized that their sense of urgency was not shared by the population at large and that a premature effort at serious reform would almost surely fail, a victim of the very gridlock it sought to remedy. Or worse, a convention called at this time might very well vote to dismember the union altogether in favor of regional confederacies in the European mode.14
Four developments in the fall of 1786 converged to convince Madison that, whether or not the time was ripe, further delay ran even greater risks than a bold gamble against the odds. The first development concerned navigation rights on the Mississippi River, which prompted a political crisis that had been brewing since the previous spring. John Jay, who had primary responsibility for foreign policy in the Confederation Congress, proposed the surrender of American rights to use the Mississippi for twenty-five or thirty years in return for a generous commercial agreement with Spain. All the northeast states had voted in favor of the proposal, primarily because they stood most to gain from expanded trade with Spain.
But Jay’s initiative set off alarm bells throughout Virginia and settlements on the western frontier, where the entire Mississippi Question was linked to the prospects for westward expansion. Jay’s proposal conjured up the specter of a northeastern conspiracy to sell out western interests for eastern profits. Madison regarded Jay’s initiative as “alarming proof of the predominance of temporary and partial interests over those just and extended maxims of policy…which alone can effectuate the durable prosperity of the Union.” Up to now, the one major issue the Confederation Congress had managed to handle with some measure of effectiveness was the rival claims of the various states to western lands, chiefly because the largest claimants, especially Virginia, had ceded authority to congress as the appropriate arbiter. Now, however, Jay’s proposed treaty threatened to undermine the consensus that the western lands were a national treasure of benefit to all, what Madison described as “a bountiful Gift of Nature to the United States…secured to them by the event of the late Revolution.”
Instead, the development of western lands was becoming a partisan issue in a sectional competition for dominance, which Madison described as “a flagrant violation of Justice, a direct contravention of the end for which the federal government was instituted and an alarming innovation of the System of the Union.” The crisis also boded badly for peaceful coexistence among putative American confederacies, for it suggested that sectional conflicts over the western lands possessed the potential to produce civil war if and when the sections went their separate ways.15
The second development that influenced Madison’s thinking about the precarious state of the union was an insurrection of farmers in western Massachusetts who were protesting the new taxes and mortgage foreclosures by the state legislature in Boston. The initial reports received by Madison vastly exaggerated the scope and scale of the insurrection (eventually called Shays’s Rebellion after Daniel Shays, one of the rebel leaders); they described an enormous army of twelve thousand aggrieved farmers, many veterans of the militia and Continental Army, poised to capture weaponry at the Springfield Armory and then roll east like a relentless tidal wave, gathering momentum and supporters as they attempted to overthrow the government in Boston, all the while shouting slogans against the Massachusetts governor that echoed the arguments against George III.
In fact, there were only twelve hundred rebels, who were easily routed at Springfield by a force of over four thousand Massachusetts militia under the command of Benjamin Lincoln. They were then hunted down and sent flying to the winds, after which the Massachusetts government relaxed the restrictive legislation that had prompted the uprising in the first place. Madison regarded the episode as a harbinger of imminent anarchy and claimed, without any evidence, that British agents had instigated the insurrection and that, again against the grain of the evidence, the failure of the Confederation Congress to send federal troops to assist the Massachusetts militia represented a failure of national will that endangered the very survival of the American republic. However misguided, these were sincere convictions on Madison’s part, rooted as they were in the genuine belief that “the spirit of ’76,” with its reflexive resistance to any coercive expression of governmental authority, was incompatible with any viable national union.16
The third development was a hopeful gesture toward moderate reform that failed miserably. The Virginia legislature had endorsed a convention of delegates from the respective states at Annapolis to remove long-standing impediments to interstate commerce. Only five states showed up at the convention in September of 1786, which put all the delegates, including Madison, in the embarrassing posture of preachers without a congregation. In the ironic way that history often happens, the failure of the Annapolis Convention caused Madison to conclude that since modest efforts at reform of the Articles of Confederation were politically impossible, there was really nothing to lose by attempting a more radical solution. If the Annapolis Convention had succeeded, Madison would probably have remained committed to incremental change in the Articles. Its failure emboldened him to go for broke and endorse a proposal from an equally agitated New York delegate named Alexander Hamilton, destined to be his greatest collaborator and then his most awesome enemy. Hamilton urged another convention in Philadelphia the following spring to address the root causes of the problems affecting the confederation. It was as if a bloodied boxer, reeling from a flurry of damaging blows, resolved to go for a knockout in the last round.17
The fourth and last development was less complicated, in fact involved only a single person. But that person was none other than George Washington, who happened to be the only man in America whose sheer prestige instantly transformed a lost cause into a viable contender. In late October of 1786 Madison spent three days visiting with Washington at Mount Vernon. They quickly discovered a mutuality of interests that would work its magic over the ensuing months. Madison found that Washington agreed completely with his dire diagnosis of the existent confederation, whose imminent collapse threatened to destroy all that he had fought for. Washington discovered a youthful fellow Virginian, young enough to be his son, with brilliant political instincts, plus savvy beyond his years. Washington did not recognize it at first, but he was being courted, and eventually manipulated, out of retirement and back to center stage.18
The only way to assure that the convention scheduled for the spring did not meet the same ludicrous fate as the Annapolis Convention was to elect state delegations comprised of the most prominent figures, whose reputations guaranteed that reform of the Articles would be taken seriously. In this recruitment process Washington was the ultimate prize. In November of 1786 Madison apprised Washington that the Virginia legislature had unanimously voted to place his name at the head of the list of seven delegates to the convention. Washington was taken aback by this news, since he had not given his permission for such an appointment, in fact had made it quite clear to Madison that his attendance was utterly impossible. After all, he had effectively promised the American people that he would never return to public life when he stepped down as commander in chief. He was the American Cincinnatus, permanently ensconced under his vine and fig trees at Mount Vernon. What’s more, he had already declined an invitation to attend the annual meeting of the Society of the Cincinnati, which was scheduled in Philadelphia at the same time. Finally, it was not at all clear that the Philadelphia Convention would enjoy any greater success than the aborted Annapolis Convention, and at this stage of his illustrious career Washington was not in the habit of risking his reputation for questionable causes.19
Madison’s response to this litany of protestations was the political equivalent of guerrilla war. Of course Washington himself must have the final say on this matter, but in the meantime it would be extremely helpful to the larger cause if he allowed his name to remain on the list of Virginia’s delegates, since that was sure to inspire prominent figures in other states to step forward; plus, “having your name at the front of the appointments” would serve “as a mark of the earnestness of Virginia.” In the meantime, Washington’s silence would permit the possibility “that at least a door could be kept open for your acceptance hereafter, in case the gathering clouds should become so dark and menacing as to supersede every consideration, but that of our national existence or safety.” The outgoing governor of Virginia, Edmund Randolph, joined in Madison’s shrewd recruitment campaign, reminding Washington that he was, once again, America’s most indispensable figure: “For the gloomy prospect still admits one ray of hope,” wrote Randolph, “that those who began, carried on & consummated the revolution, can yet rescue America from impending ruin.”20
For four excruciating months Washington attempted to wiggle away, but Madison had set the hook firmly in their October conversations, when Washington had acknowledged that he, like Madison, believed that the American experiment with republicanism had reached the edge of the abyss and that widespread popular apathy should not deter responsible statesmen from attempting a desperate last-minute rescue. Madison would never let him forget that fundamental assessment, which left Washington with no clear escape route other than to claim that he was no longer a responsible statesman, an obvious absurdity. Left unsaid was the equally obvious fact that Washington’s own legacy was at stake.
His tortured machinations ended in March of 1787, when he agreed to serve. He immediately wrote Madison to declare that, now that he was committed to the cause, there was no sense in proposing halfway measures which merely patched over the structural problems of the existent but expiring confederation of states. As he began to think about the agenda for the looming convention, Washington was firmly convinced that it should “adopt no temporizing expedient, but probe the defects of the Constitution to the bottom, and provide radical cures, whether they are agreed to or not.” The Articles of Confederation did not need to be revised, they needed to be completely replaced with a fully empowered national government that possessed a clear mandate to coerce the states in both foreign and domestic policy. As it turned out, Madison had also reached exactly the same conclusion.21
MADISON’S MIND
ALTHOUGH HE HAD no way of knowing it at the time, in the spring of 1787 Madison was poised to launch the most creative phase of a thirty-year public career at or near the epicenter of national politics, from which he would emerge as one of the giants of an age not lacking for worthy rivals. How anyone who stood about five foot four and weighed 130 pounds could become an American giant is obviously a story about intellectual rather than physical prowess. The story is further complicated by the fact that Madison was also an inordinately shy man, the kind who drifted to the dark corners of a room on most social occasions, whose voice was so weak that stenographers would later lament that they could not hear what he was saying in speeches or debates. His fellow classmates at Princeton (class of 1771) had marveled at the powers of his mind but worried that those powers would never survive long enough to attract notice, because they were encased in a body so frail and sickly that he would never reach his prime. As it turned out, he outlived everyone in his class and died in 1836, brandishing the title “The Last of the Founders.”22
Washington had obviously spotted something special in the young man, an affinity on the larger question of radical reform of the Articles, to be sure, but also an instinctive willingness to put his considerable mental talent at the disposal of others without claiming credit for himself. He seemed to lack a personal agenda because he seemed to lack a personality. Or perhaps it was because he was so preternaturally serene, so comfortable with himself, that matters of personal credit never occurred to him.
Whatever the cause, within the oversized egos and flamboyant oratorical styles of the Virginia dynasty, Madison stood out by being self-consciously inconspicuous. His style, in effect, was not to have one. As a result, his arguments during debates tended to arrive without rhetorical frills or partisan edges, but rather with the naked power of pure thought. Like the man himself, they seemed all mind and no matter.
And yet, for a man so discernibly cerebral, Madison was stunningly adroit at the hurly-burly of practical politics, which usually boiled down to twisting arms and counting noses. Washington could certainly attest to his skill on the former score, for he had begun his negotiations with Governor Randolph and Madison adamantly refusing to reenter public life, then had found himself—how had it happened?—fully committed to lead the Virginia delegation at Philadelphia. On the latter score, Madison had created a network of contacts in all the states that provided essential information on the delegates being selected for the looming convention.
His running tabulation revealed that the Philadelphia Convention would not repeat the fiasco at Annapolis. There would be a clear majority of delegates committed to a major overhaul of the Articles. Most of those favoring the status quo had boycotted the selection process. This piece of political homework led Madison to the surprising conclusion that there was at least a fighting chance to rescue the fragile American republic from dissolution. Washington’s recruitment to the cause gave the gamble legitimacy. News about the prospective delegates gave it plausibility.23
Between March and May of 1787 Madison launched a two-pronged campaign designed to prepare himself for the summer debates in Philadelphia. This was characteristically Madisonian behavior, since he habitually compensated for his deficiencies as an orator by always being the most fully prepared participant, the kind of frustrating opponent who always had more relevant information at his fingertips and who also somehow understood the logical implications of your argument better than you did. One campaign looked outward to the prevailing opinion in the respective state delegations, a wholly practical effort to determine how far in reforming the current confederation most delegates were prepared to go. The other campaign looked inward to his own convictions, a wholly introspective effort, aided by reading in the “literary cargo” of books on history and political theory that Jefferson had recently sent him from Paris.
Writing from Richmond, Edmund Randolph apprised him that the Virginia electorate would tolerate no more than a modest revision of the Articles, primarily some enhancement of the powers of the Confederation Congress to raise revenue and regulate trade. Any effort at more radical reform would run against the grain of public opinion and almost surely lose. Writing from Paris, Jefferson concurred, though for different reasons. The existent government, Jefferson observed, was like a fabric that needed to be patched but not discarded. The hole that needed patching concerned federal sovereignty over foreign affairs, but all domestic policy ought to remain the exclusive province of the states. On the other side stood a small coterie of ultra-nationalists, who had formed around Washington as a trusted group of political consultants, to include Henry Knox, John Jay, and Alexander Hamilton, all of whom thought the Articles were beyond redemption and must be completely replaced. The more Madison thought about it, the more he too concluded that only root-and-branch reform would suffice.24
He admitted to Randolph that his preference for a go-for-broke strategy might seem, as he put it, “if not extravagent, absolutely unattainable and unworthy of being attempted.” But he had grown convinced that “unless the Union be organized efficiently & on Republican Principles,” the inevitable result would be eventual dissolution and “the partition of the Empire into regional & hostile confederacies.” As he read the political context, Madison concluded that halfway measures were worse than nothing at all, for they would only prolong the agony and thereby delay a timely decision until the hopeless end.25
Moreover, the outline of a truly efficacious answer was abundantly clear to him. Instead of a single-house legislature representing the states, there should be a bicameral legislature representing and proportional to the population in the states. There should also be an executive branch with expanded powers over foreign policy. Whatever document emerged from the convention should also be ratified by special state conventions instead of state legislatures in order to demonstrate that it was the will of the people rather than a compact among the states. Finally, and most decisively, the newly created federal government ought to possess veto power over all state laws “in all cases whatsoever.”
Madison realized that this last proposal, and the language he used to describe it, was inflammatory, for it echoed precisely the words Parliament had used to justify its authority over the colonial assemblies in the Declaratory Act of 1766. In that sense, Madison was arguing that a more energetic federal government needed to possess the same sovereign power over the states that the rebellious colonies had regarded as tyrannical two decades earlier. His insistence on a federal veto even put him a half step ahead of the other ultra-nationalists like Jay, Knox, and Hamilton, though all of them agreed that sovereignty must be shifted from the states to the national level.26
Madison had in fact reached these radical conclusions by March of 1787, so that the intensive reading and thinking that he did throughout the spring was not an open-ended intellectual odyssey so much as a focused effort to marshal evidence for a preordained conclusion. Though he had the demeanor and disposition of a scholar, he had the mentality of a lawyer defending a client, which in this case was a fully empowered American nation-state. He understood his task as a partisan exercise in which he amplified evidence that supported his case and prepared to rebut evidence from the other side. Historians who have described Madison’s preparation for the Constitutional Convention as a brilliant philosophical probe into the deepest complexities of republican government misconstrue the cast of Madison’s mind, which mobilized its fullest energies when the preferred verdict was already known beforehand.
For example, his “Notes on Ancient and Modern Confederacies” was not a detached appraisal of the checkered history of Greek, Italian, Germanic, and Dutch confederations, but rather a concerted effort to demonstrate that all confederations were inherently weak political alliances, usually created to provide defense against a common enemy, that eventually dissolved because of a joint refusal to surrender sovereignty to a central source. Time and time again, Madison observed, the same thing happened for the same reasons. It was almost a mathematical axiom. Confederations were an inherently transitory political configuration headed either toward dissolution, which was the usual outcome, or toward unity, the rare but obviously preferred destination. The political lessons that history provided, then, were unambiguous. Either the confederated republic of the United States came together as one nation or it suffered the sad fate of its European predecessors, which was some combination of civil war, anarchy, and political oblivion.27
Similarly, his “Vices of the Political System of the United States” reads like an indictment of the Confederation Congress prepared by a relentless special prosecutor hell-bent on obtaining a conviction. The case against the Articles was easy to make, since the cardinal conviction that sovereignty resided in the states made all federal legislation merely advisory and all cooperation among the states wholly voluntary, the fatal weakness Madison had already demonstrated in meticulous detail throughout European history. But he wanted to assemble a full catalogue of specific failures as a kind of handy reference work that he could then draw upon during the looming debates in Philadelphia.
Thus the lengthy list of political vices, which might also be read as a latter-day version of Jefferson’s lengthy indictment against George III in 1776: the states had failed to honor their tax obligations during the war and their promise to fund veterans’ pensions after the war; they had refused to cooperate on internal improvements like roads and canals and had blocked efforts to facilitate interstate trade; they had encroached on federal authority by signing separate peace treaties with various Indian tribes; they had refused to abide by provisions in the Treaty of Paris that required payment of back debts to British creditors (Virginia was the chief culprit on this score); they had created a bewildering variety of state laws that made any uniform system of justice impossible. And so on.28
Then, near the end of the litany, Madison made a distinctively different point. Thus far his catalogue of vices had emphasized the failure of the states to meet their federal responsibilities. Now, however, he shifted his focus to failures within the states to act in the public interest. Local demagogues, claiming to be tribunes of the people, had learned how to make “sophisticated arguments with the glowing colours of popular eloquence.” He was probably thinking of Patrick Henry’s recent effort to mobilize the Virginia clergy against Jefferson’s own bill for religious freedom. But his larger point emerged from a more sweeping diagnosis of the state governments since the end of the war. As we have seen, John Adams had glimpsed the point earlier in his Thoughts on Government, when he warned against embracing the seductive illusion that there was a stable and homogenous entity called “the people” that could be represented in a single-house legislature. But in the Adams formulation a bicameral legislature solved the problem because Adams continued to think within the classical categories of the few and the many, whose different interests could be safely housed in two legislative branches.
Madison took the next theoretical step, exploding the few and the many into a collage of competing factions and interest groups, all waving the hallowed banner of “the people” to sanction their self-interested agendas. He was particularly offended by the power of fleeting majorities to ride roughshod over the rights of minorities, though he was not thinking so much of protecting the civil rights of the poor and propertyless, but rather the rights of creditors from paper money schemes that allowed debts to be repaid with nearly worthless currency. His major point was that the experience of the state governments since the end of the war clearly demonstrated the folly of any simple or singular expression of the popular will, and that there was a glaring gap between what advertised itself as the will of the people and the abiding interest of the public.29
Then Madison took yet another theoretical step, generally regarded by most historians and constitutional scholars as his most brilliant contribution to modern political science. The conventional assumption, most famously articulated by Montesquieu, held that republics worked best in small geographic areas, where elected representatives remained close to the interests of the citizens who elected them. This prevailing assumption had in fact shaped the argument against parliamentary authority during the pre-revolutionary debates over British taxation and was the major reason why control of the purse was vested in the colonial, then state, assemblies. But Madison had just spent many pages in “Vices” demonstrating that proximity to the electorate had not produced responsible political behavior by state legislators. Quite the opposite: the overwhelming evidence, as Madison read it, revealed a discernible pattern of gross irresponsibility, a cacophony of shrill voices, a veritable kaleidoscope of local interests with no collective cohesion whatsoever.
So Madison reversed the conventional logic. Small republics, like the states, were actually more vulnerable to factional squabbling and sectarian divisions than large republics, because the larger scale of the enterprise vastly increased the number of competing factions, thereby producing “a greater variety of interests, of pursuits, of passions, which check each other…. So an extensive Republic meliorates the administration of as mall Republic.” It was not just that a fully empowered national government was likely to attract a better class of statesmen more capable of resisting local pressures, though Madison believed that was true too. More fundamentally, an extended American republic, contrary to the prevailing wisdom, made space an asset rather than a liability.30
Here was the germ of the idea that Madison would develop more fully in Federalist 10 and that twentieth-century political scientists would identify as the earliest formulation of the pluralist conception of politics. As a result, a veritable legion of scholars has descended upon this moment to locate the source of Madison’s inspiration. The “literary cargo” of books Jefferson had sent from Paris included the histories of David Hume, which contained an embryonic version of the idea that Madison might have picked up. Another possible source is Adam Smith’s Wealth of Nations (1776), where Smith’s analysis of the synergistic balance of the marketplace, surely familiar to Madison, provided an economic version of the idea that Madison might have transposed to the political arena. Madison’s leadership in behalf of the Virginia statute for religious freedom also exposed him to the unique religious history of the American colonies, whereby the sheer proliferation of different sects and denominations led eventually to the principle of religious toleration because no single church or creed could achieve dominance. This too might have struck Madison’s mind.31
A more prosaic interpretation, which is also more attuned to the lawyerlike thinking he was engaged in at this time, is that Madison recognized that the size argument was a mainstay of those defending the Articles and the status quo. It was surely going to be shouted at him in Philadelphia by those opposing radical reform. He therefore needed to have a rebuttal ready, needed in effect a new weapon in his intellectual arsenal to counter their anticipated attack on this vulnerable front. Wherever the idea came from, in short, he grasped it so firmly because he was looking for it and knew he needed it. As we shall see, the very novelty of the idea, which essentially turned a core assumption of revolutionary ideology on its head, limited its influence in the Constitutional Convention and the crucial ratifying conventions. In a sense it was an idea so far ahead of its time that no one could fully appreciate its originality. But at the time of its actual birth in the spring of 1787, the idea was effectively forced upon Madison, or perhaps the urgent need for just such an idea primed his mind to grasp for it.
THE SPIRIT OF ’87
MADISON ARRIVED in Philadelphia on May 5, 1787, with a clear sense of the political challenge he faced and an equally clear vision of the proper shape a truly national government needed to assume. On the first score, his canvass of the various state delegations showed that the convention would be almost equally divided between moderates, who wished to reform the Articles, and radicals like himself, who regarded the Articles as beyond repair and wished to replace them altogether. Taken as a whole, then, the delegates gathering in Philadelphia represented only one side of the broad spectrum of popular opinion in the country at large, for those vehemently opposed to any change in the Articles had chosen to boycott the convention, and those who found the whole question of political reform irrelevant to their daily lives, probably a statistical majority of the American people, were wholly oblivious to some distant conclave in Philadelphia.32
On the latter score—the proper shape of the new government—Madison harbored no doubts. To be sure, there were still many highly specific and even technical questions that would require answers. But Madison knew he was more fully armed to fight these political skirmishes than anyone else. (If God were in the details, so the saying went, Madison would be present to greet Him upon arrival.) The larger contours of a truly national American republic were what mattered most, and Madison saw them clearly in his mind’s eye.
First, the new government needed to benefit from the accumulated wisdom generated in drafting the state constitutions, where the proper political recipe dictated three separate branches—executive, judicial, and legislative—each with clearly prescribed powers and overlapping jurisdictions. Second, the legislative branch should be bicameral and, most crucially, both branches should be proportional according to population, thereby decisively shifting the core definition of representation from states to the citizenry itself. Third, and Madison regarded this as his most controversial but nonnegotiable proposal, all state laws must be subject to approval at the federal level in order to leave no doubt where sovereignty now resided. Finally, the new constitution must be ratified by special state conventions elected for that exclusive purpose rather than by the state legislatures, thereby making a clear statement that it was a creature of the people at large and not a compact among the states.33
Although Madison spoke over two hundred times during the course of the ensuing summer, his most important contribution to the Constitutional Convention occurred before it officially convened. Because a quorum could not be reached until late May, Madison enjoyed about two weeks in which to lobby his fellow delegates from Virginia. Washington required little lobbying, in fact had already extracted a promise from Madison that nothing less than “radical remedies” should be proposed regardless of the political risks they ran. “The situation of the General Government (if it can be called a government) is shaken to its foundations,” Washington observed upon arrival in Philadelphia. “In a word, it is at an end, and unless a remedy is soon applied, anarchy & confusion will inevitably ensue.”34
Other members of the Virginia delegation, chiefly Edmund Randolph and George Mason, were more disposed to go for half a loaf rather than risk total failure. But in several unrecorded meetings of the Virginia delegation in mid-May the ultra-national agenda favored by Madison and Washington won out and became the basis for the initial negotiating position of the entire delegation. The result was the fifteen-point Virginia Plan, which embodied all of Madison’s major proposals with the exception of the federal veto over state laws, which Randolph and Mason insisted on softening with more ambiguous language.35
As a result, when a quorum was reached and the Constitutional Convention officially assembled on May 29, all of Madison’s pre-convention homework bore immediate fruit in the form of the Virginia Plan, which established radical reform as the initial agenda defining the terms of the debates. No one on the moderate side of the argument had come with equivalently clear alternative proposals, so the ultra-national agenda as embodied in the Virginia Plan commanded the field by default. For those defenders of the status quo who regarded the Convention itself as an orchestrated coup d’état, or at least as a gathering of dubious legitimacy, insult was now added to injury. For, as they saw it, the calling of the Constitutional Convention had represented a hijacking of the political debate about the Articles by an organized minority of alarmists, and now the Convention itself had been captured by a radical minority of the delegates.
From Madison’s perspective, events were flowing in a perfect pattern. The radical agenda was in the proverbial saddle, poised to ride forward to victory. And George Washington was selected to occupy the chair as presiding officer over all deliberations, the ultimate trump card against all who questioned the legitimacy of the Convention itself. One could hardly have hoped for more.36
Most of June was taken up with the composition of the new congress, which according to the Virginia Plan should be bicameral, with representation in both houses proportioned to population. On June 6 Madison unveiled his theory of the extended republic for the first time as part of his argument for direct election to the House of Representatives. Given the originality of the idea that a larger-scale republic would prove more stable and less coercive than a smaller one, the virtual silence greeting the idea seems strange. (Perhaps the novel idea was so novel that no one quite understood it.) At any rate, by mid-June the moderate delegates, who had been unprepared for the radical initiative of the Virginia Plan, recovered their balance with an initiative of their own. Called the New Jersey Plan after the home state of its chief advocate, William Paterson, its distinctive feature was a proposal to merely amend the Articles and to insist on retaining representation by state in the congress. The fat was now in the fire, since the core issue at stake—whether sovereignty should reside at the state or federal level—had been raised in the all-important context of congressional representation.37
The eventual resolution, which has come to be called “The Great Compromise,” effectively set the political agenda for the remainder of the Convention and defined the abidingly ambiguous meaning of the constitutional sentiment ever after. By making representation proportional to population in the House and by state in the Senate, “The Great Compromise” essentially declared the theoretical question of state versus federal sovereignty politically unresolvable except by a split-the-difference structure that neither camp found satisfactory. The only workable solution was to leave the sovereignty question unclear.
Both Madison and Washington interpreted the compromise as a devastating defeat. Washington thought it was a death knell for the national cause he had left retirement to champion and expressed his deep regret “at having any agency in this business.” Madison was too dogged a political warrior to give up, but he was forced to concede that his radical vision of a nation-state that was much more than a loose confederation of states was politically impossible at this time. Allegiances remained encased in local and state-based compartments that simply could not be ignored or discarded. The clinching evidence for this realistic conclusion arrived in the form of three separate votes on his proposal for a federal veto of state legislation, each presented in somewhat different versions but all failing by a decisive majority. With their defeat, the Madisonian project of radical reform was essentially dead.38
Though it might seem somewhat sacrilegious to suggest it, the remaining debates in August and early September over the judicial and executive branches were really an extended epilogue. The members were tired, the weather was hot, and the chasm between moderate and radical camps was obviously unbridgeable. Madison threw his best energies into these debates, determined to rescue some sliver of federal power. But the language describing the judiciary was purposely vague and open-ended, creating a Supreme Court that was anything but supreme. The more extensive debates over the executive branch produced several frustrating moments, as the delegates argued endlessly over how to elect and impeach a president, while studiously avoiding any clear mandate for what he should actually do.
Even before the final draft of the document was completed, Madison wrote in code to Jefferson, lest any prying eyes read his pessimistic assessment. Madison believed that he had lost the big battles, which were his arguments for a federal veto of all state legislation and for proportional representation in both branches of the legislature. The principle of state sovereignty had been qualified but not killed, as he believed it should be. “I hazard an opinion,” he informed Jefferson, “that the plan should it be adopted will neither effectually answer the national object nor prevent the local mischiefs which everywhere excite disgust agst the state governments.” The sovereignty question had not been faced squarely and answered in nationalistic terms, as he wished, but had in effect been finessed and left purposely ambiguous.39
Washington was only slightly more positive. In a letter to his beloved Lafayette, he seemed to say that the final draft of the Constitution struck him as an inherently equivocal document that almost invited contradictory interpretations: “It is now a child of fortune, to be fostered by some and buffeted by others. What will be the General opinion on, or the reception of it, is not for me to decide, nor shall I say anything for or against it.” Given the diversity of opinions present in the Convention, however, it was probably “the best that could be obtained at this time.”40
Over a month later, in October of 1787, Madison wrote a long and quite remarkable letter to Jefferson that provided his more considered thoughts on what the Convention had achieved and failed to achieve. All the delegates had been required to take an oath of confidentiality throughout the summer sessions. So this letter represented Madison’s first opportunity to inform Jefferson about his version of the deliberations. Given the fact that Jefferson was on record as believing that only modest reforms of the Articles were required, and given the fact that Madison had just led a failed effort to replace the Articles with a fully empowered national government, Madison crafted his lengthy letter as both a diplomatic and an educational document, a gentle but firm letter to his former political mentor, essentially apprising him that the crisis was much worse than anyone in Paris could possibly fathom.
On the one hand, there was an impressive consensus at the Convention that the union must be preserved. No one, Madison reported, argued “in favor of a partition of the Empire into two or more confederacies.” The worst possibility, in effect, had not happened. In the same positive vein, the decision to make representation proportional in the House of Representatives implied a fundamental change that “embraced the alternative of a Government which instead of operating on the States, should operate without their intervention on the individuals comprising them.” This was a major improvement. The net result was “to draw a line of demarkation which would give to the General Government every power requisite for general purposes, and to leave to the states every power which might be most beneficial to them.” What Madison did not say was that the delegates had been unable to agree where that line was drawn and had returned to their different states with fundamentally different interpretations of where the balance of power in the Constitution actually resided.
If the delegates had only embraced his proposal for a federal veto over state legislation, Madison explained, this ambiguity would have been resolved. But rejection of his proposal left a huge question mark hanging over the new government, “for without such a check in the whole over the parts, our system involves the evil of imperia in imperio,” in other words an almost deliberate blurring of the crucial sovereignty question. An alternative solution was to vest authority in the federal judiciary and thereby “keep the States within the proper limits, and supply the place of a negative on their laws.” But the powers accorded the judiciary under the proposed Constitution were extremely vague and wholly inadequate to the task.41
Lurking beneath the unresolved conflict between state versus federal sovereignty, Madison explained, lay a fundamental difference of opinion over who “the people” actually were. Madison almost surely knew that Jefferson himself needed to be educated on this point, so there was nearly a lecturish tone to his analysis:
Those who contend for a simple Democracy, or a pure republic, actuated by the sense of the majority, and operating within narrow limits, assume or suppose a case which is altogether fictitious. They found their reasoning on the idea…that they all have precisely the same interests, and the same feelings in every respect…. We know however that no Society ever did or can consist of so homogenous a mass of Citizens…. In all civilized Societies, distinctions are variable and unavoidable…. There will be rich and poor; creditors and debtors; a landed interest, a monied interest, a mercantile interest, a manufacturing interest. Those classes may again be subdivided according to the different productions of different situations of commerce and manufactures.42
Madison then unfurled his counterintuitive idea that the only remedy for this toxic social chemistry was to expand the size of the area and population over which the government operated: “In a large Society,” Madison argued, “the people are broken into so many interests and parties, that a common sentiment is less likely to be felt…. Divide etimpera, the reprobated maxim of tyranny, is under certain qualifications, the only policy by which a republic can be administered on just principles.” Contrary to all conventional wisdom about republican government, in order to avoid its generic weaknesses “it must operate not within a small but an extensive sphere.” Here, in the letter to Jefferson, Madison offered the clearest and fullest formulation to date of his novel argument about republican size and scale, so there is some reason to believe that Jefferson grasped the point more readily than the delegates in Philadelphia.43
But Madison’s major point was that the new Constitution, while a significant improvement over the anemic Articles and therefore deserving of Jefferson’s support, was itself fatally flawed because of its failure to resolve the sovereignty question. Madison was still reeling from his multiple defeats at the Convention, so his quite brilliant exegesis of the debates and the document that emerged from them reflected his own throbbing disappointment.
Over the ensuing months, however, as he observed the ratification debates in the other states and prepared for the all-important debate in Virginia, Madison began to change his mind. What he initially regarded as the fatal weakness of the Constitution gradually grew into its greatest strength.
THE DEBATE
DURING THE TEN MONTHS after the Constitutional Convention the most far-ranging and consequential political debate in American history raged throughout every state in the union. As it was nearing conclusion, Washington described the fullness and openness of the debate as another “standing miracle,” equivalent to the victory over the British army. “We exhibit at present the novel & astounding spectacle of a whole people deliberating calmly on what form of government will be most conducive to their happiness, and deciding with an unexpected degree of unanimity in favour of a system which they conceive calculated to answer the purpose.” In truth, there was nothing like unanimity in the final verdict, which remained in doubt until the very end, and the votes in the three most crucial states—Massachusetts, Virginia, and New York—were extremely close.44
Unlike the debates in the Constitutional Convention, which occurred behind closed doors and between two sides—moderates and radicals—who agreed that the existent government required revision, the ratification debates were open to the public and covered by the press. (Virginia even provided stenographers to produce transcripts of the full debate.) Most importantly, the two sides differed over the fundamental question of revision or retention of the Articles. This was the reason why, late in his life, Madison argued that any judgment about the “original intentions” of the framers must be based on the ratification debates rather than the debates at the Constitutional Convention.
All attempts to explain the debates in primarily or exclusively economic terms have been discredited by modern scholars. The messy truth is that there was a maddening variety of voting patterns from state to state, and within states from county to county, that defied any single explanation, economic or otherwise. The labels affixed to the two sides also defied logic, for both sides were federalists, meaning that they advocated a confederated republic, but disagreed over the relative power of the states and the central government in the confederation. In the same way that the Virginia delegation had seized the political initiative at Philadelphia, the pro-ratification side stole the rhetorical march by calling themselves Federalists. This left the opponents of ratification in the awkward posture of accepting the wholly negative connotation of Antifederalists. Even before the state-by-state debates had begun, the Federalists had won the preliminary round.
The newly named Federalists also enjoyed two additional strategic advantages. First, the opponents of ratification lacked any alternative to the Constitution other than the Articles. Although most Antifederalists probably preferred a moderate revision of the Articles, that option was not available. Madison was convinced from the start that “the question on which the proposed Constitution must turn is the simple one whether the Union shall or shall not be continued.” As he put it, “There is no middle ground to be taken.” Those delegates who found the Constitution excessively nationalistic and the Articles hopelessly inadequate had nowhere to go. It was a take-it-or-leave-it decision that the Federalists could plausibly characterize as a choice between union and dissolution.45
Second, the Virginia and New York conventions were scheduled at the end of the ratifying sequence, which meant that political pressure would gather momentum on these, the most crucial and problematic states, to ratify or risk being left isolated after nine states, the minimum required for approval of the Constitution, had already voted. As Madison put it, “It is generally believed that nine of the states at least will embrace the plan, and consequently the tardy remainder must be reduced to the dilemma of either shifting for themselves, or coming in without any credit for it.” Taken together, the misleading labels, the limited pro or con options, and the political calendar all worked to the Federalist advantage.46
On the other hand, the Antifederalists enjoyed advantages of their own, primarily the quite potent claim that they spoke for the true “spirit of ’76.” The Antifederalist argument was anchored in the revolutionary ideology that regarded any powerful central government as a domestic version of the very British government they had supposedly repudiated forever. If the watchword for the Federalists was “anarchy,” the watchword for the Antifederalists was “consolidation,” meaning a nefarious clustering of political power in secretive conclaves (like the Constitutional Convention itself), where courtiers and politicians plotted to cheat ordinary Americans of their liberty and the rightful rewards of their daily toil. “Consolidation” conjured up the specter of a political monster devouring the rights purportedly guaranteed by the hallowed, indeed sacred, War for Independence. One historian has called the Antifederalists “men of little faith,” but the Antifederalist rebuttal embraced that very label as a badge of honor, conveying a well-placed distrust toward any government far removed from the citizens it claimed to represent. The worst thing about a consolidated government, so the most passionate argued, was that, once in place, its relentless expansion of arbitrary power was unstoppable, its tendency toward corruption was inevitable, and its appetite for despotism was unquenchable.47
The Antifederalists also enjoyed the rhetorical advantage of representing the preference of a clear majority of the populace. Although there is no way to know for sure, it seems highly probable that a popular referendum would have produced a negative vote on the proposed Constitution. In Virginia, for example, John Marshall, a staunch Federalist, acknowledged that the population at large opposed ratification, but the ratifying convention itself was evenly split because voters had chosen the most prominent state and local leaders regardless of their position on ratification. The Antifederalists could therefore claim, with considerable plausibility, to speak for the majority of “the people.” Of course Madison claimed that no such creature existed and that mere majorities were often misguided. Nevertheless, the Antifederalists could and did argue that they were protecting ordinary Americans from a hostile takeover of the American Revolution by an elite minority who had themselves lost the true republican faith.48
The chief goal of The Federalist was to contest that claim and offer a coherent rebuttal that made the Constitution a rescue rather than a betrayal of the principles of the American Revolution. Writing under the pseudonym “Publius,” Madison and Alexander Hamilton, with a modest assist from an ailing John Jay, turned out eighty-five essays between November of 1787 and March of 1788. When Hamilton presented his former commander in chief with a bound copy of the entire collection, Washington pronounced it an instant political classic: “When the transient circumstances and fugitive performances which attended the crisis shall have disappeared,” he predicted, “that work will merit the notice of Posterity.” Posterity has tended to confirm Washington’s judgment, as twentieth-century historians and constitutional scholars have made The Federalist the seminal source for interpreting the original intentions of the framers and the most profound deliberation ever on the American experiment with republican government.49
As prescient as Washington proved, our semi-sacred sense of The Federalist somewhat distorts an accurate understanding of its role while the ratification debates raged. First, the great deliberation on republican government was composed hurriedly, without much time for deliberation at all. Rather than serene political philosophers, both Hamilton and Madison conducted themselves like harried journalists turning out copy on a deadline, or perhaps like beleaguered lawyers producing briefs for a crucial client. Second, as an embodiment of “original intent,” The Federalist represented only one side of the argument, an avowedly partisan case for ratification that made no pretense of detachment. Third, there is reason to believe that The Federalist has exerted more influence on modern-day constitutional arguments than on the eighteenth-century debates that occasioned it. Its distribution beyond New York was spotty; with a few exceptions, the language of the essays was inaccessible to ordinary readers; and its greatest impact was to galvanize support among Federalist delegates already committed to ratification.50
What’s more, both Hamilton and Madison were forced by the political exigencies of the moment to frame their argument on behalf of the Constitution around a core idea that they had both strenuously opposed at the Philadelphia Convention. As we have seen, Madison had argued for the clear supremacy of the federal government and for the resolution of the sovereignty question at the national rather than state level. If anything, Hamilton was more of an outright nationalist, preferring that the states disappear altogether. Both men had regarded the more blurred resolution reached at Philadelphia as a terrible defeat that left the all-important question of sovereignty undecided. Now, however, they embraced the very ambiguity they had condemned as a fatal weakness of the Constitution as its central strength.
Madison’s conversion did not occur because of intellectual conviction—he still preferred a sovereign nation-state—but rather because he now realized that if he had won the argument at Philadelphia and produced a constitution with an unambiguously sovereign central government, it would have enjoyed no chance at ratification. Like a politician who must accommodate himself to unwelcomed evidence about public opinion, Madison shifted his ground to become the chief advocate for the very argument he had opposed in Philadelphia: namely, that the Constitution institutionalized a unique form of shared sovereignty.
He came to this conclusion gradually and grudgingly. His earliest Publius essays, written in November and December of 1787, reiterated the arguments he had made in Philadelphia: confederacies were inherently unstable forms of government, a conclusion documented by a rather tedious review of virtually all the confederacies in European history; then the more original argument about the greater stability of an extended republic, rendered public for the first time in Federalist 10. Both of these arguments were in accord with his strongly nationalistic convictions.51
Starting in January of 1788, his message began to change, most probably in response to the obviously effective Antifederalist charge that the Constitution created a consolidated federal government. It was no such thing, Madison now insisted, for the Constitution vested the central government with only those enumerated powers essential for preservation of the union. All residual powers remained with the states. The persistent potency of the state governments thereby assured that the bogeyman depicted by the Antifederalists was a complete fabrication, and the clearly delineated and separate powers of the three federal branches provided added assurance that no full-blooded consolidation could occur at the national level.
The Antifederalists seemed to believe that sovereignty needed to reside in one location, which in fact was the very mistake the British had made when insisting on parliamentary sovereignty (and, conveniently forgotten, Madison himself had insisted on it at the Constitutional Convention). But the political architecture of the new government defied the old orthodoxy of singular sovereignty by creating a unique diffusion of power. Whatever one wanted to call this new version of federalism, the one thing it clearly was not was a consolidation. In what amounted to a cross-examination of the Antifederalist side, Madison had discovered the beauty of ambiguity, or perhaps shifting sovereignties. Though driven to this novel argument by necessity rather than choice, Madison had, willy-nilly, come upon an agreement just as original as his counterintuitive case for an extended republic.52
By the spring of 1788 it had become clear that the decisive battle in that larger fight would occur in Virginia. Madison had hoped that the magic number—nine states—would have ratified before the Virginia Convention assembled in June. But both New Hampshire and North Carolina decided to defer their votes, presumably waiting for Virginia and New York to point the way. And Rhode Island, true to its maverick reputation, chose to boycott the entire ratification process, just as it had boycotted the Convention. As a result, the Federalist side in Virginia would not enjoy the incalculable advantage of debating a fait accompli.
In April Madison abandoned his more theoretical role as Publius—the Federalist essays were complete—and reverted to his practical identity as the assiduous vote counter, working the numbers to tally the delegates selected for the convention in Richmond. After an initial burst of optimism, apprising both Jefferson and Washington that the Federalists had a clear majority, he became more circumspect. It was going to be extremely close, he concluded, with the delegates from the northern part of the state firmly for ratification, the Tidewater counties firmly against, and the balance of power belonging to the western delegates and the delegates from the Kentucky district, still part of Virginia.53
The wild card that upset any rational calculation of the outcome was Patrick Henry, who had refused to serve on the Virginia delegation to the Philadelphia Convention, ominously observing, “I smell a rat.” Madison somewhat caustically apprised Washington that Henry’s absence in Philadelphia “proceeded from a wish to leave his conduct unfettered on another theatre, where the result of the [Virginia] Convention will receive its destiny from his omnipotence.” Washington knew that Henry intended to oppose ratification because Henry had already expressed his deep regret that he found himself on the other side of the one man for whom he had “the greatest Reverence.” Apart from Washington, Henry was not only the most popular figure in Virginia, but also the most famous and formidable orator in America, forever enshrined in the American pantheon for hurling his verbal thunderbolts at George III over a decade before independence was declared.54
Madison had been on the receiving end of Henry’s eloquence on several occasions, most painfully when Henry blocked passage for several years of the bill for religious freedom drafted by Jefferson and defended by Madison. Jefferson was especially irritated by Henry’s mesmerizing way with the spoken word, which he regarded as a crudely emotional appeal that ought not defeat his own lyrical and logical prose. But so often it did. Jefferson explained to Madison that Henry’s oratorical power was an inexplicable and unpredictable force of nature, like a hurricane, and the only thing to do when confronted by it was to “devoutly pray for his imminent death.” Not only had such prayers gone unanswered, but Henry was now poised to work his magic as the leading voice against ratification of the Constitution in the debate destined to determine its fate. Even more than the Lincoln-Douglas debate over slavery, or the Darrow-Bryan debate over evolution, the Henry-Madison debate in June of 1788 can lay plausible claim to being the most consequential debate in American history.55
Despite Madison’s diminutive size, it was a clash of titans with diametrically different personalities and styles. Henry was animated, passionate, spoke without notes, and combined the appearance of an actor on the stage and an evangelical minister at the pulpit. Madison spoke calmly, in a voice so low that the stenographer complained he could not catch his every word. He held his hat in one hand, which contained notes that he consulted like a professor delivering an academic lecture. But as a result his arguments arrived without flourish or affectation, in a sense the more impressive because of their austerity. As John Marshall put it, “Mr. Henry had without doubt the greatest power to persuade,” while “Mr. Madison had the greatest power to convince.”56
In his maiden speech on June 5, Henry fired a full salvo aimed to strike every premise in the Federalist case for ratification. First, where did the alarmist notion come from that America was on the verge of anarchy and the Articles were about to expire? As far as Henry could tell, the Virginia economy was humming along nicely, the people were going about their business and their lives with conspicuous serenity. It was almost a perfect example of Jefferson’s famous phrase about the “pursuit of happiness.” And arguments that the government under the Articles was inadequate to the task flew in the face of all the evidence: “The Confederation…carried us through a long and dangerous war. It rendered us victorious in that bloody conflict with a powerful nation. It has secured us a territory greater than any European monarch possesses. And shall a Government this strong and vigorous be accused of imbecility for want of energy?”57
Second, by what elusive authority did the delegates at Philadelphia justify the phrase “We, the people”? This apparently innocent expression fully exposed the truly radical character of this new Constitution, which dispensed with the states and claimed to operate directly on the citizenry: “Have they said, ‘we, the states’? Have they made a proposal of a compact between States? If they had, this would be a confederation. It is otherwise, most clearly a consolidated government. The question turns, Sir, on that poor little thing—the expression ‘We, the people,’ instead of the States of America.” It seemed transparently clear, then, that Virginians were being asked to approve an exact replica of the British leviathan that patriotic Americans had sacrificed so much blood and treasure to escape. Consider, for example, the all-important issue of taxation: “Suppose every delegate from Virginia opposes a law levying a tax. What shall it avail? So…you are taxed not by your own consent, but by people who have no connection with you.” The echoes of ’76 were unmistakable.58
Third, given the alarmist justifications and the patently radical recommendations, what was the unspoken agenda that guided those secret sessions in Philadelphia? Was it not abundantly clear that Great Britain had become our new model and that we now proclaimed our desire to become a powerful nation-state with imperial pretensions of our own?
Some way or other we must be a great and mighty empire; we must have an army, and a navy, and a number of things. When the American spirit was in its youth, the language of America was different. Liberty, Sir, was the primary object…. You make the citizens of this country agree to become the subjects of one great consolidated empire of America…. When I come to examine these features, Sir, they appear to me horribly frightful. Among other deformities it has an awful squinting; it squints toward monarchy.59
Finally, Henry objected to the claim that Virginia’s deliberations were merely an irrelevant epilogue to a story with a foregone conclusion. “It is said that eight States have already adopted the plan,” which makes eventual ratification virtually certain. But if this is so, Henry asked rhetorically, why are we gathered here? Is it not an insult to the largest and most powerful state in the union? “I declare,” Henry concluded, “that if twelve States and a half had adopted it, I would with manly firmness, and in spite of an erring world, reject it.”60
Over the next two days Madison delivered two lengthy speeches that took the form of a point-by-point rebuttal of Henry’s presentation. During the course of the Convention there would be multiple speakers on both sides—Edmund Randolph and John Marshall most prominently for the Federalists, George Mason for the Antifederalists—but the undisputed champions of each side were Henry and Madison. As a result, when Madison rose to speak, he fully realized that Henry’s prowess and prestige made him the central target and the proper focus for all the finely tuned, well-rehearsed arguments Madison had developed over the past two years. In this dramatic, all-important venue, his meticulous homework paid off.
Madison found Henry’s glowing description of the government under the Articles to be the kind of incredulous remarks made by someone living on another planet. During the war the states had failed to pass taxes or meet troop quotas, and after the war the Confederation Congress and the state legislatures had only continued the pattern of fiscal irresponsibility. All the European markets and bankers regarded the American government as wholly untrustworthy. Madison then unfurled, once again, his argument about the systemic weakness of all previous confederacies, unloading his research on the Achaean League, the German system, the Swiss and Dutch confederations, then asking rhetorically: “Does not the history of these confederacies coincide with the lessons drawn from our own experience?” He then answered his own question with the obvious conclusion: “A Government which relies on thirteen independent sovereignties for the means of its existence is a solecism in theory, and a mere nullity in practice.” Far from being alarmists, critics of the Articles were in fact historically informed realists.61
Next came Henry’s argument that the Constitution created a consolidated government that essentially annihilated state power in favor of an omnipotent federal government. If Henry were to read the Constitution carefully, Madison observed, his fears would quickly evaporate, for he would discover that it was truly a unique creation: “It is in a manner unprecedented…. It stands by itself. In some respects it is a Government of a federal nature; in others it is of a consolidated nature.” This hybrid creature rendered Henry’s flamboyant accusations irrelevant because “We, the people” did not refer to “the people as composing one great body—but the people as composing thirteen separate sovereignties.” Apparently Mr. Henry needed to be reminded of the abiding significance the states would have in the new order. The Senate represented states and was elected by the state legislatures. The states appointed the electors who chose the president. All subsequent constitutional amendments must be ratified by the states. Thus the proposed Constitution “is of a complicated nature,” concluded Madison, “and this complication, I trust, will be found to exclude the evils of absolute consolidation, as well of a mere confederacy.” As for the fact that eight states had already ratified, instead of regarding this fact as unsolicited political pressure on Virginia to comply, perhaps it should be seen as a measure of wisdom on the part of our fellow Americans from which we should learn.62
The genius of Madison’s argument for a version of sovereignty that was at once shared and divided raised the wholly pragmatic and politically painful compromises reached at the Constitutional Convention to the level of a novel political discovery: to wit, the notion that government was not about providing answers, but rather about providing a framework in which the salient questions could continue to be debated. Much like his extended republic idea, Madison’s argument about the efficacy of argument turned an orthodox assumption on its head.
To be sure, at the rhetorical level several prominent Federalists, including Hamilton and Madison in The Federalist and James Wilson at the Pennsylvania ratifying convention, had argued that the Constitution had in fact located ultimate authority in one source, which was that hallowed collective called “the people,” even though Madison was on record privately as believing that no such entity existed. At the practical level, however, the Constitution had created a political framework in which state versus federal sovereignty was an ongoing negotiation to be resolved on a case-by-case basis. Embedded in the document, as Madison now read it, was an argument about the political efficacy of argument itself. Instead of a fatal weakness, the deliberate blurring of sovereignty was an abiding strength. In that sense Henry and his Antifederalist colleagues were being invited to hop aboard this more modern, capacious, and exciting political train and continue the debate. But the trip itself was the true destination.
This proved to be the clinching argument and the true genius of the Constitution in the long run. At the Virginia Convention, however, it is unclear if it, or any argument, made the decisive difference. Most of the delegates, after all, had arrived in Richmond already knowing how they would vote. And in Virginia, as in all the state ratifying conventions, very specific and highly localized concerns tended to trump theoretical arguments. The Tidewater delegates, for example, were most concerned that ratification would require them to honor the provisions of the Treaty of Paris to pay outstanding debts to British creditors. The western and Kentucky delegates voted in accord with their expectations about the posture of a newly empowered federal government on the Mississippi Question and the pace of westward expansion. The conversion of Edmund Randolph to the Federalist cause—he had attended the Constitutional Convention but refused to sign—might have influenced some delegates. But the beauty of Madison’s argument, and what made it so powerful, is that it made the ongoing clash of all such interests the operative principle, so in a sense the conflicting interests within the Virginia Convention embodied the new Madisonian theory.
Sensing defeat, Henry transformed the latter days of the convention into a debate about the essential addition of a Bill of Rights, crafted to more clearly limit the powers of the federal government and leave the bulk of domestic policy to the states. Madison regarded Henry’s efforts on this score as a tactical ploy designed to confuse undecided delegates. His response was to accept recommended amendments but not binding conditions to ratification. Thus the warp and woof of the convention debates near the end focused on desperate political maneuverings that ignored Madison’s larger argument.63
Henry’s final speech, on June 29, in which he proposed forty amendments to the Constitution, was halted by an intense thunderstorm, suggesting that even the gods wished to hear no more arguments against ratification. The final vote was close but decisive (89–79). When the Antifederalists caucused afterward to consider drafting a challenge to the verdict, Henry summarily rejected the proposal. He had done his best, he said; they had all done their best. But they had lost, and now “they had all better go home.” With all its faults, the Constitution was clearly destined to become the law of the land.64
Not that Henry’s argument on behalf of sovereign states ever completely died. In what must be one of the richest ironies in American history, over the next decade the man who most forcefully advocated Henry’s position was none other than Madison himself. Even later, long after Henry was gone, the Confederate States of America adopted his argument as the central rationale for secession from the union. The ultimate resolution of the argument did not occur in the political arena but on the battlefields of the Civil War, where both of Madison’s ingenious arguments—about the stability of an extensive republic and an institutionalized forum for everlasting debate—became casualties in the bloodiest war in American history.
It would be inappropriate to offer a last word on this story, since the whole point of Madison’s most insightful argument for the new Constitution was that it enshrined an argumentative process in which no such thing as a last word would ever be uttered. But since Washington proved, in so many different contexts, to be the exception that proved the rule, perhaps there is some basis for giving him the last word here.
After the vote in the Virginia Convention made ratification assured, Washington, in an uncharacteristically philosophical mood, observed that history worked in strange ways. “A multiplicity of circumstances…appear to have cooperated in bringing about the happy resolution,” he mused, citing Shays’s Rebellion as a near calamity that nevertheless prompted the Philadelphia Convention, which then “ushered us towards permanent national felicity.” A few months earlier, when the victory was still in doubt, he offered a different version of the same ironic point. The very potency of the Antifederalist argument, as misguided as Washington regarded it to be, served a useful purpose. For it called forth, in opposition, “abilities which would otherwise not perhaps been exerted that have thrown new lights upon the science of Government, that have given the rights of man a full and fair discussion.” No man was better equipped to understand the irony of it all than James Madison.65
CHAPTER FOUR
The Treaty
ON THE FACE of it, the biggest loser in the American War for Independence was Great Britain, which lost most of its North American empire. But Great Britain rebounded from this devastating defeat to become the dominant world power for the following century and a half. Before history finally happened to the British Empire, its projection of imperial power around the globe enjoyed a level of success not seen since the headiest days of Rome. In that sense, the American Revolution was only a disappointing first act, followed by unparalleled British ascendancy.
There was no second act for the Native American population. For the roughly 100,000 Indians living between the Appalachians and the Mississippi, the American victory in 1783 proved an unmitigated calamity from which history would provide no rescue, unless forced removal to land west of the Mississippi can be regarded as such. The British defeat triggered a tidal wave of western migration on the part of settlers who understood the phrase “pursuit of happiness” to mean owning their own land. This demographic surge into Indian Country proved relentless and ultimately unstoppable. If only in retrospect, after the American Revolution the Indian population east of the Mississippi was fighting a holding action against the odds—ultimately it was a matter of numbers—in which the tragic conclusion seems inevitable.1
But the clairvoyance of hindsight actually obscures the choices perceived by the participants caught in the moment. On the Indian side, it never occurred to most tribal chiefs that the scratch of a pen in Paris had dispossessed them of lands they had controlled for centuries. The British intruders had now been replaced by the American intruders, to be sure, but there seemed no reason to believe that this change would mean that the future would be dramatically different from the past. The exception, and a major one, was the Iroquois Confederation, called the Six Nations, whose alliance with Great Britain had cost them dearly during the war, a devastating experience that allowed them to glimpse the inexorable power building to the east. For the more western tribes, on the other hand, in that vast expanse stretching south from the Ohio Valley through what is now Tennessee, Alabama, and Mississippi, the war between the whites remained a distant event of little consequence for their daily lives. Until the front edge of the looming American invasion reached their tribal lands, most Indian leaders presumed, quite plausibly, that what one Shawnee chief called “our island” was both safe and impregnable. Nothing in their previous experience equipped them to regard themselves as tragic victims.2
Meanwhile, on the American side, the leadership of the new national government created by the recently ratified Constitution declared its determination to avoid a policy of Indian removal at almost any cost. Under the Articles of Confederation Indian policy had been an incoherent blend of federal and state jurisdictions, with a gloss of reassuring rhetoric that covered a crude reality of outright confiscation. Now, for the first time, the power to implement a coherent national policy toward the Indian tribes east of the Mississippi was vested in the federal government and, more specifically, in the executive branch. This effectively placed control of policy in the hands of three people: President George Washington, Secretary of State Thomas Jefferson, and Secretary of War Henry Knox. All three agreed on two fundamental principles: first, Indian policy was a branch of foreign policy, or, as Knox put it, “the independent tribes of indians ought to be considered as foreign nations, not as the subjects of any particular state,” a position that sanctioned federal authority over the states and executive authority over policy-making; second, as sovereign nations the Indian tribes possessed legitimate rights that must be respected. Again, Knox put it most succinctly: “Indians being the prior occupants of the rights of the soil…. To dispossess them…would be a gross violation of the fundamental Laws of Nature and of that distributive Justice which is the glory of a nation.”3
In short, as the apparently inevitable tragedy so clear to us began to unfold, neither side regarded it as inevitable. Washington went so far as to declare that a truly just Indian policy was one of his highest priorities, that failure on this score would damage his reputation and “stain the nation.” No man in American history was more accustomed to getting his way than Washington, especially when he invested his personal prestige in the cause. The fate of the Native American population proved the exception to that rule, a case where his own efforts proved inadequate for reasons that not even he could control.4
This, then, is a story about failure. Next to the failure to end slavery, or at least put it on the road to extinction, the inability to reach a just accommodation with the Native Americans was the greatest failure of the revolutionary generation. And they knew it. Here the creative response to a daunting challenge, which had risen to the occasion in earlier crises, proved inadequate to the task at hand. Perhaps the problem was insoluble. But then harnessing the radical impulses of the Revolution, defeating the most powerful military force in the world, and forging a union among thirteen sovereignties had all appeared insoluble as well. And some combination of imagination, vigorous commitment, pragmatic adjustments, and dumb luck had won the day. Not so on this occasion.
Why is an intriguing question, rendered even more interesting because all the major white players in the story—Washington, Jefferson, and Knox—believed that a solution was quite clear, at least theoretically. But the real star of the story was a charismatic, mixed-blood Creek chief named Alexander McGillivray, who became the one-man embodiment of the answer to the entire dilemma. McGillivray’s designation as the singular solution was, at least in retrospect, an act of desperation for which he should not be judged accountable. Despite being the most talented Indian statesman of his time, McGillivray lacked the power to avert the tragic outcome. And as Washington eventually discovered, he lacked the power as well. The power did not reside in political leaders or even in government itself. Ultimate power lay with those white settlers streaming over the Appalachians into Indian Country, a relentless tide that swept all treaties, promises, excellent intentions, and moral considerations to the far banks of history. This, then, is a story about irony, in which the triumph of the American people made an American tragedy inevitable for the first Americans. In the end, demography trumped diplomacy.5
AN IMPERIAL REPUBLIC
THERE WERE NO Indians present for the negotiation of the Treaty of Paris. On the one hand, this was wholly understandable, since the multiple Indian tribes were not nation-states in the manner of Great Britain, France, and the United States, so it is difficult to imagine which tribes or confederation of tribes deserved a place at the table. On the other hand, the treaty shifted control over the eastern third of North America from Britain to the United States, a landmass stretching from the Atlantic to the Mississippi and the Great Lakes to the Gulf of Mexico. Three-quarters of that huge area remained Indian Country, with a resident population of approximately thirty tribes long accustomed to regarding the land as their gift from the Great Spirit. It never occurred to them that this expansive region could be owned by any mortal, much less that control over land could shift because mere men an ocean away, who had never hunted or walked upon its ground, had written their names on a piece of parchment.
In truth, it also never occurred to the diplomats in Paris to invite Indian representatives to the negotiations. Throughout the colonial period all the European powers presumed that the entire Western Hemisphere could be carved up among themselves based on decisions made in London, Paris, and Madrid, which in turn were based on previous explorations, subsequently rendered legal by kingly proclamations. For example, the French based their claim to the entire Mississippi Valley on La Salle’s sail down the river in the seventeenth century. (They later buried lead plates along the banks registering their claim.) The British based their claim to the Ohio Country and beyond on the Virginia Charter of 1606, which had conveniently left the western border of the colony undefined, leaving lawyers to decide whether the proper boundary was the Mississippi or the Pacific Ocean.
The arrogance of this Eurocentric approach was matched only by its ignorance, since most of the European diplomats would be hard-pressed to distinguish the Appalachians from the Rockies or the Mississippi from the Potomac. But arrogance and ignorance aside, this imperious mode of defining empire enjoyed the incalculable advantage of being the unquestioned way of doing business within all the European capitals and courts. It was what being an empire was all about. Whether they realized it or not, by signing the Treaty of Paris the newly created American republic was announcing its arrival as the youngest member of the imperial family and the successor to France and Great Britain as the sovereign power over all the people south of Canada and north of Florida.
This new imperial status raised for the first time a disquieting question that has haunted American foreign policy ever since. Put simply, how could a republic be an empire? More specifically, how could a government founded on the principles articulated in the Declaration of Independence, which stigmatized the arbitrary and coercive policies of the British Empire, then proceed to behave just as imperiously toward the original occupants of American soil as the British had acted toward them? More tellingly, did not the treatment of the Indian population constitute an obvious acid test of the republican values the American Revolution claimed to stand for?
Initially, from 1783 to 1786, the Confederation Congress and the commissioners they appointed to negotiate treaties with several Indian tribes preferred not to notice the contradiction. Treaties signed with the Six Nations at Fort Stanwix, with the Ohio tribes at Fort McIntosh, and with the Cherokees at Hopewell were blatantly imperialistic affairs in which the American negotiators argued that the Indians were “a conquered people” who should be grateful to be consulted at all: “You are mistaken in supposing that…you are become a free and independent nation,” explained one American negotiator, “and can make what terms as you please. It is not so. You are a subdued people.”6
As the Americans saw the situation, after the Treaty of Paris there was no such thing as Indian Country, since all the land from the Atlantic to the Mississippi belonged to the United States by right of conquest. When the chiefs of the Ohio tribes expressed their willingness to negotiate concerning lands south of the Ohio River, the American commissioners corrected them: “We claim the country by conquest; and are to give not to receive.” It was a take-it-or-leave-it proposition in which the Indians surrendered a portion of their tribal lands or faced war with the United States and certain annihilation.7
From the very start, however, this explicit expression of American power struck some observers as too conspicuously coercive. Not only did the conquest theory make the United States appear to be just another imperial power in the European mode, it almost surely entailed a series of Indian wars on the frontier that would prove expensive in blood and treasure. (And events were to demonstrate that the Ohio tribes were a much more formidable enemy than anyone had initially imagined.) An alternative approach was first proposed by Philip Schuyler, a former general in the Continental Army and prominent New York land baron who had extensive experience dealing with the Six Nations during the war.
Schuyler’s proposal, which was immediately endorsed by Washington as the preferred course, envisioned a more gradual and indirect form of American imperialism. Rather than take the eastern third of the continent in one gulp, he recommended a series of smaller bites, a staged expansion driven by the front edge of American settlements. “As our settlements approach their country,” Schuyler explained, “they [Indians] must, from the scarcity of game, retire further back, and dispose of their lands, until they dwindle comparatively to nothing, as all savages have done…when compelled to live in the vicinity of civilized people.” The end would be the same—eventual Indian removal east of the Mississippi—but the means would be less violent and blatant because demography would do the work of armies. In the Schuyler scheme the Americans could afford to be patient and gracious at each stage, knowing full well that every treaty was merely a temporary halt on the inexorable march westward. From a republican point of view the great advantage of this strategy was to replace outright coercion with some semblance of mutual consent. One might call it veiled imperialism, or perhaps imperialism without an imperious edge. It was a more cost-effective and palatable version of genocide that permitted republican principles to coexist, albeit uneasily, alongside Indian extinction.8
There were a few dissenting voices. Benjamin Hawkins, an Indian commissioner and future senator from North Carolina, observed that the architects of American Indian policy would have a lot of explaining to do when they reached the pearly gates of heaven and had to account for their treatment of the aborigines. The kind of poignant evidence Hawkins had in mind came from one Cherokee chief who effectively and quite lyrically suggested that the boundary lines agreed to at the Treaty of Hopewell, now being systematically violated by white settlers, were never intended to be permanent, but only the first step in a series of subsequent encroachments consciously designed to exterminate the Cherokee Nation in slow motion:
At our last treaty…we gave up to our white brothers all our land we could any how spare, and have but little left, to raise our women and children upon, and we hope you wont let any people take any more from us without our consent. We are neither Birds nor fish; we can neither fly in the air nor live under water, therefore we hope that pity will be extended to us. We are made by the same hand and in the same shape with yourselves.9
Within the Confederation Congress there was little dissent about the proper direction of Indian policy—staged removal—but considerable confusion about who should manage it. Congress enacted an ordinance in August of 1786 giving itself “the sole and exclusive right…of regulating the trade and managing the affairs with the Indians, not members of any states.” This seemed clear enough, and sanctioned a congressional provision creating northern and southern departments of Indian affairs above and below the Ohio River that reported to the secretary of war, an ominous sign that diplomacy would probably not suffice. But in the same ordinance the Confederation Congress qualified its own claim to jurisdiction by declaring that federal authority only obtained “provided that the legislative right of any state within its own limits be not infringed or violated.” This language seemed to sanction the separate treaties that New York, North Carolina, and Georgia were negotiating with Indian tribes within their borders, creating constitutional confusion about who was really in charge.10
A different kind of mixed message was sent in the Northwest Ordinance of 1787. On the one hand, the ordinance defined the terms for establishing territories and soon-to-be states in the region stretching from the Ohio River to the Mississippi. The clear implication of this landmark legislation was that any Indian presence in the northwest was presumed to be temporary, this despite treaty obligations with the Ohio tribes that said otherwise. On the other hand, the ordinance also contained a reassuring promise that American policy toward the Indians would always be conducted according to the purest version of republican principles:
The utmost good faith shall always be observed towards the Indians; their lands and property shall never be taken from them without their consent; and in their property, rights, and liberty, they shall never be invaded or disturbed, unless by just and lawful wars authorized by Congress; but laws founded on justice and humanity shall, from time to time, be made, for preventing wrongs being done to them.
Whether this rhetorical flourish was designed to mislead the Indians, or to soothe the consciences of its American authors, or some subtle combination of the two is impossible to know. Given the relentless reality of the ongoing removal policy, however, it is difficult to avoid the conclusion that such promises of justice constituted a republican cloak over an imperialistic agenda.11
THE SUMMER OF 1789
JUST A FEW MONTHS after he assumed office as president, George Washington received a rather remarkable letter from Henry Knox, his recently appointed secretary of war. Federal authority over Indian policy needed to be clarified, Knox argued, in order to rescue it from the jurisdictional confusion that had prevailed under the Articles of Confederation. The best way to achieve the necessary clarity, Knox suggested, was to insist that “the independent tribes of indians ought to be considered as foreign nations, not as the subjects of any particular state.” Although the recently ratified Constitution had very little to say about Indians or Indian policy, one phrase (Article 1, Section 8) authorized Congress “to regulate commerce with foreign nations, and among the several states, and with the Indian tribes.” This language provided ample grounds for claiming federal sovereignty over the states, and by insisting that all Indian tribes were foreign nations, all treaties with them fell under the authority of the executive branch to make treaties “with the advice and consent of the Senate” (Article 2, Section 2). The ink on the Constitution was barely dry, but Knox was engaging in a pioneering effort—the effort continues apace today—to interpret the meaning of its words. In this instance, the goal was to lodge control over Indian policy squarely in the executive branch of the federal government.12
But Knox was just getting started. Once the executive branch achieved jurisdiction, Knox argued that virtually all the premises on which Indian policy had previously been conducted required review. The conquest theory, which presumed that all Indians east of the Mississippi were mere “tenants at will,” struck Knox as a gross violation of the republican principles that he and Washington had fought for in the late war. “It would reflect honor on the new government,” Knox observed, “were a declarative Law to be passed that the Indian tribes possess the right of the soil of all lands…and that they are not to be divested thereof but in consequence of fair and bona fide purchases, made under the authority, or with the express approbation of the United States.” There were matters of principle at stake here with long-term implications for both the fate of the Indians and the fate of the republican experiment itself. As the chief symbol and custodian of the revolutionary legacy, Washington needed to recognize that his own place in history would be considerably influenced by his management of this crucial issue at this most propitious moment.13
What, for example, might posterity say if “instead of exterminating a part of the human race by our modes of population,” which is to say the demographic strategy of Indian removal, “we had preserved through all difficulties and at last had imparted our Knowledge of cultivation, and the arts, to the Aboriginals of the Country?” What, on the other hand, would posterity say if we persist in the current policy, which is in truth to assure that “in a short period the Idea of the Indian on this side of the Mississippi will only be found in the pages of the historian?”14
Knox was recommending a wholesale reversal of American Indian policy, in effect arguing that a genuine republic could not function in the manner of European empires. Not only did the conquest theory violate republican principles, but the demographic strategy of removal was only an oblique version of imperialism, a more gradual and palatable version of removal. Knox was challenging the legality and morality of removal itself, the fundamental assumption of American Indian policy no matter how achieved. This was a stunning suggestion, rendered even more radical by the fact that no government official to date had dared even to mention an alternative scenario. Indeed, only a few months earlier the congressional instructions to American commissioners negotiating the Treaty of Fort Harmer with the Ohio tribes had urged them to seize “any opportunity that may offer of extinguishing the Indian rights to the Westward as far as the River Mississippi.” Knox was arguing that the prevailing policy of the United States toward Native Americans was nothing less than a direct repudiation of the values embodied in the American Revolution.15
How had Knox reached this disquieting conclusion? The immediate answer is that he had spent the late spring and early summer of 1789 reviewing all the treaties negotiated with Indian tribes under the Articles and concluded that the question of federal versus state jurisdiction required resolution. Beyond the jurisdictional issue, however, Knox had spent the preceding three years as de facto secretary of war under the Articles and was therefore at the center of the wind tunnel for all correspondence on Indian affairs. As such, he was in a position to read the most plaintive pleas from various Indian chiefs at the receiving end of American policy and to know that virtually every treaty was violated by state governments and white settlers almost immediately upon signing. Even more distressing, the promises the governments were making to the tribes were never even intended to be kept. They were willful and duplicitous misrepresentations (i.e., lies) designed to establish only temporary borders with Indian Country that would steadily recede until they reached the Mississippi. Knox realized that he was complicitous in a massive and wholly disingenuous deception.16
For the deeper sources of Knox’s disquietude one has to look further back. He had begun his career as a Boston bookseller who was plucked from obscurity by Washington and, more generally, by the exigencies of the War for Independence. Despite lacking any military experience whatsoever, Knox was appointed head of artillery in the Continental Army in 1776 during the Boston Siege. For the next eight years Knox was constantly at Washington’s side and became, next to Nathanael Greene, his most trusted lieutenant. This was the defining chapter in Knox’s life, when he lived the struggles and the crises at the primal level and internalized the revolutionary principles at stake, as well as the sense that he and the other members of the officer corps embodied those principles most palpably.17
His wartime experience gave Knox impeccable revolutionary credentials and a deeply felt conviction that those credentials provided instant credibility as a custodian of the revolutionary legacy. As a charter member of the “band of brothers,” he also felt honor-bound to register his criticism whenever that legacy was defied. As Knox saw it, to abandon that responsibility in order to accommodate the ongoing travesties against Native Americans constituted a betrayal of both the Revolution and his own integrity. Though he did not look the part—as a portly figure whose horses swayed under his weight and who tottered rather than swaggered to his place in American history—Knox was fully prepared to play the role of conscience of the American Revolution. He also possessed the influence, earned in eight long years of wartime camaraderie, to apprise Washington himself that duty called him to the same role.
Speaking of wartime experience, Knox had also earned a reputation as a highly realistic advisor, calculating the probable costs and benefits of engaging the British army in prospective battles throughout the War for Independence. His more pragmatic argument for transforming America’s Indian policy followed in this vein, predicting that a policy of outright confiscation would provoke Indian wars up and down the entire western frontier that would cost the United States at least $15 million a year. Given the size of the national debt inherited from the Confederation Congress, this cost was prohibitive. Knox made it clear that moral considerations were paramount, that “injustice would stain the character of the nation beyond all pecuniary considerations,” but that this was a case where ideals and interests coincided. Throughout the summer of 1789 Knox lobbied Washington to make reform of American Indian policy a priority of his presidency.18
It is difficult to know which of Knox’s arguments—the moral, the economic, or the fate of Washington’s own reputation—had the greatest impact. It is clear that Knox managed to capture Washington’s attention and persuade him to rethink his earlier position on Indian policy, which had presumed the inevitability and desirability of removal. This itself was a major achievement, since Washington was simultaneously preoccupied with appointments to his cabinet, defining the intentionally vague powers of his office as described in the Constitution, delegating fiscal policy to Alexander Hamilton, supervising passage of the Bill of Rights, and in general launching the first large-scale experiment in republican government in all history. For Washington to decide that Indian affairs merited his personal attention amidst this cacophony of political and constitutional pressures was a testimony to Knox’s influence and to Washington’s recognition that the issue at stake was too important to be delegated to others.
Knox and Washington hammered out the shape of a new Indian policy for the United States in the late summer of 1789. Strictly speaking, once the Indian tribes were defined as foreign nations, Indian policy should have become a branch of foreign policy under the authority of the secretary of state. But Thomas Jefferson, recently appointed to that office, was on the way home from Paris, and domestic affairs—the marriage of his eldest daughter—would delay his arrival in the capital at New York until the following spring. But since Knox had essentially been doing the job for the past three years anyway, had all the relevant information at his fingertips, and in fact was the primary advocate for a basic change in American policy, Jefferson’s absence made little difference and might actually have helped the cause, since it would have taken time to bring Jefferson up to speed.
The presumptive inequality inherent in the conquest theory would be replaced by treaties between equals negotiated “on principles consistent with the national justice and dignity of the United States.” Coercion, the imperial way of doing business, would be replaced by mutual consent, the republican way. The terms of all treaties would be binding on both parties in perpetuity and both the power and the honor of the federal government would be pledged to their enforcement. The demographic version of Indian removal would be strenuously opposed, if necessary by American troops garrisoned on the borders of Indian Country to block white migration and evict any settlers who managed to elude their surveillance. All treaties would also contain a provision whereby the tribes would be provided with tools and instruction in husbandry so that they could make a gradual transition from hunting and gathering to agricultural economies, which would simultaneously allow Indian culture to evolve from a savage to a more civilized status and reduce the size of the territory necessary for Indian survival.
What Knox and Washington envisioned as the outcome of the new policy was a series of Indian enclaves or homelands east of the Mississippi whose political and geographic integrity would be protected by federal law. The wave of white settlements would be required to bypass these Indian enclaves, leaving several Indian territories east of the Mississippi that would eventually, over the course of the next century, be assimilated as new states. It was a vision in which the westward expansion of an American empire coexisted alongside the preservation of the original Americans.19
But would it work? The only way to find out was to try it out, the only question being what tribe or confederation of tribes to select as the ideal test case. Knox, in fact, had already made that decision. In July of 1789 he began sending Washington extensive reports on the Creek Nation, whose hunting grounds extended from western Georgia to northern Florida and across modern Alabama into eastern Mississippi. The Creeks were a southern version of the Iroquois, in the sense that they exercised considerable influence over adjoining tribes, to include the Cherokees to the north and the Chickasaws and Choctaws to the south and west, so that a treaty with the Creeks had broader implications for the entire southern department. What’s more, the Creeks were already well on their way to developing an agricultural economy, one reason they and their tribal neighbors were referred to as the “Civilized Tribes.” Their economy had become dependent on obtaining supplies (tools, clothing, blankets, weapons) from British agents in Pensacola and Spanish agents in New Orleans. If the United States could displace the British and Spanish as their major trading partner, political allegiance was sure to follow. Finally, there was a dominant chief in the Creek Nation by the name of Alexander McGillivray, who exercised near-dictatorial authority over all Creek tribal councils. Unlike the Ohio tribes, where authority was divided among several warrior-chiefs, the Creeks had an acknowledged leader who could speak for the Creek Nation and enforce the terms of a treaty dependably. All in all, if the experimental American Indian policy required a laboratory, the Creeks seemed to present the optimal opportunity for success.20
By late August of 1789 Knox had persuaded Washington to make a diplomatic initiative toward the Creeks with a model treaty based on the new approach. Because this would be the first treaty with a foreign power negotiated since the ratification of the Constitution, it forced Washington to interpret the constitutional requirement to obtain “the advice and consent of the Senate” for the first time. Washington believed that the phrase required him to consult with the Senate in person, so he scheduled a meeting in the Senate for August 22, accompanied by Knox.
The result was part fiasco, part comedy. Because this was a precedent-setting occasion, the Senate spent most of the previous day debating parliamentary etiquette, including where the president should sit and whether or not to applaud his entrance. The following day Washington presented the case for sending a commission to the Creeks with treaty terms designed “to attach them firmly to the United States” and put an end to the sporadic violence on the southern frontier. Washington blamed the bulk of the violence on the Georgians rather than the Creeks, claiming that the borders established by previous treaties “have been entirely violated by the disorderly white people on the frontiers.” But regardless of the question of culpability, it was now time to reach a new and just accommodation with the southern tribes, and the proposed treaty with the Creeks would begin that important diplomatic process. If the members of the Senate had any specific questions, Secretary of War Knox would be pleased to answer them.21
Then the farce began. Several senators declared that they could not possibly provide their advice and consent until they had seen all the relevant documents. Knox’s explanations were surely accurate, but hardly adequate; they needed to see for themselves. Other senators suggested that, given the need to review the documents, perhaps the best way to proceed was to refer the matter to a committee. One senator, William Maclay of Pennsylvania, reported that Washington became visibly irritated and was heard to mutter: “This defeats every purpose of my coming here.” Once the senators realized that they had given offense to the president, they became reluctant to speak, producing several awkward silences. Washington eventually got up, motioned toward Knox to follow him, and strode out of the Senate “with a discontented air” and vowing under his breath never to return.22
He broke that vow two days later. This time he provided the Senate with three written-out questions beforehand. There was no debate. The Senate, properly embarrassed at the awkwardness of the previous session, endorsed the appointment of a special commission to negotiate a treaty with the Creeks. Washington thanked the Senate, walked out briskly, never returned, and from that moment to the present day “the advice and consent of the Senate” ceased to mean direct presidential consultation.
The instructions to the commissioners, drafted by Knox, urged them “by a just and liberal system of policy to conciliate and attach them [i.e., the Creeks] to the Interests of the union.” If any of the previous treaties were found to be faulty, the commissioners were instructed to renegotiate them and pay compensation for past misunderstandings. They should promise to place the Creek Nation “under the protection of the United States of America,” to include a line of military posts to guarantee the new borders against white encroachments. Finally, the commissioners should establish a bond of trust with Alexander McGillivray, who “was reputed to possess great abilities and unlimited influence over the Creek nation and part of the Cherokees.” Winning over McGillivray was the highest priority, and, in order to “attach him warmly to the United States,” they were permitted to offer him military rank in the American army with its attendant salary in return for an oath of loyalty. This thinly veiled bribe should do the trick, they thought. They had no way of knowing that they were dealing with the Talleyrand of the southern frontier.23
THE MCGILLIVRAY FACTOR
THE COMMISSION SENT to offer McGillivray the opportunity to launch a new chapter in Indian-American relations on the Knox model was headed by Benjamin Lincoln, one of Washington’s favorite generals during the Revolutionary War. Lincoln was accompanied by David Humphreys, a former aide-de-camp to Washington with a degree from Yale, the ambition to become a major American poet, diplomatic experience in Europe, and bottomless confidence in his own significance. Knox had stacked the commission with men of stature whom he and Washington knew personally. The negotiations designed to establish a fundamentally new direction in American Indian policy were scheduled for late September at a frontier outpost named Rock Landing, which was located in what is now central Georgia on disputed land between the Ogeechee and Oconee rivers. McGillivray, leaving nothing to chance, arrived accompanied by an entourage of nine hundred Creek warriors and chiefs.
All descriptions of McGillivray that have survived agree on two points: he was very light-skinned, and he was physically unimpressive. The light skin was a function of his mixed ancestry. His father was a well-to-do Scotsman who had sided with the British in the late war, had his estate confiscated along with other loyalists, then had sailed home to Scotland, never to return. His mother was half French and half Creek, making McGillivray only one-quarter Indian. But because Creek society was matrilineal and his mother was descended from a prominent Creek family, McGillivray was regarded by all the Creeks as a full-blooded member of the Creek Nation.24
On the physical front, he was a walking bundle of ailments. He suffered from migraine headaches and acute rheumatism that often incapacitated him for weeks at a time. He also labored under several self-inflicted diseases, including chronic alcoholism and syphilis sufficiently severe that his fingernails kept falling out. Unlike most Indian chiefs, McGillivray’s stature did not depend on his conspicuous bravery in battle. He himself acknowledged that he was not much of a warrior and that in his first engagement he had hidden behind a bush during the fighting, then crawled out at night to take the scalp of a dead American soldier.
His prowess as a Creek leader derived from his intellectual rather than his physical strengths. His father had sent him to Charleston to receive a classical education in Latin and Greek. McGillivray was fluent in English, Spanish, and Creek and well read in British and European history. When most Indian chiefs were confronted with the conquest explanation for their loss of standing after the Treaty of Paris, they could respond only with a mixture of confusion and disbelief. McGillivray denounced the conquest theory as a violation of international law:
We do in the most solemn manner protest against any title claim or demand the American Congress may set up for our lands, Settlements, and hunting Grounds in Consequence of the Said treaty of peace between the King of Great Brittain and the States of America, declaring that we were not partys, it being a Notorious fact known to the Americans, known to every person who is in any ways conversant in, or acquainted with American affairs, that his Brittanick Majesty was never possessed either by session purchase or by right of Conquest of our Territorys and which the Said treaty gives away.
In short, no one, neither the British nor the Americans, had ever conquered the Creeks, so the entire conquest argument was really a transparent rationale for outright thievery.25
McGillivray’s control over the Upper Creek and Lower Creek tribes, as well as his influence over their Cherokee, Chickasaw, and Choctaw neighbors, was rooted in his literacy in English and Spanish and his impressive negotiating skills with British and Spanish traders, who provided tools, clothing, weaponry, and amenities to all the southern tribes. All licenses to trade with the various tribes required his authorization, for which he collected a fee. He was also part owner of the major trading post in Pensacola, which earned him a handsome annual profit and allowed him to amass the wealth of an Indian-styled southern aristocrat. He owned a log mansion, fifty to sixty slaves, and several hundred horses and cattle in Little Tallassee, near present-day Montgomery, Alabama. He also owned a smaller plantation with another wife and family in Mobile.
He defied all the stereotypes: part Indian, part white; part defender of Creek rights, part southern slave-owner; part statesman, part corrupt power broker. He was an early American version of those modern-day Third World dictators during the Cold War who skillfully played off the major powers against one another to preserve both their own prominence and the independence of their own people while enriching themselves in the process. An unalloyed realist, McGillivray regarded that building wave of white settlers on his eastern borders as the greatest threat. For that reason, and also because of Georgia’s confiscation of his father’s estate, amidst all his multiple identities, he was resolutely anti-American.
As a result, McGillivray was extremely reluctant to attend the conference at Rock Landing. As he saw it, the balance of power in the region belonged to the Creek Nation and its allies. He could deploy over five thousand warriors at a moment’s notice, a force more than sufficient to defeat any attack by Georgia’s militia. And the puny American army was tied down in ongoing battles with the Ohio tribes. As long as Spanish supplies flowed freely to his warriors, Creek Country was impregnable. What’s more, he did not trust the word of the Americans. His contacts with the Six Nations and the Ohio tribes made him fully aware that all treaties with the Americans establishing secure borders had almost immediately been violated. And his own experience with the state governments of South Carolina and Georgia only reinforced his skepticism: “We have received friendly talks and replies, it is true,” he observed, “but while they are addressing us by the flattering appellations of Friends and Brothers, they are stripping us of our natural rights by depriving us of that inheritance which belonged to our ancestors and hath descended from them to us Since the beginning of time.”26
He was persuaded to attend the conference with the Americans, ironically, by Esteban Miró, the Spanish governor in New Orleans. Miró obviously did not want McGillivray to sign a treaty with the Americans, but he feared that an unwillingness to negotiate would lead to a full-scale war on the southern frontier. McGillivray believed that the Creeks could win such a war, but Miró was less confident and feared that an American victory would lead to Spain’s loss of all of Florida, which at the time included the entire Gulf Coast. McGillivray could not afford to alienate his Spanish allies, so he agreed to show up at Rock Landing. The diplomatic chemistry was therefore poisoned from the start. The American commissioners believed that they were launching a new era in Indian affairs destined to establish a precedent for Indian-white coexistence east of the Mississippi. McGillivray believed that he was jumping through the proverbial hoops, appeasing the American negotiators, pretending to be pliable, drawing out the inevitable confrontation.
Humphreys, who did the bulk of the negotiating on the American side, had a somewhat mixed first impression of McGillivray: “His countenance has nothing liberal and open in it—it has however sufficient marks of understanding. In short, he appears to have the good sense of an American, the shrewdness of a Scotchman & the cunning of an Indian…. His influence is probably as great as we have understood it was.” Meanwhile, McGillivray’s first impression of Humphreys was totally negative. He described Humphreys as “that puppy” and “a great boaster of his political knowledge,” a mere babe in the woods whose presumptive tone and condescending style were almost too much to bear.27
The treaty terms Humphreys proposed were also a problem. From Humphreys’s perspective, he was offering the Creeks the most generous terms ever made to any Indian tribe, a guarantee of almost all their tribal land and a promise of protection by the federal government against white encroachments. From McGillivray’s perspective, the proposed treaty required the Creeks to surrender their claim to the land between the Ogeechee and Oconee rivers, where several hundred white families were already settled. When Humphreys pointed out that the disputed land had already been surrendered to Georgia in a previous treaty, McGillivray argued that he never had agreed and never would agree to give up any Creek land, that the Georgians had found some “Indian vagabond” who lacked any authority to sign that treaty, which was clearly illegal. As for the American promise of protection, the Creek Nation did not require protection. It could perfectly well take care of itself and had no desire to become an American colony. And why should he trust American promises, given the undeniable record of broken promises with the Six Nations and the Ohio tribes?
Humphreys’s version of what happened next emphasized McGillivray’s obstinacy, fueled by huge consumptions of whiskey. “He got very much intoxicated,” Humphreys reported, though he also observed that McGillivray “seemed to retain his recollection and reason beyond what I had ever seen in a person, when in the same condition.” McGillivray’s version took pride in his intransigence: “The arts of flattery, ambition and intimidation were exhausted in vain. I at least told him that by G-d I would not have such a Treaty cram’d down my throat…so I remained obstinate in my purpose and came on.” By “came on” McGillivray meant that he gathered together his nine hundred warriors and rode out of Rock Landing.28
In his report to Washington, Humphreys observed that McGillivray, who was supposed to be the singular solution, was in fact the primary problem: “I believe that no room for doubt was left in the mind of everyone present,” Humphreys asserted, “that, if a Peace shall not be concluded, the fault will rest with McGillivray alone…. It is a melancholy consideration to reflect that a Whole Nation must sometimes perish for the sins of one man.” Humphreys speculated, correctly it turned out, that McGillivray had never intended to negotiate in good faith, that his whole purpose was to extract concessions that he would then use to obtain better terms from his Spanish friends.29
McGillivray left Rock Landing with spirits soaring. He had upheld the honor of the Creek people against the implicit coercion of the American government, which had the audacity to send a mere child-man to intimidate the chief of the Creek Nation. What stories he could now tell around the council campfires of American desperation and weakness. On the ride home he encountered a group of Georgia settlers who requested his permission to carve out a colony of their own within Creek Country under his protection. McGillivray observed:
Although I am not a sorcerer, I could manage them as I pleased. They are extremely ignorant and unpolished; each sentence that came from my mouth, they took as pure gospel. They got it into their heads that I was going to establish a new state, and 1500 families were ready to present me with petitions to become my subjects. I amused myself and juggled with them until we parted.
If they did attempt to settle on Creek land, he would order his warriors to drive them away and, if they refused, to kill every one of them.30
Knox apprised Washington that their best effort to forge a new Indian policy had failed miserably: “We have the Mortification to inform you that the Parties have separated without a Treaty. The terms which were offered…were not agreeable to Mr. McGillivray.” Washington had just returned from a monthlong tour of New England and faced a backlog of pressing decisions, to include appointments to the newly created federal judiciary, preliminary discussions with Alexander Hamilton about the size of the national debt and the proper outlines for American fiscal policy, plus a steady barrage of letters from job applicants, many former veterans courting favor. But he pushed aside all these important chores to immerse himself completely in the correspondence and documents relating to the Creek problem. The entire future of American Indian policy was at stake. The northern frontier was on the verge of open warfare with the Ohio tribes. Now the southern frontier threatened to explode as well. This was an issue that required his individual attention.31
What had begun as an initiative by Knox driven by a clear moral imperative—the preservation of Indian culture east of the Mississippi—was now transformed into a strategic dilemma driven by economic considerations. How many warriors could McGillivray deploy, how many federal troops would be required to defeat him, and what would the campaign cost? What was the likelihood of an alliance of all the southern tribes under McGillivray? And then, the nightmare scenario, what was the possibility of a pan-Indian alliance of all the northern and southern tribes with McGillivray playing the leadership role that Pontiac, the great pan-Indian chief of the 1760s, had played earlier?32
The answers that Knox provided were not encouraging. An all-out war against the southern tribes would cost at least $15 million, based on the estimate that McGillivray could call upon five thousand warriors, more if the Cherokees, Choctaws, and Chickasaws joined the campaign. Presuming that the Ohio tribes mounted an organized resistance that required a military response, the United States would be forced to fight a two-front war, the cost of which in men and money would defy the imagination.33
Throughout the War for Independence Washington and Knox had engaged in countless conversations of this sort, gauging the prospects of military action against the British army in multiple contexts, always balancing the strategic stakes against the limited resources of the Continental Army. On the basis of this truly searing experience, both men had learned to think together in a thoroughly realistic fashion. Indeed, one could argue that they had eventually won the war by prudently deciding when to decline risky battles.
When they brought the same cost-effective calculus to the combustible situation on the southern frontier, the conclusion was crystal clear. As McGillivray himself had apparently known from the start, a military campaign against the Creeks was politically and economically impossible to justify. Only a diplomatic solution made sense. And that meant that McGillivray must be appeased, not because doing so was morally right, but because it was now strategically necessary.
Meanwhile, down in Creek Country, McGillivray was relishing his humiliation of “that puppy Humphries” and apprising his Spanish contacts in St. Augustine and New Orleans that he was fully prepared, with their support, to repel any American invasion. Not only could he count on the assistance from the neighboring southern tribes, he had been cultivating diplomatic relations with the northern tribes for over two years. In that sense, Washington’s concerns about a pan-Indian confederation were not far-fetched. Ironically, at the same time that state delegations were meeting at Philadelphia in the summer of 1787 to form “a more perfect union,” all the Indian tribes south of the Great Lakes, to include the Iroquois, Hurons, Mohawks, Wyandots, Oneidas, and Shawnees, had convened with the Creeks and Cherokees to create an Indian alliance, their Native American version of the Constitutional Convention.
The negotiating position of the Americans had always been a diplomatic version of the proverbial iron fist in the velvet glove. In effect, either accept our terms or suffer the consequences. McGillivray was immune to such veiled threats because he believed, with considerable evidence to support his stance, that he enjoyed a more potent iron fist than the Americans. The American presumption of invincibility, in short, was both a bluff and a fiction. The Americans needed him more than he needed them.34
Then a new ingredient entered the strategic chemistry, an ingredient equally worrisome to McGillivray and the Washington-Knox tandem. In January of 1790 the Georgia legislature announced the sale of twenty-four million acres of land to three private companies, collectively called the Yazoo Companies, which claimed control over a vast region now comprising the states of Tennessee, Alabama, and Mississippi—in other words, all of Creek Country. The legal rationale for this sale was the original Georgia charter, which placed the western border of the then colony at the Mississippi River. This inflated claim made perfect sense to most members of the Georgia legislature, who owned shares in this speculative bonanza, making it a thoroughly corrupt and breathtakingly brazen scheme from the start.35
From the perspective of Knox and Washington, this Yazoo initiative was a blatant assertion of state sovereignty that defied both the principle of federal control over Indian affairs and the prevailing presumption that Indian policy was a branch of American foreign policy. If allowed to stand, it made any treaty with the Creek Nation inherently worthless. From McGillivray’s perspective, the Yazoo Companies threatened to release a gigantic new wave of white settlers into Creek Country, a demographic occupation more formidable than a conventional military invasion. He was confident he could defeat an American army, but endless waves of settlers posed the threat of an endless war on the southern frontier that even McGillivray could not be sure to win.
Because McGillivray had a well-earned reputation for unscrupulous behavior and had also demonstrated that he did not mind cutting deals that lined his own pockets on occasion, a delegation of Georgia stockholders in Yazoo attempted to bribe him by offering him shares in the lucrative venture in return for his cooperation. But McGillivray was unscrupulous only when it served the greater interest of the Creek Nation. He rejected the bribe and interpreted the offer as further evidence of his critical role as the dominant power broker on the southern frontier. He took even greater satisfaction in his obvious importance when he learned that, having failed to bribe him, several anonymous Georgia legislators had put out a contract to have him assassinated.36
This new Yazoo ingredient altered the political chemistry. Prior to Yazoo, McGillivray would have almost surely rejected any offer from Knox and Washington to renew negotiations, convinced as he was that the Creeks and their Indian allies, handsomely supplied by Spain, controlled the balance of power in the region. Now, however, the resumption of negotiations would allow McGillivray to sign a treaty with the federal government that reaffirmed federal control over Indian policy and thereby undercut Georgia’s preposterous claims of sovereignty. On this crucial point, his agenda and the Knox-Washington agenda were perfectly aligned.
Beyond that common point, however, McGillivray harbored no illusions. “All the eagerness which Washington shows to treat with me on such liberal terms,” McGillivray observed, “is not based, I am persuaded, on principles of Justice and humanity.” The Americans were already stretched too thin because of the ongoing war on the northern frontier and lacked sufficient manpower and money to mount a viable military campaign in the south. Their menacing threats on that score were only a bluff that he was fully prepared to call. But if he could negotiate a treaty that aligned the federal government with the Creek Nation against the Georgians, the Yazoo threat was then likely to disappear.37
The new offer was hand-delivered by a former officer in the Continental Army named Marinus Willet. Knox and Washington had decided to pull out all the stops. All matters, including the disputed land between the Ogeechee and Oconee rivers, were on the table for negotiation. More significantly, McGillivray would not be required to deal with inferior underlings like Humphreys. This time the two great leaders, Washington and McGillivray, would meet at the summit. McGillivray and a delegation of lesser Creek chiefs were invited to the American capital at New York for an extended visit that would permit promises to be made face-to-face in the best tradition of the Indian council fires.38
McGillivray found Willet more candid than Humphreys, a man of parts who might have made an excellent Creek warrior. Though McGillivray was immune to all forms of flattery and did not enjoy the prospects of a long and tiring trip, especially given his somewhat questionable physical stamina, this was an offer he could not refuse. “A treaty concluded at New York, ratified with the signature of Washington and McGillivray,” he noted with obvious pride in the co-equal status, “would be the bond of Long Peace and revered by Americans to a distant period.” Preparations for the seven-hundred-mile excursion began in May of 1790.39
THE SUMMIT
IT WAS QUITE A SCENE. McGillivray rode in a coach with his American escort, Marinus Willet, followed by twenty-seven Creek chiefs on horseback, all fully feathered and resplendent in Indian dress as they traveled toward the white man’s capital. Along the roads in Georgia and the Carolinas, witnesses were stunned, claiming they had never seen so many warriors whose intentions were entirely peaceful. In Virginia there were mandatory stops in Richmond and Fredericksburg, where local dignitaries hosted lavish dinners, complete with multiple toasts to “the Creek Washington.” Philadelphia was an even greater extravaganza of celebration. By the time the procession reached the outskirts of New York, so many peace pipes had been smoked and so many glasses had been lifted that the diplomatic negotiations themselves seemed a ceremonial afterthought. The cheering crowds signaled the start of a new era of peace on the southern frontier.
As they were ferried across from New Jersey to Manhattan, McGillivray and his entourage were welcomed like European royalty. One New York newspaper claimed that they had seen nothing like it since Washington’s inauguration. Ships in the harbor fired salutary salvos. Officers from the St. Tammany Society greeted them at the wharf, clad in Indian bonnets as a statement of their fraternal fellowship. Then there was a parade past Federal Hall, where all the members of Congress came out to cheer while the Creek chiefs broke out in song that interpreters described as a tribute to brotherhood. The festive procession then moved to Knox’s house, where Knox invited McGillivray to reside during his stay in New York and McGillivray announced that he would deposit his nephew to the care of the Knox family for his education and upbringing, which symbolized the union of the two families. Then it was on to the presidential mansion, where Washington offered his official welcome. The extravaganza ended at City Tavern with a sumptuous dinner and more toasts, all punctuated by Creek songs and shouts that gave the occasion an exotic flavor by blending Indian and white versions of etiquette. It was what we might call a major multicultural event.40
Coverage in the New York press concurred that no European diplomats had been welcomed so royally. As Knox and Washington saw it, this made perfect sense, since winning over McGillivray was more strategically crucial than solidifying a diplomatic relationship with any European power. While avoiding a costly war on the southern frontier was obviously the primary priority, the prospect of initiating a wholly new direction in American policy toward the Indians made the occasion even more significant. A treaty with the Creeks that recognized their legitimate claim to a large slice of land east of the Mississippi guaranteed by the federal government would serve as a model for all subsequent negotiations with the eastern tribes. Appearances were also important because McGillivray, surely influenced by his extensive correspondence with British and Spanish allies, regarded the American republic as a highly problematic experiment destined to dissolve like all republics before it. While the core of his confidence in the supremacy of Creek power was military—his warriors would outnumber and outfight any American army sent against them—there was also a political dimension to his confidence. Namely, he believed that the American republic was a fragile and ephemeral union likely to be short-lived. From McGillivray’s perspective, the centuries-old Creek Nation was sure to outlast this American upstart. Knox and Washington had planned the conspicuous display of political and military prowess in the national capital to show McGillivray that this republican experiment, unlike its European predecessors, was here to stay.41
The Creek delegation remained in New York for nearly a month. Most days were devoted to diplomatic negotiations, while the evenings were occupied by ceremonial celebrations, though the nightly convivialities helped to establish a spirit of mutual trust that lubricated the daily sessions. There is some telltale evidence that McGillivray’s evening lubrications left him with frequent hangovers the next day, but it is also possible that his periodic incapacitation was a result of his chronic ill health.
One of the highlights on the ceremonial side was the viewing of a new portrait of Washington by John Trumbull, one of America’s most prominent artists, who had also expressed a desire to paint a group portrait of the Creek chiefs, whose intrinsic nobility he compared to classical depictions of Roman senators. At the viewing of the Washington portrait, however, the Creeks shrieked with amazement and disbelief, because they had never before seen a picture that conveyed dimension on a flat surface. They accused Trumbull of practicing “magic” and refused to sit for him lest they fall victim to his spell.42
No record of the daily negotiations has survived, for the simple reason that no record was ever made. We do know that Knox assumed primary responsibility for the negotiations with McGillivray and that he was joined by Thomas Jefferson, the recently arrived secretary of state, who brought his long-standing interest in Native American history and languages to the task. In his later career as president, Jefferson would oversee the process of gradual Indian removal that culminated in the Indian Removal Act (1830) under Andrew Jackson. But at this earlier stage of his career Jefferson aligned himself squarely behind the Knox-Washington initiative to preserve Indian enclaves east of the Mississippi.43
One of his first acts as secretary of state was to draft a memorandum arguing that all the claims of the Yazoo Companies were illegal because Georgia had ceded all its western lands to the federal government upon joining the union. At Knox’s request, he also drafted another legal opinion, arguing that the Creeks, like all Indian tribes, should be regarded as foreign nations. This in turn meant that all treaty provisions signed by the president and ratified by two-thirds of the Senate, to include all trade provisions, immediately became the law of the land and therefore invulnerable to legal challenge by any state or private company. Though he subsequently reversed himself on the latter score, regretting his endorsement of such unrestrained executive authority, at this moment Jefferson believed his highest duty as secretary of state was to support the policy of his president, and he marshaled the evidence to support the new-model treaty with the Creek Nation like a dedicated lawyer serving his client.44
At a deeper and less legislative level, moreover, Jefferson brought the most fully articulated sense of the underlying moral issue at stake at this defining moment in the shaping of American policy toward the Native Americans. He had written the most compelling defense of Indian culture by any American of his time. In his Notes on the State of Virginia Jefferson had devoted an entire section to “Aborigines,” which attempted to recover the influence of Virginia’s Indian tribes in shaping the history of the Old Dominion. More to the point, he had mounted a full-scale defense of Indian intelligence, courage, and integrity against the derogatory claims to the contrary by the eminent French scientist Count Buffon, who had argued that the American Indians were a biologically and mentally inferior collection of savages unworthy of comparison with white Europeans.45
Jefferson politely but firmly argued that Buffon, Europe’s most renowned natural scientist, did not know what he was talking about. On the basis of personal observation and considerable study, Jefferson refuted each of Buffon’s charges, offering dramatic evidence of Indian eloquence, physical bravery, and deeply ingrained sense of honor. All of which led to the conclusion that the Native Americans “are formed, in mind as well as in body, on the same model as Homo sapiens Europaeus.” Whatever differences existed between Indians and whites were a function of the primitive conditions within which Indian culture currently found itself. (And Jefferson thought that, at least in some respects, Indian culture was actually superior; witness the numbers of white captives who preferred to live out their lives as Indians.) In the short term this meant that no enlightened American or European could in good conscience dismiss Native Americans as savages in order to justify their dispersion and removal. And in the long term it meant that the eventual assimilation of the Indian and Anglo-Saxon peoples of North America would benefit both races, a conclusion that Jefferson was unable to embrace with regard to the African Americans.46
Though it is likely that both Knox and Washington shared Jefferson’s basic convictions about the integrity of Indian culture, neither of them had ever expressed themselves so fully or so publicly on the issue. So Jefferson’s addition to the diplomatic mix gave the unrecorded conversations of late July and early August 1790 a clearer moral foundation than they would otherwise have had. For different reasons, all three men had reached the same conclusion. Namely, the current negotiations with McGillivray and the Creeks offered the opportunity to place American Indian policy on a path that avoided the unjust and tragic fate toward which it was currently headed. And posterity would ultimately judge them on how they conducted themselves at this decisive moment.
McGillivray cared not a wit about posterity’s judgment. His sole goal was to protect the Creek Nation from the demographic avalanche building to the east. His most pressing priority, then, was to block the claims of the Yazoo Companies by enlisting federal support against the expansive pretensions of Georgia. He apparently extracted a personal promise from Knox that the United States government would do just that, for he later claimed that his major achievement during the negotiations was “to have signed the death sentence of the Company of the Yazoo.”47
The core proposal in the American negotiating position was a federal guarantee, which in the end meant the deployment of troops, to maintain secure borders for the newly defined Creek Nation. But nothing in McGillivray’s mentality permitted the fate of the Creeks to depend on trust in the word of any person or government. He saw himself engaged in a four-sided diplomatic game, simultaneously playing the United States government against the state of Georgia and the Americans against the Spanish. Any commitment he made to the Americans was temporary and conditional. It would expire if and when the American republic collapsed, which he thought to be imminent despite the conspicuous display of political permanence designed to impress him. Or it would be disowned whenever the Spanish made him a better offer. Or whichever came first. What became known as the Treaty of New York passed the Senate on August 7, 1790, by a vote of 15–4. Both Georgia senators voted in the negative, and one Georgia congressman, James Jackson, complained that the treaty gave away three million acres of Georgia’s land to “a savage of the Creek nation,” presumably McGillivray, who had “been caressed in a most extraordinary manner, and sent home loaded with favors.”48
The preamble to the treaty declared that it was designed to produce “peace and prosperity to our southern frontier” and to attach “the Creeks and the neighboring Tribes to the interests of the United States.” In effect, the United States would displace Spain as the major ally and trading partner of the Creek Nation, which was now “under the protection of the United States of America and no other sovereign whatsoever.” The eastern border of Creek Country was set at the Oconee River, about thirty miles west of McGillivray’s preference on the Ogeechee, because so many white families had already settled in the disputed territory that removing them would be extremely difficult. The western border was left purposely ambiguous, allowing McGillivray to claim it was the Mississippi and the Americans to claim it did not quite stretch that far. A reasonable estimate of the new Indian protectorate would include modern-day western Georgia, eastern Tennessee, northern Florida, all of Alabama, and eastern Mississippi. By any standard, it was a huge domain.49
Another provision implied, albeit discreetly, that the Creek homeland was supposed to shrink over time. “That the Creek Nation may be led to a greater degree of civilization,” the treaty read, “and to become herdsmen and cultivators, instead of remaining in a state of hunters, the United States will from time to time furnish gratuitously the said nation with useful domestic animals and implements of husbandry.” These apparently innocent words carried a hidden meaning that McGillivray surely recognized. The Creeks, who already practiced some farming, were being urged to make a complete transition to an agricultural economy, which would require much less land than a hunting and gathering economy. Left unsaid was that subsequent treaties would reduce the huge size of the current Creek Country. By how much was also left unspecified.50
Just as huge as the geographic area being defined, at least for the present, as Creek Country was the promise being made by the American government: “The United States solemnly guarantee to the Creek Nation, all their lands within the limits of the United States to the westward and southward of the boundary described in the preceding article.” No matter how ambiguous the current borders of the Creek Nation, and no matter how much they were likely to shrink in the future, the word of the national government was pledged to protect Creek Country from all encroachments by state governments and white settlers. This was a colossal commitment, which Knox regarded as morally essential for his entire enclave strategy and economically preferable to a drawn-out series of Indian wars on the frontier.51
There were two secret articles not included in the treaty but shared with the members of the Senate before their vote. First, the United States agreed to establish a trading partnership with their new Creek allies, starting at $60,000 worth of goods a year. McGillivray insisted on a two-year delay in the implementation of this policy, putatively to work out the details of its operation, probably to use the time to see if he could get a better offer from the Spanish. Second, McGillivray was made a brigadier general in the American army at an annual salary of $1,200. Lesser Creek chiefs would receive lesser amounts. This obvious bribe was intended to replace the annual stipend McGillivray already received from the Spanish. Though such arrangements were too crassly exploitive to be mentioned in the treaty itself, McGillivray had made it known that he regarded them as common practice in all such negotiations and would be personally offended if the Americans failed to reward him for his service.52
The signing ceremony occurred August 13 at Federal Hall with the entire Congress in attendance. As befitted his new rank, McGillivray wore a military uniform of blue faced with red. The other Creek chiefs wore their most resplendent native costumes, entering the room shouting and shrieking words that one newspaper reporter described as eerily like war yells. The treaty was read aloud and an interpreter provided a simultaneous translation for the Creeks. Washington then delivered a solemn address, pronouncing the Treaty of New York a mutually beneficial agreement between two great peoples. McGillivray responded in kind and thanked the people of New York for their gracious hospitality and Washington for his gift of beads and tobacco. All the chiefs then shook hands with Washington Indian-style, locking arms while grasping elbows. The Creeks then formed themselves into a chorus and sang a final song. The interpreter explained that it was about perpetual peace.53
EPILOGUES AND AFTERTHOUGHTS
ECHOES OF THE CREEK chorus had hardly died before the prospects for peace of any duration met the same fate. The unmanageable problem was demographic. Settlers on the Georgia frontier kept pouring across the newly established Creek borders by the thousands, blissfully oblivious to any geographic line drawn on the maps by some faraway government, cheered forward every step by the Georgia legislature, which saw them as foot soldiers in the Yazoo campaign for control of the southern frontier. Knox sent a detachment of federal troops to police the borders, but it was like stopping a flood with a bucket of sponges. Washington recognized the strategic dilemma right away. “Unless we can restrain the turbulence and disorderly conduct of our own borders,” he observed, “it will be in vain to expect peace with the Indians—or that they will govern their own people better than we do ours.” In his opinion, the white settlers and their promoters were the chief culprits, and it infuriated him that “a lawless set of unprincipled wretches…can infringe the most solemn treaties, without receiving the punishment they so richly deserve.” Washington eventually concluded that “scarcely anything short of a Chinese wall will restrain the Land jobbers and the encroachment of settlers upon the Indian Country.” He took the failure personally, believing that his signature on the Treaty of New York was his pledge of honor as well as the solemn word of the United States government. Both were now being exposed as worthless.54
McGillivray did not think in terms of promises and honor so much as interests and power. Once the enormous scale of the American invasion became abundantly clear in 1791, he decided it was time to switch sides again, this time from the Americans to the Spanish. When the Spanish expressed their skepticism about his reliability, given the recent betrayal of his Spanish alliance for the Americans, McGillivray denied that there had ever been a betrayal, arguing that the Treaty of New York had never aligned the Creeks with the Americans. This was a barefaced lie, and the Spanish recognized it as such, but they had no viable alternative to McGillivray as the only leader who could mobilize Indian resistance to the Americans. So they welcomed him back, embraced the fiction that he had never left, and even increased his annual stipend to $2,000 in order to best the American bribe.55
McGillivray made the conversion complete by traveling to New Orleans in July of 1792 to negotiate a new treaty with Spain. There was nothing like the ceremonial splendor of the New York negotiations—no grand parades, no lavish dinners, no ingratiating toasts, no Creek chorus—only a private meeting between McGillivray and the new Spanish governor, at which McGillivray vowed “that it was never my intention to be on good terms with the Americans.” He then, somewhat in contradiction, expressed his deep regret at accepting “the least dependence on a people I know to be the National & determined enemy of all the Indian Nations & whom it is incumbent upon as to resist.” The Treaty of New Orleans reaffirmed the Creek alliance with Spain and their mutual commitment to expel all the American intruders from Creek Country. McGillivray also held out the hope that the Spanish-Creek coalition would be joined by Indian tribes from the Ohio Country, the forever alluring vision of a pan-Indian alliance: “I have reason to suspect,” he told the Spanish governor, “a deputation from the Northern tribes of Indians in here in the ensuing Spring for the purpose of animating the Southern tribes to exert themselves in the Common Cause.”56
In effect, less than two years after the passage of the Treaty of New York all the hopes and peaceful prospects it embodied had evaporated. The relentless and apparently inexhaustible reservoir of white settlers continued to roll westward, making a mockery of all plans for an enduring Creek homeland. McGillivray had gone back to the Spanish, who supplied the weapons for the resumption of vicious fighting across the entire southern frontier. Whatever opportunity had ever existed for a new direction in Indian policy that preserved a tribal presence east of the Mississippi was lost forever.
The rest, as they say, is history. The pan-Indian alliance never materialized and the Spanish-Creek alliance proved just as incapable of blocking the white demographic surge as the American government had been. McGillivray did not live to witness the end of the story. He died on February 17, 1793, of complications from his multiple ailments. Witnesses said that he appeared to be fifty years of age, though he was only thirty-four. An obituary in Gentlemen’s Magazine in London predicted, correctly it turned out, that the Creek Nation would not see his like again.57
Over the course of the next fifty years Creek Country became Slave Country, the cradle of the deep south, and the most racially conscious region in the nation. But the division was white versus black, not white versus red, for the Creeks had virtually disappeared as a people and a nation. During the final stages of Indian removal they did not present a major problem, like the more resilient Cherokees, because they had almost ceased to exist.58
Given the enormous issues at stake for the future of American society, and given the truly tragic conclusion, there is an almost irresistible urge to wonder if the story could have turned out differently. But if the tale told here is essentially correct, the answer must be a dispiriting but firm no.
What stands out is the exceptional quality of leadership on both sides at this defining moment. Knox and Washington, with an assist from Jefferson, chose to defy the odds and transform American policy toward the Native Americans. They did not do so because it was politically expedient, quite the opposite. They did so because the revolutionary fires still burned inside them and they knew, deep down, that Indian removal was incompatible with the republican values they cherished. They inherited an Indian policy headed inexorably toward the extermination of Indian Country east of the Mississippi and they attempted to turn it around. Their respective revolutionary credentials allowed them to argue, with complete confidence, that principle needed to take precedence over popular opinion. For, make no mistake, a referendum among the white citizenry would have produced an overwhelming majority for Indian removal. They made a heroic effort and they failed, though it is difficult to imagine what they might have done differently to change the outcome.
On the Indian side, it is also difficult to imagine a more capable and shrewd leader than McGillivray. He played the cards that were dealt him as deftly as possible. Though unscrupulous in the realpolitik sense of the term, he was incorruptible whenever the fate of the Creek Nation was at stake, and his combination of pure intelligence, diplomatic agility, and sheer audacity made him the most effective Indian leader of his time. Looking back with all the advantages of hindsight, McGillivray remains the most impressive Indian leader we might have handpicked to avert the tragedy. Yet he too failed.
Why such failure amidst such leadership? Part of the answer was sheer numbers. The white American population was doubling every twenty to twenty-five years at the same time the Indian population was declining at roughly the same rate. By the last decade of the eighteenth century an ongoing demographic explosion was radiating out from the eastern rim of North America, and the Indian population opposing it was simply outnumbered and overwhelmed. No political effort to contain or control this explosion stood much chance of success.
Whatever chance did exist depended upon the capacity of the recently launched federal government to impose its will on the state of Georgia and the white population stretched across the southern frontier. In order to honor its promise of protection to the Creeks, the United States government needed to assume control over the eastern border of Creek Country, a roughly five-hundred-mile arc stretching from what is now eastern Tennessee to the Florida panhandle. That in turn would have required a string of forts permanently garrisoned by at least ten thousand federal troops, this at a time when the entire American army was slightly more than one-tenth that size. At virtually every level—logistical, economic, political—there was not the most remote chance of implementing such a plan.59
Ironically, the problem that Washington faced was almost identical to the problem the British had faced after the Proclamation of 1763, when George III declared the land west of the Alleghenies a vast Indian reservation off-limits to American colonists. And, double irony, on that occasion Washington had angrily protested the British policy and taken considerable satisfaction in observing that it was inherently unenforceable. In 1790 he found himself cast in the role of George III, with results equally ineffectual.
Given this obvious historical precedent, why did Washington and Knox think they could succeed where the British, with considerably greater power at their disposal, had failed? Why did they not recognize from the start that they lacked the resources to enforce their treaty obligations? How could they not realize that they were making promises they could not keep?
Part of the answer is that both Knox and Washington, and in a different way Jefferson as well, saw themselves as custodians of the true meaning of the American Revolution. And they harbored no doubts that the peaceful coexistence of Indians and whites on the North American continent was in keeping with revolutionary principles, just as Indian removal was a betrayal of them. All three men were accustomed to taking great risks against all odds in defense of those principles. As Jefferson so lyrically put it, they had on multiple occasions chosen to risk “their Lives, their Fortunes, and their sacred Honor,” and on each occasion had watched history prove them right. Indeed, whenever Washington had invested himself in a major cause of dubious prospects, whether it was defeating the British army or siding with the nationalists at the Constitutional Convention, he had never lost. As long as the revolutionary winds were at their backs, and they certainly were in the effort to revise Indian policy, they had reason to believe they could win all wagers regardless of the odds. And who in his right mind was going to bet against Washington?
But the truth was that there were revolutionary winds blowing in the opposite direction as well. The Knox-Washington initiative had been a top-down affair conceived and planned in the executive branch with little if any consultation with Congress except for the Senate ratification vote, which had itself happened awkwardly, even comically. Washington was able to argue successfully that, because Indian tribes should be treated as foreign nations, jurisdiction over Indian policy was properly lodged in the executive branch. From Washington’s perspective, only a bold assertion of executive power could put American Indian policy on a republican course. But in the minds of many observers in the Congress and out, such a conspicuous projection of executive power itself violated republican principles and conveyed the distinct odor of monarchy. Merely to mention that word was to ring all the revolutionary bells and to conjure up Jefferson’s sweeping indictment of monarchical power in the Declaration of Independence. At this point in the tender life of the embryonic American republic, no policy that depended completely on the stark assertion of executive power was politically sustainable.
Faced with the problem two hundred years later, the president would have nationalized the Georgia militia and ordered them to enforce the law defining the Creek borders, and the Supreme Court would have ruled that such actions were constitutional. None of these options were available to Washington because the political institutions and legal precedents to make them possible were still aborning. In their absence, ultimate authority resided outside of government altogether, with those ordinary American citizens seeking a better life and a parcel of land to the west. In that sense, Indian removal was the inevitable consequence of unbridled democracy in action.
CHAPTER FIVE
The Conspiracy
THE ATTEMPT to create a just Indian policy failed despite the best efforts of America’s most prominent political leaders to make it happen. The creation of a two-party system succeeded despite entrenched resistance by virtually all the founders to its very existence. As the most perceptive student of the origin of political parties so nicely put it: “The Fathers hoped to create not a system of party government under the Constitution but rather a Constitutional government that would check and control parties.” And the man who, as much as anyone else, created the first organized opposition party in the United States also uttered the most concise condemnation of his very creation: “If I could not go to heaven but with a party,” proclaimed Thomas Jefferson, “I would not go there at all.”1
From our modern-day perch it is easy to see the indispensable role that organized political parties came to play later on in channeling the combustible energies of a wild-and-woolly democratic culture into a coherent and disciplined framework. It is also possible to discern the invaluable contribution that the two-party system made in providing a safe and structured location for ongoing dissent, in effect creating a routinized and institutionalized outlet for argument in lieu of the guillotine or the firing-squad wall. Yet if we were somehow able to dial up Jefferson in the hereafter and apprise him that he might well have listed the two-party system on his tombstone as one of his most lasting legacies, on a par with his Virginia statute for religious freedom, he would have regarded the suggestion as a preposterous joke.
At first glance, the founders’ hostility to political parties seems strange, since the core idea that partisanship can serve the public interest was very much in the air throughout the late eighteenth century. Edmund Burke had written a much-discussed treatise on the subject in 1770, arguing that political parties not only were unavoidable products of representative government, but also performed valuable functions in orchestrating debate, much in the way that the adversarial system worked in legal trials. Adam Smith’s Wealth of Nations (1776) described the unhindered collision of selfish and ambitious interest groups as the dynamic—if dirty—secret of the capitalistic marketplace. And, as we have seen, borrowing in part from Smith’s free market idea, James Madison had argued in Federalist 10 that the collision of political factions in an extended republic would produce greater stability, making size an asset rather than a liability. One could also argue that the contrived compromises reached at the Constitutional Convention, especially on the extent of executive power and the blurry line separating state and federal jurisdiction, created an inherently argumentative context that made the emergence of political parties of some kind virtually inevitable. And that, of course, is precisely what happened.2
So why were the founders, pretty much to a man, so resistant to the inevitable, especially when the creation of the first functioning two-party system in world history turned out to be perhaps their most lasting contribution to modern political thought? Why did they have to be dragged—kicking, screaming, and, perhaps most interestingly, denying what they were quite obviously doing?
The full answer to those questions lies within the folds of the story told in the pages that follow. The two major players are James Madison and Thomas Jefferson, early on dubbed “the General” and “the Generalissimo” of the emerging Republican Party. A major supporting role goes to Alexander Hamilton, the most flamboyantly brilliant member of the cast, who nearly steals the show but whose chief purpose here is to serve as the fixed object against which Madison and Jefferson do their political version of isometric exercises. Minor roles belong to two men most accustomed to heading the bill, George Washington and John Adams, neither of whom could quite fathom the partisan bickering that shaped their respective presidencies as anything more than dissonant noise that drowned out the classical harmonies.
Washington and Adams, in fact, were representative American statesmen who understood the terms “party” or “faction” as epithets that conveyed a disreputable commitment to a narrow and usually private agenda at the expense of the public interest. (The closest approximation in our modern political vocabulary is “lobbyist.”) Their role model was the Patriot King, first described by Henry St. John, Viscount Bolingbroke, a British opposition thinker much admired by America’s revolutionary generation for his endorsement of disinterested virtue as the hallmark of statesmanship, floating above factional squabbles and misguided popular surges to act in the long-term interest of the nation regardless of the political cost at the moment. It was psychologically impossible for either Adams or Washington to regard himself as the leader of a political party. Indeed, Washington was the ultimate Patriot King of all time. And Adams took considerable delight in committing political suicide by refusing to fight a popular war with France in 1799, a decision that led to his defeat in 1800 but that he forever regarded as the finest moment of his presidency.3
Modern American journalists and politicians still pay rhetorical homage to this inveterate disdain for polls, popularity, and partisanship, which is one of the chief reasons the founders enjoy such iconic reputations as the gold standard for our diluted political currency. The truth is that Washington and Adams were the last of a classical breed, and Jefferson was the first president to point the way to modernity as the avowed—though he was extremely reluctant to admit it—leader of a political party.
In a sense the problem was a matter of language. There was no neutral vocabulary available to talk about political parties, just as there was no way to discuss executive power without referring to kings and courts. Although the notion that economic interest groups or political factions could play a positive role in the marketplace or the political arena was generally understood, being regarded as a party leader remained a major stigma. It was one thing to recognize the clash of interests as a permanent feature of political life. It was quite another to embrace self-consciously and openly the role of party advocate and partisan, which on the face of it came across as a confession of corruption and moral deficiency that automatically disqualified such a person for national office. Even campaigning for office was considered a declaration of unworthiness.
Given the political framework created by the constitutional settlement of 1788, which made the establishment of an ongoing political dialogue of some sort inevitable, and given the stigma that surrounded organized political parties, a premium was put on a distinctive form of intelligence that could adroitly navigate between the two imperatives. Crudely put, this meant creating a political party while claiming, in all sincerity, that you were doing nothing of the sort. As it turned out, this was a talent that Jefferson possessed in abundance.
At certain points in the story the distinction between Jefferson’s genuine self-deception and outright duplicity is impossible to identify with any certainty. But this is the phase of Jefferson’s career that, as his most devoted biographer has acknowledged, defies customary notions of truth and candor, a time when Jefferson “frequently seems to be out of character.” In order to put the best face on his multiple misrepresentations, Jefferson’s ablest defenders have attributed them to his visceral urge to avoid all explicit forms of conflict: “The boldness of his mind,” so Dumas Malone argued, “was sheathed in a scabbard of politeness…. It would have been surprising if such a man did not occasionally cross the thin line between courtesy and deception.”4
Less devoted defenders of Jefferson have speculated that Jefferson’s psychological agility during this formative phase of his political career was in fact the rule rather than the exception. Charles Francis Adams, grandson of John, put it this way: “More ardent in his imagination than his affections, he [Jefferson] did not always speak exactly as he felt towards friends and enemies. As a consequence, he has left hanging over a part of his public life a vapor of duplicity, or, to say the least, of indiscretion, the presence of which is generally felt more than it is seen.”5
From our perspective, however, positive or negative assessments of Jefferson’s integrity at this historical moment are beside the point. If you begin with the assumption that the invention of the two-party system was a major achievement, and that seems beyond contention, and if you acknowledge that the political culture of the age threw huge obstacles on the path of that very invention, then anyone with the mental agility to leap over these obstacles must invariably violate the principles of the past in order to make possible the politics of the future.
For one of the ultimate implications of the two-party system that was so hard for most of the founders to accept was the realization that different versions of truth could coexist alongside one another and both claim, with considerable plausibility, to be true. Unlike mathematics, in politics there was no agreed-upon solution reached by sheer brainpower and logic, but rather an ongoing and never-ending struggle between contested versions of the truth. (The proper model, in effect, was not the Newtonian universe but the Darwinian jungle.) Only someone with a deep affinity for what we might call multiplicity, someone accustomed to negotiating his many-chambered personality, playing hide-and-seek within himself, was psychologically prepared to function within this modern world of party politics. And Thomas Jefferson fit this description more perfectly than anyone else.
Henry Adams captured the inherent elusiveness of Jefferson most eloquently in his magisterial History: “Almost every other American statesman might be described in a parenthesis…. A few broad strokes of the brush would paint the portraits of all the early Presidents with this exception…but Jefferson could be painted only touch by touch, with a fine pencil, and the perfection of the likeness depending upon the shifting and uncertain flicker of its semi-transcendent shadows.”6
THE CRUISE AND THE CONSPIRACY
THE STORY BEGINS with Jefferson and Madison enjoying a leisurely cruise up the Hudson River in May of 1791. Jefferson described it as a “botanical excursion,” and all the correspondence that has survived supports that innocent characterization. Letters home reported on the azaleas, blackberries, and white pines encountered on the trip. Lake George was a magnificent surprise, but Lake Champlain was a disappointment, and the battlefields at Saratoga and Ticonderoga could speak only if you knew how to listen to the ghosts of the fallen. In general, Jefferson reported to his daughter, New England springs were bland and tepid compared to the explosion of color in Virginia at this season. After traversing Vermont to the headwaters of the Connecticut River, the two Virginians sailed down western New England like tourists soaking up the sights, smells, and sounds of a foreign country.7
But this apparently innocent adventure was not what it seemed. While their botanical explorations were sincere, in between the conversations about flora and fauna the two men found time to discuss politics. Madison later acknowledged that their discussions ambled from the destructive effects of the dreaded Hessian fly to the equally disastrous law creating the Bank of the United States, just passed by the Congress and signed by the president. Jefferson and Madison shared their mutual chagrin at—these are their words—the “stockjobbers,” “Tories,” and “monocrats” who had triumphed with the passage of the bank bill. All such despicable creatures, observed Madison, “dabbled in federal filth,” presumably suggesting that all private investors in the bank were determined to make a private fortune at public expense. It was like the biblical scene when the money changers took over the temple.8
The conversations that occurred on the cruise, then, were less botanical than political. And they were political in a distinctly hyperbolic style. If you accept their rhetoric at face value, the deepest impulses of the American Revolution, the true “spirit of ’76,” were being hijacked by a conspiracy of northern bankers and “paper-men” who composed a “speculative phalanx” moving forward behind the satanic leadership of Alexander Hamilton. Though these men represented a tiny minority within the overall populace, they had somehow managed to engineer a hostile takeover of the fledgling American republic and were now poised to consolidate their control to the detriment of all the ordinary citizens, mostly farmers, the true lifeblood of the nation. The ultimate goal of this Federalist faction was to undermine the republican government and replace it with a monarchical state in which the presidency became a hereditary rather than an elective office and “money-men” became the new American aristocracy.
Given the depth and breadth of this mounting conspiracy, they warned, the true friends of pure republican principles needed to organize an opposition that would restore the uncorrupted republican faith. The first step in that direction required a newspaper to expose the Federalist plot and enlighten the public about the hovering political threat. Jefferson and Madison chose Philip Freneau, a New Jersey journalist and sometime poet, to launch the National Gazette as the official voice of what became the Republican Party. Jefferson promised to pay him a salary as a translator in the State Department, though his real job would be to promulgate “the ancient Whig doctrine.” Freneau would be given exclusive access to all foreign intelligence passing through Jefferson’s office and “the publication of all proclamations and other public notices within my department.”9
There is no question that Jefferson and Madison were sincere; their personal correspondence confirms the heartfelt conviction that a Federalist plot was afoot. There is also no question that Jefferson and Madison were wholly sane and thoroughly rational men. The question then becomes: How did they develop such a quasi-paranoid image of the Federalist agenda, an image that would cause one of the primary authors of The Federalist to repudiate all his previous arguments on behalf of a sovereign federal government and make Jefferson, a member of Washington’s cabinet, believe that his highest duty was to subvert the very government he was allegedly serving?
By any neutral standard, the picture that Jefferson and Madison saw in their heads was a preposterous distortion. How could two men who had never fired a shot in anger during the war suggest that Washington and Hamilton, both military heroes, were in any sense of the word “Tories”? How could John Adams, the acknowledged “Atlas of independence,” be tarred with that same brush? As for monarchical ambitions, Washington had already demonstrated his immunity to all such ambitions by rejecting the crown at the end of the war, and his efforts to define the powers of the presidency all operated within a framework of republican presumptions. To be sure, Washington could appear quite regal at ceremonial occasions or riding around the capital like God on horseback, but he could not help being physically majestic.
Finally, the Hamilton financial program, topped off by the bank, represented an effort to restore fiscal stability to an American economy burdened by debt and previously incapable of doing much about it. The enrichment of a few investors was an extraneous by-product of an economic policy rather brilliantly designed to persuade the international market-makers that the United States was not, in modern parlance, a banana republic. How, in heaven’s name, could fiscal responsibility be seen as an unmitigated evil?10
One obvious answer to these overlapping questions is that the conspiratorial mentality that Jefferson and Madison were imposing on the Federalists represented a domestic version of the arguments made against George III and Parliament in the 1760s and 1770s. The conviction that malevolent forces were gathering in the shadowy alleys of Whitehall and the smoke-filled coffeehouses of London, where British officials were plotting the enslavement of the American colonists, became a centerpiece of revolutionary ideology. To raise any question about the rational character of this depiction was to risk being labeled a Tory, and the ideology enjoyed a hallowed status once the movement for American independence succeeded. Jefferson and Madison were simply moving this time-honored ideological lens, through which the colonists had viewed British imperial policy, training it on the Federalists, and seeing the same sinister conspiracy at work on American soil.11
But in two respects this shift of focus posed credibility problems not encountered when the British were the villains. First, the potency of revolutionary ideology depended upon distance. The alleged British plotters were an ocean away, faceless creatures vulnerable to conspiratorial stereotypes in large part because of their complete invisibility. On the other hand, all the villains in the purported Federalist plot were intimate acquaintances of Jefferson and Madison, colleagues who had a history of working together (e.g., Madison and Hamilton on The Federalist). This should have made them much more difficult to demonize.
Yet somehow Jefferson managed to do it. He went to his grave insisting that Hamilton, who sat next to him at all cabinet meetings, “was not only a monarchist, but for a monarchy bottomed on corruption,” while his old friend Adams had lost the revolutionary faith and “been taken up by the monarchical federalists.” Late in life he could still claim to recall dinner parties in New York when he was secretary of state and found himself the only true republican amidst “a general prevalence of monarchical sentiments.” It would seem that monarchists, like the communists of a later time, were everywhere. To repeat, there is little question that Jefferson was sincere and believed what he said. There is also little question that what he saw owed a great deal to his own fertile imagination.12
Turning the Federalists into an updated version of British conspirators faced an even larger problem. The core constitutional argument against the British ministry and Parliament was that because the American colonists were not represented in Parliament, all taxes or restrictive laws were being imposed on them without their consent. Take away that core argument and the plausibility of the conspiratorial charge became much more difficult to sustain. But all the Federalist plotters were duly elected or appointed officials chosen by the citizenry in accord with the rules prescribed by the very Constitution that Madison had done so much to shape. The Federalists, then, were a very strange kind of cabal, an elected government freely chosen by a substantial majority of American voters.
These obstacles posed a serious challenge to any domestic deployment of the revolutionary ideology. One advantage that Jefferson and Madison enjoyed and used to overcome these obstacles was their Virginia base, which gave them a safe haven to develop their conspiratorial conversation and a supportive constituency already primed to understand the coded vocabulary about “stockjobbers,” “money-men,” “monocrats,” and “the fiscal party” without any extended explanations. If you used this vocabulary in New York or Philadelphia, you ran the risk of being misunderstood or judged slightly insane. In Virginia, however, it was part of the mainstream vernacular because it made perfect sense when delivered with a southern accent, since it provided a convenient explanation for the catastrophic decline of the tobacco economy and the mounting indebtedness of the planter class in the Old Dominion. Henry Adams subsequently labeled it the “Virginia-write-large” version of the American Revolution.13
Madison’s turnabout was very much a symptom and consequence of the realignment of political power in Virginia after the narrow victory by the Federalists in the ratifying convention of 1788. The shift occurred in response to the debate over Hamilton’s financial plan in 1790–91, chiefly the federal assumption of state debts and the establishment of a national bank. These developments forced the planter class of Virginia to realize, for the first time, that their days as America’s premier political elite were numbered, soon to be replaced by the commercial and financial elite of New York and New England. One of the distinguishing features of most conspiracy theories is the tendency to personalize what are, in truth, impersonal forces of unwelcomed change. Hamilton and his banking cronies thus became the personification of the reasons for Virginia’s economic decline, felt most sharply by the Tidewater planters, who also happened to be the long-standing nucleus of Virginia’s political elite.
It did not help, though it blended nicely with the old revolutionary ideology, that Hamilton and his henchmen were eerily reminiscent of the British and Scottish creditors who were bleeding the Virginia planter class to death with such diabolical concepts as compound interest rates. Bankruptcy often arrived as a complete surprise on many Virginia plantations, a product of accounting legerdemain that many planters took considerable pride in not comprehending. (Both Jefferson and Madison would die bankrupt.) Hamilton’s financial plan for fiscal solvency galvanized all their pent-up frustrations, which were rendered even more passionate because, truth be known, the planters had not the dimmest understanding of what Hamilton was talking about.
Finally, there was yet another distinctly southern ingredient in the Republican ideological recipe, though it was unspoken. Whether one regards slavery as the proverbial elephant in the center of the room or the ever-hovering ghost at the banquet, the etiquette of political conversation in Virginia forbade any candid discussion of the subject. The correspondence between Jefferson and Madison embodied this etiquette of silence. Their letters, much like the text of the Constitution, never mentioned slavery as a factor in their indictment of the Federalist agenda, not because it was unworthy of notice, but because it was like a piece of inadmissible evidence with explosive implications capable of blowing up their entire case. Their orchestrated silence on the slavery issue provides one of those rare occasions when the very absence of evidence is the most important piece of evidence of all. Perhaps this was what John Quincy Adams was referring to when he described the seamless but unspoken character of the Jefferson-Madison partnership as “a phenomenon, like the invisible and mysterious movements of the magnet in the physical world.”14
What, then, was being left unsaid? Many years later Nathaniel Macon, a prominent Virginia Republican, blurted it out: “Tell me if Congress can establish banks, make roads and canals, whether they cannot free all the Slaves in the United States.” The fiscal program of Hamilton, most graphically embodied in the bank, surely did conjure up the dreaded menace of a northern commercial elite as vampires sucking the blood out of the agrarian south. But Hamilton’s program was also the fullest projection of federal sovereignty over the states, the kind of undiluted statement of a wholly national ethos that Madison had not so long ago advocated just as strenuously as Hamilton. By 1791 Madison’s mind had changed on this score, as had the minds of many formerly staunch Virginia Federalists. And one of the reasons for the shift, floating silently above the explicit demonization of a “phalanx of bankers,” was the sudden realization that, once the federal government assumed control over domestic policy, slavery was doomed.15
The specific incident that exposed this dreaded possibility occurred in the spring of 1790, when two Quaker petitions, one signed by none other than Benjamin Franklin, urged the Congress to take up the question of the slave trade as well as the persistence of slavery itself in any self-respecting American republic. Franklin’s stature made it impossible to ignore or table the petitions, which produced the first open and fully recorded debate over slavery in the history of the United States. Madison led the floor fight in the House to block any extension of federal authority over slavery, arguing that the Constitution specifically forbade any congressional limitation on the slave trade for twenty years and implicitly relegated any and all legislation regarding slavery itself to the state governments. Madison also drafted the committee report that affirmed this strict interpretation of the Constitution, breathing a sigh of relief that “the wave had passed safely under the ship.”16
As much as any man in America, however, Madison knew there would be other waves, because the Constitution had drawn a very blurry line between federal and state jurisdictions, a line that was sure to move back and forth on a case-by-case basis during the formative years of the infant nation. And this is where the creation of a national bank intersected in alarming fashion with the slavery question. For in the debate over the bank that raged throughout February of 1791, its opponents, to include both Jefferson and Madison, based their opposition on its unconstitutionality, arguing that Congress possessed only certain enumerated powers, that the power to create a corporation (i.e., the bank) was not one of them, so the bank violated the Tenth Amendment, which reserved all powers to the states not specifically delegated to the federal government. But the winning argument proved to be Hamilton’s, which cited the “necessary and proper” clause of the Constitution (Article 1, Section 8) to sanction congressional authority as one of the implied powers inherent in the Constitution. Hamilton quoted, almost verbatim, the argument made in Federalist 44, which everyone presumed he had written: “No axiom is more clearly established in law, or in reason, than that wherever a general power to do a thing is given, every particular power necessary for doing it, is included.”17
This argument not only won the day, but also established an expansive precedent for federal power with almost limitless implications and applications. Madison must have cringed as Hamilton’s argument was read out loud in the House, because he, not Hamilton, was the author of Federalist 44. His earlier incarnation as an unbridled nationalist was now being thrown in his face.
It was not just the bank itself, then, that terrified Madison and his fellow Virginians, though that source of dread was real enough. It was the open-ended definition of federal power on which the bank was authorized, which in effect gave the federal government a roving mandate to extend its authority wherever it wished, to include the thoroughly vulnerable issue of slavery. In the Republican vision of the current political situation, most especially its distinctive Virginia version, corrupt “money-men” were making fortunes by shuffling pieces of paper while whispering insulting jokes about the unknowing yeoman farmers they were fleecing. But neither Jefferson nor Madison was really a farmer. (Neither man ever did a full day’s work in the fields.) They and the Virginia constituency they represented were planters, and the labor source on which the plantation economy rested, ever so precariously it turned out, was slavery.
So the whisperings they detected among the Federalist conspirators made perfect sense because they mirrored their own whisperings about the subject that could not be talked about openly. Indeed, apart from its obvious economic and moral significance, the slavery issue created an environment conducive to a conspiratorial mentality, a political world in which the unspoken was all-important, secrecy was an essential attribute for success, suspicion was wholly justified, mutual trust was foolishly naive, and one’s deepest motives were presumed to be hidden. In that sense, the Republican view of the Federalists enjoyed such credibility in Virginia because it was a projection onto their enemies of a deceptive agenda with which they had a deep and intimate experience.
CULTIVATING THE COVERT
EXPLAINING MADISON’S conversion to the Republican camp is a tricky business, in part because Madison’s thought process was always more serpentine than simple, in part because the switch was almost breathtakingly dramatic, from the leader of the ultra-nationalists at the Constitutional Convention and the Virginia ratifying convention to the leader of the opposition that challenged the legitimacy of everything he had previously advocated. One obvious explanation is Jefferson’s influence. Upon Jefferson’s return from France, so the story goes, Madison resumed his customary position as acolyte to his Monticello mentor, a subordinate posture in which he remained perfectly comfortable for the next thirty years, even during his own presidency, ending only with Jefferson’s death.
This explanation fits the folds of Madison’s personality, which instinctively recoiled from the glare at center stage, relished performing the essential behind-the-scenes tasks for which others received the credit, and genuinely worshipped the ground that Jefferson walked on. On the other hand, the explanation is not only too neat and simple, it is historically, or at least chronologically, incorrect. For Madison’s conversion began in the winter and spring of 1790, before Jefferson arrived on the scene in New York.
A second explanation, not wholly incompatible with the first, is that Hamilton’s Report on Public Credit (1790) truly stunned Madison with its aggressive projection of federal control over fiscal policy, for this was not a version of the national ethos that Madison had in mind two years earlier. A corollary to this explanation, which surfaced most explicitly during the debate over the Quaker petitions against slavery, is that he felt obliged to represent the interests of his Virginia constituents, for whom control over what he called “that species of property” was not a negotiable issue. Here he had to choose between being a Virginian or an American, and he went with the electorate that put him in office.
A third explanation, admittedly more speculative, is that Madison had fully internalized the argumentative framework established by the Constitution as an ongoing dialogue between federal and state sovereignty. He understood, perhaps more deeply and profoundly than any man of his time, that the survival of the republican experiment depended on a balanced conversation between advocates of federal and state sovereignty. That conversation could continue productively only if both sides enjoyed roughly equal claims to legitimacy. From this perspective, the Hamiltonian initiative had drastically unbalanced the political equation and thereby threatened to terminate the conversation when it had barely begun. Madison’s highest duty, then, was to jump on the other side of the political seesaw to restore the balance and thereby sustain the ongoing dialogue. (He switched sides again near the end of his life during the Nullification Crisis.) If correct, his conversion to the Republican cause was not really a partisan act, but one of the shrewdest nonpartisan decisions imaginable.
Whatever Madison’s motive, he became the political point man for the Republican opposition. (It was awkward for Jefferson to play any public role, given his position as secretary of state in the Washington administration.) Between November of 1791 and December of 1792 Madison wrote eighteen essays for Freneau’s National Gazette that effectively announced the arrival of the Republican Party as a viable alternative to the Federalists. Though virtually everything done in these initial years of the American republic set a precedent, Madison’s essays, all done anonymously, were especially unprecedented because they declared the presence of an opposition party as a new feature on the American political landscape.18
In one of his early essays Madison came close to articulating the modern rationale for a two-party system: “In every political society, parties are unavoidable,” Madison wrote. “The great object should be to combat the evil…by making one party a check on the other…. If this is not the language of reason, it is that of republicanism.” This approximated the modern notion of two permanent parties, forever disagreeing and routinely rotating into power and out. But it soon became clear that Madison remained an important increment away from the full-blooded acceptance of two equally legitimate political parties dueling for the favor of the citizenry. For in Madison’s formulation the duly elected government, which he did not call Federalists but “anti-republicans,” was illegitimate. (The “anti-republican” label, like the “Antifederalist” label in the ratification debate, was designed to put the enemy on the defensive.) The political conflict was not a collision of co-equals, but a war between the forces of light and the forces of darkness in which the Republicans represented the soul of the American Revolution and the Federalists its betrayal.19
In an essay entitled “A Candid State of Parties” Madison linked the emerging struggle between Federalists and Republicans with the ageless conflict between the few and the many, which took the form of “the Court versus the Country” in Georgian England, then “the Tories and the Whigs” in the American Revolution. Here Madison was at least temporarily abandoning his previous claim in Federalist 10 that the extended size of the American republic would produce multiple factions, whose interaction would prevent the kind of two-sided division now being trumpeted as the timeless political pattern. The virtue of this simpler vision, which was really more Jeffersonian than Madisonian, is that it cast the Federalists in the role of recognizable villains in a patriotic story line that everybody knew by heart, an updated version of the song entitled “The Spirit of ’76” with lyrics provided by Jefferson’s uplifting rendition of liberty versus power in the Declaration of Independence.20
As Madison knew better than anyone else, the story line did not fit the 1780s, that is, unless one wanted to argue that the Antifederalists were the true heirs of the revolutionary legacy and the Federalists its enemies. While it was possible for Jefferson to embrace that conclusion, since he was in Paris and played no role in either the Constitutional Convention or the ratification debate, that was not true of Madison. Given his role as the most prominent Federalist of all in 1787–88, for him to recognize the Antifederalists as the heroic predecessors of the Republicans was akin to having Martin Luther declare his ultimate allegiance to the Vatican.
His solution, which was somewhat strained, was to argue that the Federalists had always harbored a minority of “closet monarchists” and “secret tories,” and this very faction had somehow managed to seize control of government at the federal level and in several of the states. This coup d’état had occurred because of the disproportionate power wielded by “the men of influence, particularly the moneyed interest,” who also enjoyed the advantage of physical proximity because “they all live in cities.” The vast majority of Americans, on the other hand, were farmers, who were spread out and too busy tilling the soil to pay much attention to politics.
In one essay Madison praised the simple virtues of the agrarian life—another decidedly Jeffersonian theme—which contrasted completely with the inherently corrupt world of urban bankers and speculators. There was no question, then, that a sinister minority had temporarily wrested control of the government from the silent majority. “The Republican party, as it may be termed, conscious that the mass of people in every part of the union…must at bottom be with them,” Madison concluded, should remain confident that this Federalist ascendance was an aberration, that “the issue in the present instance should be reversed, and the government be administered in the spirit and form approved by the great body of the people.”21
While this was highly questionable as history—“the great body of the people” had recently elected Washington almost by acclamation—it was extremely shrewd as propaganda. For Madison had transformed the quite real clash of economic and political interests between the planter class of the southern states and the commercial class of the northern states into an ideological struggle between two different versions of the American Revolution, a struggle in which the rhetorical advantage belonged to the Republicans. Like a skilled lawyer who had switched clients, he proved himself supremely capable of moving from the most adroit defender of the Federalists to the most able prosecutor of the Federalist agenda. And in so doing, Madison provided the outline of the Republican agenda for the remainder of the decade.
If, for whatever reasons, Madison had changed his mind, his former collaborator on The Federalist had not. Alexander Hamilton had assumed his duties as secretary of the treasury with the clear sense that “the spirit of ’87” had trumped “the spirit of ’76,” which in effect meant that sovereignty now resided in the federal government and his efforts to create a coherent fiscal policy for the nation should operate from that assumption.
Only slightly taller than the diminutive Madison, Hamilton projected a sense of stature at odds with his size, a kind of “little giant” who dominated the center of any room in which Madison drifted to the darkened corners. He also defied the understated Virginia style by being conspicuously and outspokenly brilliant, the kind of man who not only needed to win every argument but also needed to demonstrate that you had lost. As far as Hamilton was concerned, those people now styling themselves Republicans either had been asleep for the last four years or were collectively non compos mentis, for the duly ratified Constitution had dispensed with the state-based government of the Articles in favor of a fully empowered national government in which control over fiscal policy was a clearly delineated federal responsibility.22
Never one to long remain on the defensive, Hamilton launched an assault on the Republican camp in the fall of 1792, writing a series of essays for The Gazette of the United States under the pseudonym “Catullus.” In response to the charge that the Federalists were plotting a conspiracy to undermine the republican principles of the American Revolution, Hamilton countered that the Republicans were the real conspirators, and he made Jefferson the most villainous conspirator of all. Though Madison had become the point man for the Republicans, Hamilton identified Jefferson as the mastermind of the opposition and “the most intriguing man in the United States,” whose behind-the-scenes skulduggery required exposure in the public papers.
In the Hamiltonian account, Jefferson had always harbored reservations about the dramatic shift away from the state-centered focus of the Articles and remained at best a lukewarm supporter of the Constitution. His decision to hire Philip Freneau as a translator in the State Department was a transparently conspiratorial plot to launch a political assault on the very administration he allegedly served, thereby making him a Trojan horse and “the Catiline of the American republic” all rolled into one. (Most educated Americans recognized Catiline as the treacherous conspirator who almost destroyed the Roman Republic and whose vile character inspired Cicero’s famous oration in behalf of virtue as the quintessential quality for a republic statesman.)23
While Hamilton’s conclusions were thoroughly partisan, the evidence on which they were based was factually accurate. Jefferson’s views of the Constitution and his conduct with Freneau were pretty much as Hamilton described. When asked about the Freneau connection, Jefferson, somewhat lamely, argued that Freneau was not his puppet, but was free to write anything he wished. This was a disingenuous defense that stopped just short of being an outright lie.
Hamilton’s exposure of Jefferson’s covert role in the Republican plotting prompted a series of Federalist assaults on his character that drew selectively on his previous career to document his shallowness and lack of integrity: as governor of Virginia he had fled ignominiously before invading British troops; as minister to France he had failed to comprehend the bloody consequences of the French Revolution, insisting that all would turn out well because he clung tenaciously to “theoretical principles fit only for Utopia” as the author of Notes on the State of Virginia he had declared “the inherent inferiority of Blacks to Whites, because they are more unsavory and secrete more by the kidneys” as a mathematician he kept shifting his theorems as he twirled away in his specially designed pivot chair, which became a favorite symbol of Jefferson’s endemic rotations and vacillations. He was, in the Federalist demonology, a misguided, duplicitous, dangerous dreamer whose sublimated ambition would never be satisfied until he became president of the United States.24
Jefferson never responded to these charges, though he did permit his surrogates, chiefly Freneau, Madison, and James Monroe, to do so. He remained reticent for personal and political reasons. On the personal level, he loathed open controversy, regarding it as dissonant noise that interrupted the natural harmonies he heard in his head. On the political level, he could ill afford to become a conspicuous participant in the broadsides against the Federalists as long as he was serving in Washington’s cabinet. By remaining silent on the Freneau connection while allowing others to deny it in the press, he avoided having to tell a lie and kept his fingerprints off all incriminating evidence.
In Jefferson’s case, however, it is difficult to know where deception ended and self-deception began. After an especially partisan attack on Washington by Freneau, Jefferson wrote plaintively to Madison: “The President is not well…. He is extremely affected by the attacks made…on him in the public papers. I think he feels these things more than any person I have ever met with. I am sincerely sorry to see them.” Yet this apparently genuine expression of regret came from the very man who was subsidizing Freneau to inflict the pain. His thoughts seemed to run on two separate and parallel tracks that never intersected, thus making him simultaneously incapable of either candor or hypocrisy.25
This bimodal style allowed Jefferson to orchestrate state-by-state schemes for Republican electoral victories with Madison, who always had the numbers at his fingertips, then join Washington the same day and work together with great affinity on the design of the projected capital on the Potomac. The only subject capable of upsetting this psychological balancing act was Hamilton. On several occasions while meeting with Washington, when Hamilton’s name came up, Jefferson erupted. Hamilton, he blurted, was “a tissue of machinations against the liberty of the country which has not only received and given him bread, but heaped its honors upon his head.” In another outburst Jefferson described the Hamilton fiscal policy as “designed to prepare a change from the present republican form of government, to that of a monarchy.” This was mainstream Republican rhetoric, a maxim within the planter class of Virginia, but when uttered in Washington’s presence it provoked the sober assessment that Hamilton, like he, favored a strong executive, but neither Hamilton nor anyone else in his administration wished to restore the monarchy, and that anyone who believed such nonsense had thereby provided “a proof of their insanity.” Jefferson never unburdened himself with Washington again, and from that moment onward began to take notes documenting Washington’s creeping senility, spreading gossip that the once great man was now past his prime.26
The whispering campaign against Washington made strategic sense, since any direct criticism of the greatest hero of the age was likely to backfire, and by insinuating that Washington was oblivious to Hamilton’s machinations behind the screen the Republicans could focus their fire on more vulnerable targets, chiefly Hamilton and his banker friends.
The bank, indeed, was the perfect target, and in language eerily prophetic of Andrew Jackson’s diatribes forty years later, Jefferson urged Madison to depict the bank as the satanic symbol of the dreaded “consolidation,” a nefarious aggregation of arbitrary power that rolled over the interests of ordinary Americans. Jefferson had reached the conclusion that the bank was not just unconstitutional, it was actually treasonable. “For any person to recognize a foreign legislature in a case belonging to the state itself,” he apprised Madison, “is an act of treason against the state.” This was the first explicit expression of a view that Jefferson would expand upon more broadly seven years later in the Kentucky Resolutions. Namely, control over all domestic legislation rested within the states, so any federal legislation objectionable to a state was an illegal intrusion by what was in fact a foreign government.27
This was a rather extreme position that moved the blurry and shifting line separating federal and state jurisdiction about as far back as any die-hard Antifederalist could wish. Perhaps sensing that this was not the kind of constitutional position he should advertise, Jefferson urged Madison to keep it confidential. Shortly thereafter, the two Republican leaders decided to draft all future letters to each other in code, using the cipher first deployed when Jefferson was abroad. (In August of 1792 Madison regretfully reported that he had left the key to the code in Philadelphia, so all the Jefferson letters he received at Montpelier were incomprehensible.) Their mutual concern about secrecy reached such a point that Madison felt the need to have someone else copy all his essays for the National Gazette so that the printer would not recognize his handwriting. If they believed themselves to be fighting against a Federalist conspiracy, and they surely did, they felt justified in assuming the character of a conspiracy themselves, believing all the while that their own secretive tactics were fully justified to offset the tactics of their opponents.28
The Republican campaign against Hamilton and the bank reached a crescendo in January of 1793 when Congressman William Giles of Virginia called for an investigation of Hamilton’s management of public funds. Giles was a devoted Jefferson protégé—he was even courting Jefferson’s younger daughter at the time—and Jefferson himself actually drafted the indictment against Hamilton, a labor of love if there ever was one. The central charge was that Hamilton was cooking the books, shifting sums from one column to the other in order to conceal graft being dispensed to his financial cronies, the infamous “stockjobbers” and “monocrats.” The goal was to force Hamilton’s resignation.29
But contrary to Jefferson’s fondest expectations, the congressional investigation ended up congratulating Hamilton on his impeccable bookkeeping and rock-ribbed integrity. Jefferson’s only solace was the knowledge that he had forced his chief tormentor to spend several weeks doing the tedious work to document his accounting procedures. In Jefferson’s mind, moreover, Hamilton’s vindication never shook his conviction that the entire fiscal policy of the federal government was an elaborate swindle. He regarded the hard evidence produced by Hamilton as so much numerical wizardry that no one, not even Hamilton himself, could possibly understand. Instead of concluding that he had been wrong about Hamilton and his fiscal policy, Jefferson concluded that Hamilton was an even craftier criminal than he had thought.30
Everything Jefferson saw with his eyes was filtered through the conspiratorial categories he stored in his head, which then bent the perceptions to fit the preordained conclusions. Given the certainty and clarity of his vision, he was effectively immune to evidence that might complicate the purity of his mental categories. In a sense this immunity made him the ideal party leader, not just because he would never waiver in his devotion to the cause, but also because the cause itself transcended any mere squabble about loaves and fishes, was not just a partisan campaign for votes and power. It was a much more ennobling crusade for the rescue of republican principles from the abyss into which the Federalists were taking them. Serving as a party leader, then, was a necessary role to play in order to reach the higher calling of American redeemer. It was a vision that verged on the spiritual.
THE FRENCH CONNECTION
THUS FAR THE AGENDA of the Republican Party—a term that both Jefferson and Madison began to use—had taken shape in response to Federalist domestic policy, chiefly Hamilton’s financial plan. In its most fanatical, quasi-paranoid version, the Federalists were regarded as the second coming of the British ministry on American soil, the stalking horse for a putative American monarchy and hereditary aristocracy. In its more sober-minded version, the Republicans were insisting upon a renegotiation of the constitutional settlement of 1787–88, or perhaps a stricter interpretation of federal jurisdiction that gave new life to the old Antifederalist apprehensions about centralized power. As we have seen, beneath both versions of the Republican agenda there lurked sectional interests of the Virginia-writ-large sort, meaning a palpable fear that the commercial north was replacing the agrarian south as the dominant power broker, and the overlapping fear that any recognition of federal jurisdiction over domestic policy placed slavery at risk.
Jefferson’s special genius as a party leader was to deny, in all sincerity, that he was such a partisan creature, and to mask the sectional interests of the Republican cause behind the more uplifting rhetoric inspired by the revolutionary melodies of 1776. Where strategy ended and sincerity began is impossible to know. And the line between them within Jefferson’s mind was just as ambiguous and ever-shifting as the line between federal and state sovereignty in the Constitution.
The Republicans opened a new angle of attack on the foreign policy front early in 1793. The immediate precipitant was the outbreak of war between France and Great Britain, news of which reached the United States in April. Washington immediately recognized this development as a shift in the diplomatic landscape and convened his cabinet to discuss the American response. Given the controversy soon to ensue, it is interesting to note the unanimous consensus within the cabinet that the United States must not be drawn into this European war.
The problem was the Franco-American alliance of 1778, which had done so much to provide the money and manpower essential for the American victory in the War for Independence. No man alive understood the essential contribution the French had made in making American independence possible more than Washington. But that was then and this was now, so Washington, an unalloyed foreign policy realist, never hesitated in issuing the Proclamation of Neutrality in late April of 1793, which effectively repudiated the French alliance.31
Ever resourceful, Hamilton sprang into print with a series of essays defending Washington’s decision, written under the pseudonym “Pacificus.” His chief argument was that the Franco-American treaty was a dead letter because Louis XVI, who signed it, was no more, having recently suffered the indignity of being beheaded. In the cabinet deliberations Jefferson opposed this interpretation, arguing that the Franco-American treaty was a contract between nations rather than governments, a wholly sensible and ultimately successful argument that made outright rejection of the French alliance impossible.
In the meantime, however, Jefferson worried that Hamilton’s essays would work their customary magic and prejudice the citizenry against the French connection. Jefferson implored Madison to answer him: “For god’s sake, my dear Sir, take up your pen, select his most striking heresies, and cut him to pieces in the face of the public. There is nobody else who can and will enter the lists with him.” Madison did his duty in a series of essays under the pseudonym “Helvidius,” complaining all the while to Jefferson that foreign policy was not his proper bailiwick. His major contribution, in fact, was to raise a constitutional question: Unless Washington regarded himself as a monarch, where did he derive the authority to issue a proclamation?32
Jefferson had not objected when Washington issued the Proclamation of New York in 1790, endorsing the treaty with the Creeks. But that particular proclamation had predated the emergence of the Republican Party. His somewhat strained argument in this case was that because the Constitution required a vote of Congress to go to war, it also required a vote of Congress not to go to war. Although this argument lost out in the cabinet deliberations, it remained a useful weapon in the Republican ideological arsenal, reinforcing the claim that the Federalists harbored monarchical tendencies. And by 1793 both Jefferson and Madison were looking for any weapon they could find to wound the Federalist opposition on the foreign policy front.
It soon dawned on Jefferson that Washington’s decision to steer a neutral course in foreign policy provided a heaven-sent opportunity to inflict just such a wound: “The war between France and England seems to be producing an effect not contemplated,” he explained to Monroe. “All the old spirit of 1776 is rekindling.” By that he meant that American popular opinion remained resolutely pro-French, in part because of the invaluable assistance provided in the late war, in part because the French Revolution was initially perceived as a glorious extension of “the spirit of ’76” onto the European continent.33
From a diplomatic point of view Washington’s insistence on American neutrality was unquestionably correct. Indeed, it was the landmark statement of what would become the core principle of American policy toward Europe for the next century and beyond. From a political point of view, however, American neutrality ran against the grain of the decidedly pro-French sentiment in the nation at large. And Jefferson was eager to exploit that sentiment for partisan purposes.
To be sure, Jefferson was a sincere aficionado of all things Gallic, from French cooking to Parisian architecture to revolutionary politics. On the latter score, he remained wedded to his original conviction that the French Jacobins, the radical party, would conduct themselves responsibly. “I begin to consider them the true revolutionary spirit of the whole nation,” he apprised Madison, “and as carrying the nation with them.” Since the Jacobins were, at the very moment he wrote these words, guillotining many of his French friends, this was another case where inconvenient evidence was not allowed to penetrate those interior chambers where Jefferson stored his deepest ideals.
When his former secretary, William Short, wrote him several letters from Paris describing the mass executions and severed heads being rolled down the streets, Jefferson told him he preferred not to hear such stories: “The tone of your letters had for some time given me pain,” he chided Short. “My own affections have been deeply wounded by some of the martyrs to this cause, but rather than it should have failed I would have seen half the earth desolated. Were there but an Adam and Eve left in every country, and left free, it would be better than it is now.” If any of his Federalist foes had seen this letter, it would have been recycled countless times to document the charge that Jefferson was one of the most dangerous men in America.34
The arrival of Edmond-Charles Genet in May of 1793 as the new French minister to the United States provided the occasion for the simultaneous release of Jefferson’s two most potent passions—his romantic attachment to the French Revolution and his realistic, indeed quite calculated, desire to inflict maximum damage on the Federalists. Styled Citizen Genet as a statement of his revolutionary credentials, the minister was initially received with an orgy of toasts and pro-French demonstrations. All this confirmed Jefferson’s estimate that the Proclamation of Neutrality did not reflect American popular opinion, which was decidedly, and in some places deliriously, wedded to France.35
How Genet somehow managed to transform his status as a foreign celebrity into that of an insufferable pariah within a few short months has always seemed almost inexplicable. The most accepted explanation is that he misread his initial reception, overplayed his hand, and thereby laid the groundwork for his utter ruin. We know for a fact that he made several outrageous statements, to include authorizing American privateers to capture British ships on the high seas and claiming that Washington’s Proclamation of Neutrality violated the fraternal bond with the French nation and should be studiously ignored by all liberty-loving American citizens. He seemed to believe that he could speak more credibly for the interests of the American people than its elected government. This combination of arrogance and ignorance did him in by August of 1793, when the Federalist administration, with Jefferson assenting, demanded his recall.36
It seems quite likely, however, that Genet’s brazen behavior flowed at least in part from several conversations he had with Jefferson. These conversations were confidential and unrecorded, but Genet’s later recollections make it abundantly clear that Jefferson shared with him his most sweeping Republican vision: Washington was under the influence of the pro-British Hamilton, but that cabal would prove short-lived because the vast majority of the American electorate felt a deep allegiance to the French Revolution; the Federalists were an elite minority that had temporarily captured the government, but only managed to retain power because of the immense prestige of Washington, now a pale replica of his former greatness; the assertion of American neutrality was therefore a misrepresentative statement by an illegitimate faction that did not speak for the will of the American people.
Given the fact that Jefferson was officially a member of the Federalist administration, his remarks to Genet constituted, at the very least, a serious breach of political integrity. But two years earlier Hamilton had shared his own prejudices with the British ambassador, George Hammond, in equivalently semi-treasonable fashion. (A republican government was still such a novel creation that the rules of the game remained murky.) Genet’s self-inflicted demise came about, at least in part, because he felt free to act upon in public the highly partisan advice that Jefferson had shared with him in private.37
From Jefferson’s perspective as the titular leader of the Republican Party, Genet’s behavior transformed him from a potent weapon to a dangerous liability. As he wrote in code to Madison: “We have decided unanimously [in the cabinet] to require the recall of Genet. He will sink the Republican interest if they do not abandon him.” Jefferson managed to combine an ideological vision of the inevitable Republican triumph with a wholly tactical sense of when to cut his losses. As he wrote to Madison:
I believe that it will be true wisdom in the Republican party to approve unequivocally of a state of neutrality, to avoid little cavils about who should declare it, to abandon G. [Genet] entirely…. In this way we shall keep the people on our side by keeping ourselves in the right…. I adhered to him as long as I could have hope of getting him right…. Finding at length that the man was absolutely incorrigible, I saw the necessity of quitting a wreck which could not but sink all who cling to it.38
In other words, the campaign to discredit the Federalist embrace of neutrality had backfired. Genet’s extreme pronouncements had managed to transform popular opinion so that it now rallied behind the Proclamation of Neutrality. The Republicans needed to bend with this political wind rather than break in gallant but futile resistance. Jefferson’s letter to Madison ended with the following postscript: “The President is extremely anxious to know your sentiments on the Proclamation. He has asked me several times. I tell him you are so absorbed in farming that you write to me always about plows, rotations, etc.” Most of Madison’s letters at the time, in truth, dealt with his “Helvidius” essays, which criticized the neutrality policy and Washington’s authority to proclaim it. Best to spare the president such unwelcomed news.39
BACK AT HEADQUARTERS
IF ONE WERE KEEPING score in the party wars, by the summer of 1793 the Republicans had lost every major battle: Hamilton’s fiscal program, topped off by the National Bank, was now riveted in place; Washington’s neutrality proclamation was the accepted foundation for American foreign policy; the Genet fiasco had undermined Republican efforts to mobilize public opinion in support of a French-leaning version of neutrality. As Jefferson looked back on this moment a few years later, he cringed at the memory of cabinet meetings that forced him, as he described it, “to descend daily into the arena like a gladiator to suffer martyrdom in every conflict.” The string of defeats was especially frustrating to Jefferson because it flew in the face of his conviction that the vast majority of American citizens—at one point he described the breakdown as five hundred to one—was staunchly Republican. The winds of history were supposed to be at his back, but Federalist gusts kept blowing the ship of state further out to sea. As Jefferson saw it, this defiance of the natural order only confirmed Federalist skulduggery.40
In June of 1793 he apprised Madison that he was simply not cut out for this kind of protracted political infighting; as he rather elegantly put it, “the motion of my blood no longer keeps time with the tumult of the world.” Though willing to stay on as secretary of state until a suitable replacement could be found, he told several friends that his soul was back at Monticello, already “liberated from the hated occupation of politics,” eager to remain “in the bosom of my family, my farm, and my books.” Monticello had always been his preferred destination in life, the place where the bucolic rhythms matched his own pulse. “I hope to spend the remainder of my days,” he explained, “in occupations infinitely more pleasing than those to which I have sacrificed 18 years of the prime of my life.”41
Incantations of virtuous retirement to rural solitude were a familiar and even formulaic refrain, especially within the planter aristocracy of Virginia. The classical models of Cicero and Cincinnatus provided the script, which Jefferson’s principled withdrawal from the hurly-burly of politics to the pastoral serenity of Monticello fit perfectly. John Adams had witnessed this retirement scenario on several occasions, and while he did not doubt Jefferson’s sincerity in the Ciceronian role, he suspected that, whether he knew it or not, Jefferson was merely going home to lick his wounds in seclusion and eventually launch his campaign for the presidency. “It is marvelous,” he wrote to Abigail, “how political plants grow in the shade.”42
As events were soon to demonstrate, Adams understood Jefferson’s deepest impulses better than Jefferson himself, whose correspondence throughout most of 1794 suggests a man, as he put it, “totally absorbed in my rural occupations,” unwilling to subscribe to any newspapers, obsessed with plans for the rotation of crops rather than the rotation of political power. What he could not acknowledge, and Adams had shrewdly predicted, was that he remained, alongside Madison, the co-leader of the Republican Party, not so much retired as on sabbatical.43
In effect, Jefferson and Madison had switched roles, with Madison now reentering the House to assume tactical control of the party battles after a brief retreat to Montpelier, and Jefferson leaving the battlefield to establish strategic headquarters for the Republican Party at Monticello. As it turned out, this was a more suitable arrangement, since Madison was better at the day-by-day infighting and Jefferson better at formulating grand strategy from afar. If there was any doubt who was in charge, Madison resolved it in a letter in the fall of 1794. “I shall always receive your commands with pleasure,” Madison wrote, “and continue to drop you a line as decisions come up.” The Federalists were now correct to regard Madison as “the General” and Jefferson as “the Generalissimo” of the Republican Party.44
During what proved to be Jefferson’s three-year interlude at Monticello, the muscles and ligaments of an organized opposition calling itself the Republican Party grew in strength, chiefly by developing candidate slates at the state level and feeling freer to operate in the open as a viable and more confidently legitimate alternative to the Federalists. It helped that Jefferson was no longer inside the tent, an awkward location that had made a covert style almost mandatory. Freneau’s National Gazette was replaced as the main Republican newspaper by Benjamin Franklin Bache’s Aurora, which enjoyed a larger circulation and a more flamboyantly partisan editorial policy that went so far on one occasion as to accuse Washington of being a would-be Benedict Arnold during the War for Independence.
During this extended moment, when the very idea of a party system was evolving toward grudging acceptance, if for no other reason than the political culture of the infant republic could find no more palatable way to create an outlet for controversy, three political crises rocked the national government. Although the Republicans, once again, ended up losing each of the arguments, the Federalists paid a price for each of their victories, and the deeper issues separating the two sides became considerably clearer.
The first crisis, which crested in the spring of 1794, came when the British navy began scooping up American merchant ships on the high seas as a part of its naval blockade of France. This posed a dilemma for the government that would recur in 1812, then again in 1916. To wit, when Europe is at war and the United States declares its diplomatic neutrality, how can she sustain commercial relationships with the warring nations without being drawn into the European conflict? As it turned out, this was an inherently insoluble problem, and the Federalists implicitly acknowledged that frustrating fact by offering no workable solution other than hollow protests against British policy.45
The Republicans, on the other hand, thought they had a solution. Madison was the chief architect of the plan, which was to declare an embargo on all trade with Britain and France. Looking backward, this represented a new version of the old nonimportation policy of the 1760s and 1770s. Looking forward, it represented an early version of the Embargo Act of 1807. The core idea in all instances was to use America’s economic leverage to starve the European powers, most especially Great Britain, into submission. The chief flaw in the plan, which Hamilton was at pains to point out, was that the United States lacked the economic leverage to make it work. Over 75 percent of American trade was with Great Britain, but less than 10 percent of British trade was with America. Moreover, 90 percent of the revenues flowing into the Treasury Department came from customs duties, the vast majority from British imports. Therefore, an embargo was likely to bankrupt the American treasury while having only a minimal impact on the British economy.46
That fate was avoided in 1794, because Madison’s embargo bill could not make it through the Senate. In the course of the debate, however, two underlying reasons for the party split became clearer: first, Hamilton’s British-leaning version of neutrality was rooted in the recognition that the entire American economy depended on sustaining trade with Great Britain, and he was tone-deaf to any political arguments that threatened that connection; second, the Republican French-leaning version of neutrality was rooted in political and ideological affinities with the principles of the French Revolution, and Madison was equivalently tone-deaf to the disastrous economic implications of that preference. Conspicuous by his absence in this unresolved debate was Jefferson, who genuinely relished being embargoed at Monticello, where the rattle of political gunfire in Philadelphia remained a distant echo. A severe attack of rheumatism even forced him to be carried to his harvest fields in a wheelbarrow pushed by two of his most trusted slaves—not just a retired but a temporarily incapacitated Republican warrior.47
The second crisis was the so-called Whiskey Rebellion, which played out in the late summer and early fall of 1794. The source of the trouble was an excise tax on whiskey passed by the Congress to help pay off the federal deficit created by the assumption of the state debts. The tax fell most heavily on the farmers of western Pennsylvania, who transported and sold their grain crop in the liquefied form of whiskey to eastern markets. Their representatives in Congress had all voted against the tax, but it had passed the House by an easy majority. This raised an intriguing question: What happens when a regional minority, outvoted at the national level, refuses to recognize the legitimacy of that outcome and challenges the authority of the federal government to enforce the law?48
The rebels portrayed themselves as an updated version of the Sons of Liberty, protesting a tax just as vile as the Stamp Act. They also claimed fraternal ties with the French Jacobins, even setting up a mock guillotine at a rally outside Pittsburgh and warning that the leaders of any federal force that came after them would be executed as would-be aristocrats. The ideological breeding ground for the rebellion was a series of local organizations styling themselves the Democratic-Republican Societies, all of which declared their allegiance to the Republican Party, indeed regarded themselves as the militant cutting edge of the reborn revolutionary ethos that the Republicans claimed to represent.49
Washington ordered the suppression of the rebels by an enormous demonstration of federal power, in this case twelve thousand militia that Washington himself led westward from Philadelphia, the only occasion in American history when a sitting president commanded troops in the field. The mere approach of such a formidable force crushed the rebellion in an essentially bloodless campaign that enjoyed overwhelming popular support in the nation at large. Washington’s report to the Congress was greeted with thunderous applause, to include his reference to “the self-created societies” that wrapped themselves in patriotic rhetoric while, in truth, advocating treason.
For the Republicans it was a repetition of the Genet disaster on a larger scale. From Madison’s perspective the entire episode should have been seen as a flagrant display of military coercion reminiscent of British travesties in the 1760s and 1770s, with the rebels cast in the role of American patriots. Instead, another version of the American Revolution had prevailed, with Washington and the militia regarded as the second coming of the Continental Army and the rebels regarded as traitorous Tories. As Jefferson had done in the Genet affair, Madison did not allow his Republican convictions to prevent a thoroughly realistic calculation of Republican interests, which in this case meant quitting the wreck that was the rebel cause before it dragged the Republicans to the bottom.
Down at Monticello, Jefferson’s immersion in pastoral serenity allowed him to view this recent defeat with equanimity as another mere way station on the road to inevitable Republican ascendancy. “The time is coming,” he comforted Madison, “when we shall fetch up the lee-way of our vessel.” In the meantime, the only kind of thinking that captured his attention was his new crop rotation system and the splendid “almost tropical winter” in which there was less snow and ice “as would cool a bottle of wine.”50
Madison needed to accept the fact that, as Jefferson told him, he was now the designated leader of the Republican interest—Jefferson first wrote “the Southern interest,” then crossed it out and changed “Southern” to “Republican”—because there was absolutely no chance he would exchange the splendor of Monticello for the “splendid misery” of Philadelphia: “The little spice of ambition, which I had in my younger days,” explained Jefferson, “has long since evaporated…. The question is forever closed to me.”51
The third crisis, greater than the other two combined, accompanied the debate over the Jay Treaty in 1795–96. This proved to be a landmark decision in the history of American foreign policy and an equivalently significant precedent in clarifying the respective roles of the executive branch and the Congress in approving treaties. In the long run most historians have concluded that it was an extremely shrewd decision, for it created a British-leaning version of American neutrality that correctly foresaw the hegemony of the second British Empire and opted for the economic advantages of an Anglo-American alliance instead of the sentimental attachment to France.
Lacking our advantage of hindsight, however, public reaction to the Jay Treaty at the time was overwhelmingly negative. Jay later claimed that he could walk the entire eastern coast of the United States with his way lighted by his own burning effigies. A bit of historical background is necessary to understand the electromagnetic character of the controversy, its role in defining the sides of the party wars, and its influence in bringing Jefferson out of sanctuary at Monticello as the standard-bearer of the Republican Party.52
Briefly, late in 1794 Washington appointed Chief Justice John Jay to negotiate a treaty with Great Britain that had three objectives: to avoid the outbreak of war, which was looming because of Britain’s confiscation of American ships and seamen; to restore trade with Britain, which was a vital lifeline of the American economy and the chief source of revenue for the federal government; and to settle the outstanding provisions of the Treaty of Paris (1783), to include the removal of British troops from the northwestern frontier and the payment of debts to British creditors, about £2 million, mostly owed by Virginia planters.
Jay returned with a treaty in 1795 that achieved all these objectives, but at the price of endorsing a pro-English version of American neutrality, effectively acknowledging England’s naval and economic supremacy in return for the resumption of trade and the avoidance of war. The Americans promised to pay their outstanding debts in return for British evacuation of forts on the frontier. (The Tidewater planters, who preferred to finesse the whole debt issue, regarded this compromise as a betrayal.) Jay probably got the best deal possible, subsequently judged by most scholars as a noble bargain that kept us out of war and worked wonders for the American economy. But the treaty was initially perceived by most citizens as a cowardly condescension to British power and an embarrassing acceptance of neocolonial status within the reconfigured British Empire.
For our purposes, the diplomatic intricacies of the treaty are less important than the political debate it generated between the Federalists and Republicans. After suffering humiliation in the wake of the Whiskey Rebellion, the Republicans were looking for a winning issue, and the unpopularity of the Jay Treaty seemed like the ideal vehicle. They smelled a political opportunity even before Jay was appointed, when Hamilton was being considered as the choice and Republican opposition to the most hated Federalist of all persuaded Washington to go with Jay. An editorial in the Aurora then suggested, quite preposterously, that Jay was chosen because Washington wanted the chief justice abroad in order to prevent his own impeachment.
It bears noting, however, that apart from such brazenly partisan arguments on the Republican side, Jefferson honestly believed that America was betting on the wrong horse in the European conflict. “I am convinced they [the French] will triumph completely,” Jefferson prophesied, citing the liberating values of the French Revolution as invincible. History proved him wrong on this score, and Jefferson subsequently edited his correspondence to conceal his misjudgment for posterity, but in the crucible of the moment he sincerely believed that the Jay Treaty put the United States on the wrong side of history. His motives for opposing the Jay Treaty were more principled than partisan, though that distinction suggests a clear line in Jefferson’s mind that did not exist.53
But his arguments against the treaty were partisan in the extreme. Because the Federalists enjoyed a two-to-one advantage in the Senate, Jefferson developed the exotic argument that ultimate authority over all treaties actually resided in the House because it was the most representative branch of the government. The Constitution, of course, said nothing of the sort, but Jefferson apparently believed it ought to say that. He predicted that “the popular branch” of Congress was empowered “to rid us of this infamous act, which is really nothing more than a treaty of alliance between England and the Anglomen of this country against the legislature and people of the United States.” The more he thought about it, the more Jefferson concluded that presidential authority over foreign policy was inherently monarchical, so the proper remedy lay, as he put it, “in annihilating the whole treaty making power [of the executive branch], except as to making peace.”54
Whatever one thinks of Jefferson’s highly imaginative reading of the Constitution, the heated controversy over the Jay Treaty drew him out of his retirement mode. In late December of 1795 he took out a subscription to the Aurora, the main Republican newspaper, in order to follow the debate and began firing off letters to Madison, ordering him to respond to Hamilton’s defense of the treaty in the press. The “Generalissimo” was back in charge.55
This allowed Madison to assume his more comfortable role as tactician to Jefferson’s strategist. Jefferson’s imaginative constitutional interpretation required some serious tweaking, and no man on the planet was better at this than Madison. What Jefferson really wanted to say, Madison suggested, was not that all treaty-making power resided in the House, but rather that House control over all money bills allowed it to block all treaty provisions requiring federal funding. This was a more indirect but elegant way of achieving the same end, and it became the Republican strategy throughout the spring of 1796. A milestone in the history of political parties occurred in March, when the Republican members of the House met in caucus for the first time, thus making official and explicit what had previously been surreptitious and covert.56
Back at Republican headquarters at Monticello, Jefferson, now fully engaged, claimed that he had “never known the public pulse beat so full and in such universal union on any subject since the declaration of Independence.” Unlike the Genet fiasco and the Whiskey Rebellion conflict, this was a debate the Republicans could not lose, in part because the vast majority of the American people clearly opposed the Jay Treaty, in part because the Republicans had the votes in the House to kill it. But April lived up to its later reputation as the cruelest month, at least for the Republicans, most especially Madison, who was leading the floor fight in the House. On April 18 he informed Jefferson that “our majority has melted.” The vote was going to be extremely close because the “monocrats,” “Tories,” “monarchists,” and “fiscal party” were practicing their political witchcraft to cast a spell over “the people.”57
On May 1, 1796, Madison wrote Jefferson to deliver the dreadful news that the Jay Treaty had passed by a narrow majority (51–48). From a Republican point of view it was incomprehensible, and Madison, on the front lines throughout the debate, acknowledged that “this business throughout has to me been the most worrying and vexatious that I have ever encountered.” In fact, the defeat was so humiliating that Madison, like Jefferson before him, resolved to retire from the party wars and seek the solace of the bucolic life at Montpelier. “A crisis, which ought to have been managed as to fortify the Republican cause,” Madison lamented, “has left it in a very crippled condition.”58
Further removed from the political battlefield, and therefore more capable of detachment, Jefferson saw a silver lining in this dark cloud: “The Anglomen have at length got their treaty through,” he observed, “and so far have triumphed over the cause of republicanism. Yet it has been to them a dear bought victory.” Passage of the Jay Treaty would remain a liability for the Federalists for the simple reason that the vast majority of the citizenry despised the English. Whatever strategic calculation Hamilton and the Federalists made to justify an Anglo-American partnership, no matter how shrewd for long-range economic reasons it might become, any treaty with the British leviathan ran against the American grain.
Moreover, in this particular case it was abundantly clear that the Federalists had triumphed against the popular will for one reason. It all came down to one man: “They see that nothing can support them but the Colossus of the President’s merits with the people, and the moment he retires, that his successor, if a Monocrat, will be overborne by the republican sense…. In the meantime, patience.” Instead of panicking, all true Republicans needed to wait for Washington’s imminent retirement, which would then allow the natural forces to flow freely without his massive reputation to deflect them. “In the meantime,” Jefferson advised, “Republicanism must lie on its oars.”59
Madison recognized this as excellent advice, all the more persuasive because the bruising and losing battle over the Jay Treaty had left him so fatigued that any recommendation of rest had the immediate ring of truth. But before he retreated to Montpelier, he felt obliged to dispense one piece of advice of his own to Jefferson. It was the kind of intimate message best delivered in person, or “best reserved for some other occasion, perhaps for the latitude of a free conversation.” But whenever the proper occasion presented itself, “you ought to be preparing yourself,” he wrote Jefferson, “to hear truths which no inflexibility will be able to withstand.” The inescapable truth was that, whether he liked it or not, the Republicans fully intended to make him their candidate for the presidency the following fall.60
A FORTUNATE FALL
MULTIPLE CONVERSATIONS, all unrecorded, had obviously been occurring within the Republican camp throughout the spring of 1796. Even earlier, during the preceding fall, Aaron Burr had visited Jefferson at Monticello to discuss New York’s electoral votes in the next presidential election. But while the competition between two political parties was now taken for granted, none of the institutionalized hallmarks of a modern two-party system—political primaries, nominating conventions, orchestrated campaigns—had yet been born. So the manner in which Jefferson’s candidacy had been decided—perhaps “decided” is not quite the correct word, for it more accurately “happened”—is just as impossible to recover as all those unrecorded conversations that produced it.
The selection of Adams on the Federalist side had long been a foregone conclusion, since he had been waiting in the wings as vice president, at times somewhat impatiently, for eight years. According to Madison, Jefferson’s selection on the Republican side was just as foreordained despite his Ciceronian vows of retirement. He was universally regarded as the titular leader of the Republican Party, so obviously that no votes needed to be taken. He also possessed impeccable revolutionary credentials, still an essential prerequisite that Adams could claim with equivalent luster. So in this highly improvisational and rather surreptitious fashion, by the summer of 1796 all the newspapers concurred that the successor to the irreplaceable Washington was going to be either Adams or Jefferson.
One of the beauties of what we might call stealth-styled politics is that it never required Jefferson to acknowledge his candidacy to others or even to himself. All his statements, in fact, reiterated his deep distaste for the slings and arrows of political life: “I have no ambition to govern men,” he declared, “no passion which would lead me to delight to ride in a storm.” He was in a kind of Jeffersonian zone, denying any interest in public office, refusing to acknowledge that Madison was promoting his candidacy and counting electoral votes on a state-by-state basis.
Madison recognized this denial mechanism right away, and decided not to have any direct contact with Jefferson throughout the summer of 1796 in order to avoid a conversation that might confront Jefferson with the political facts. “I have not seen Jefferson,” Madison explained, “and have thought it best to present him no opportunity of protesting to his friend against being embarked in this contest.” Madison’s calculated discretion allowed Jefferson to claim with total sincerity (e.g., “On my salvation I declare it”) that he was utterly oblivious to the campaign being mounted on his behalf.61
As bizarre as such behavior might seem to us, at the time it represented only a slight extension of long-standing political etiquette. Washington had engaged in similar denials in the first presidential election. Anyone who actively campaigned for political office in the late eighteenth century was considered unworthy to serve, because the act of promoting oneself was regarded as a statement of personal ambition at odds with the qualities required for public service. To be sure, Jefferson carried this etiquette to a new level of purity by refusing even to recognize his own candidacy. (Washington had refused to talk about it, but never claimed he was unaware of it.)
While in part a function of the multitracked Jefferson psyche, the denial syndrome also reflected the prevailing unease with the partisan character of a two-party system, which defied the entire classical tradition of political leadership, which was resolutely bipartisan. In that sense Jefferson’s psychic agility during the summer of 1796 was symptomatic of a larger form of evasiveness, since party politics retained the stigma of moral failure and could flourish only in a political atmosphere where no one candidly acknowledged what they were doing.
While Jefferson focused on his drainage ditches and vetch crop at Monticello, Madison was in regular contact with Republican operatives in each state, focusing primarily on the key states of New York, Pennsylvania, and South Carolina, counting the prospective electoral votes. As the voting proceeded and the returns began to come in, Madison wrote in code to Jefferson, predicting a very close contest that Adams would win by a whisker: “You must reconcile yourself to the secondary as well as the primary station, if that should be your lot.” (In an electoral system that did not foresee political parties, voters chose two candidates rather than a party ticket of two candidates, and the runner-up became vice president.) Madison apparently worried that Jefferson might reject the vice presidency, sending another coded letter pleading, “You must not refuse the station which is likely to be your lot…. You must not withdraw yourself.”62
Jefferson’s response seemed to confirm that his Ciceronian pose of political indifference was more than just a pose. “I am unable to decide in my own mind whether I had rather have it or not have it,” he confessed to Madison about the vice presidency. But if there should be a tie, he wanted it known that Adams deserved to win: “I am his junior in life, was his junior in Congress, his junior in the diplomatic line, his junior lately in the civil government.” He wrote Adams in the same vein, acknowledging his superior claim to the presidency by right of seniority and reiterating his lack of political ambition: “I have no ambition to govern men,” he explained. “It is a painful and thankless task.” If he had to serve, and he preferred not to do so, the vice presidency was actually preferable because it would allow him to spend more time back at Monticello. In the meantime, he would brush up on his knowledge of parliamentary procedure so as to perform his inconsequential duties as president pro tem of the Senate.63
This was a classic Jeffersonian assertion, simultaneously sincere and misleading. For beneath the heartfelt expressions of generosity toward Adams, Jefferson harbored a calculated and ultimately correct diagnosis of the impossible burdens that would befall anyone who succeeded Washington, who enjoyed his customary good fortune, as Jefferson put it, “to get off just as the bubble was bursting, leaving others to hold the bag.” When the Adams electoral victory became official (72–69), Jefferson expressed relief: “I know well that no man will ever bring out of that office the reputation which carries him into it…. This is certainly not a moment to covet the helm.” Given the cascade of domestic and foreign problems sure to land on Washington’s successor, best to let Adams and the Federalists bear the brunt of the inevitable political fallout. The Republicans, in effect, had been lucky to lose.64
Jefferson was thinking like a savvy party leader at this propitious moment, but Adams, who fully recognized what might be called “the shadow of Washington” problem, was still thinking in bipartisan terms. He sent out feelers indicating his instinct to appoint Madison as the American ambassador to France, a bipartisan gesture that Madison regarded as disingenuous, claiming Adams must have known that he would decline the offer. Ultimately the post went to another staunch Republican, James Monroe, who conducted himself accordingly as a kind of American version of Genet in Paris, urging opposition to all the Adams efforts at neutrality.
But the biggest bipartisan effort was aimed at Jefferson. Through several intermediaries Adams let it be known that he wished to give Jefferson full cabinet status, an equal say in foreign policy, and enhanced political status just short of co-president. By bringing the chief Republican leader into the councils of power, Adams hoped to end the partisan warfare and put together a political coalition that stood at least a fighting chance to replace the irreplaceable Washington.65
Jefferson’s first reaction was conciliatory. He drafted a poignant letter to Adams, recalling their previous battles against British tyranny, reiterating his honest conviction that Adams deserved the presidency more than he. This left the door open for an Adams-Jefferson coalition presidency. But before he sent the letter he decided to run it past Madison, who advised that Jefferson’s long-standing friendship with Adams must not take precedence over the long-term interests of the Republican Party. “Considering the probability that Mr. A’s course of administration may force our opposition to it from the Republican quarter,” Madison wrote, “there may be real embarrassments from giving written possession to him, of the degree of compliment and confidence which your personal delicacy and friendship have suggested.”66
Madison was telling Jefferson that he had to choose between his affection for Adams and his loyalty to the Republican agenda. This was not an easy choice for Jefferson, who reminded Madison that “Mr. A. and myself were cordial friends from the beginning of the revolution.” Even though they found themselves on different sides in the party wars of the 1790s, Jefferson never doubted Adams’s integrity. He also wanted Adams to know that he was genuinely relieved when Adams won the election, “and have not a wish that he stands in the way of.” But he agreed with Madison that sending the letter to Adams would be a political mistake. His ultimate allegiance must be to the Republican cause, which must oppose every Adams policy from outside rather than attempt to influence it from the inside.67
THE ELECTION OF 1796 is a fitting end point for our telling of the story—if not quite the beginning of the end, at least the end of the beginning. The process that began in 1791 with the “botanical excursion” up the Hudson by Jefferson and Madison might be regarded as the conception, and the election of 1796 as the birth of an opposition party with an alternative political agenda, a different understanding of what the American Revolution meant, a viable candidate for the presidency, and a conviction that partisan politics was an unavoidable and even essential ingredient in America’s republican experiment. Though Adams never grasped the point, and his resistance was a noble but naive refusal to abandon the classical model that proved suicidal for his presidency, Jefferson was clairvoyant when he predicted that, from this time forward, “the president of the United States will only be the president of a party.” In effect, the party pattern was set.68
Finally, there is an admittedly idiosyncratic but particularly poignant reason for selecting this moment to end our story. On the evening before the Adams inauguration, Adams and Jefferson joined Washington at the presidential mansion, then walked down Market Street together. By then Jefferson had made it clear that he was unwilling to work alongside Adams in a coalition presidency. And Adams had learned that his entire cabinet threatened to resign if Jefferson were included in their deliberations. They parted company at Market and Fifth, only a few blocks from the apartment where Jefferson had drafted the Declaration of Independence that Adams had so eloquently defended in the Continental Congress. As Jefferson recalled it, “We took leave and he never after that said one word to me or ever consulted me as to any measure of the government.” It was the end of an era.69
The era destined to replace it made partisanship, as embodied in rival parties, the new norm, and the bipartisan ideal of Washington and Adams became a political relic to be saluted and celebrated, but only as a nostalgic irrelevancy. Unlike Washington and Adams, Jefferson understood where history was headed, though even he found it difficult to acknowledge his de facto role as a party leader. The binary categories through which he filtered experience remained defiantly moralistic—Whig versus Tory, good versus evil, white versus black. And within that scheme the Federalists remained the evil empire that he hoped “to sink…into an abyss from which there shall be no resurrection of it.” In that sense, Jefferson took party politics to the doorway of modernity, but he himself could not walk through it.70
CHAPTER SIX
The Purchase
THE STORY OF the Louisiana Purchase has as many twists and turns as the Mississippi itself, and the biggest challenge in retelling it is to avoid getting caught in the diplomatic backwaters, where clerks chatter endlessly about minutiae. But just as sure as the Gulf of Mexico is the final destination of the Mississippi, the story of the Purchase flows inevitably toward a providential sense of American destiny as a continental empire, what Jefferson, with unintentional irony, called “an empire of liberty.”1
Even the all-time American champion of historical irony, Henry Adams, acknowledged that the Louisiana Purchase, in the end, was a triumph on a par with the winning of independence and the adoption of the Constitution. Frederick Jackson Turner, the founding father of western history, also described the Purchase as the formative event in the national narrative: “Having taken the decisive stride across the Mississippi, the United States enlarged the horizon of her views, and marched steadily forward to the possession of the Pacific Ocean. From this event dates the rise of the United States into a position of world power.”2
At least on the face of it, this triumphal tone seems wholly justified. For $15 million—the rough equivalent of $260 million today—the United States doubled its size, adding what is now the American midwest to the national domain, all the land from the Mississippi to the Rocky Mountains and the Canadian border to the Gulf of Mexico. At less than 4 cents an acre, the Purchase became the most lucrative real estate transaction in American history, easily besting the purchase of Manhattan for $24. Without quite knowing it, the United States had acquired the most fertile tract of land of its size on the planet, making it self-sufficient in food in the nineteenth century and the agrarian super-power in the twentieth.3
There was more. Politically, the Louisiana Purchase was the most consequential executive decision in American history, rivaled only by Harry Truman’s decision to drop the atomic bomb in 1945. The fact that the man who made the decision, Thomas Jefferson, was on record as believing that any energetic projection of executive power was a monarchical act only enhanced the irony. Strategically, the Purchase opened a new chapter in American national security by removing, in one fell swoop, all British and French imperial ambitions in North America.
Spain remained the only European power blocking American expansion to the Pacific, and Spain was not so much a threatening power as a convenient presence, in effect a holding company awaiting an American takeover at the appropriate time. Although the term “manifest destiny” had not yet been coined, the Purchase made the idea itself another one of those self-evident Jeffersonian truths. A colossal and fully continental American empire was now almost inevitable. If the Mississippi ends at New Orleans and the Gulf of Mexico, the story of the Purchase (at least its triumphal version) ends at the Pacific.4
As befits an epic, there is an all-star international cast. On the American side, there are Thomas Jefferson and James Madison, working their collaborative magic again, this time on the foreign policy front. The Parisian delegation is headed by James Monroe, perhaps the most loyal Jefferson protégé of all, and Robert Livingston, a member of New York’s baronial elite who actually sealed the deal. On the French side, no less a star than Napoleon Bonaparte heads the bill, already the most famous and feared man in the world, described by Henry Adams as “Milton’s Satan on his throne of state.” His supporting cast is led by Charles-Maurice de Talleyrand-Périgord, simultaneously the most brilliant and unscrupulous diplomat in Europe, the kind of man who considered Machiavelli naive. Finally, the supporting cast includes the greatest black leader of the age, Toussaint L’Ouverture, the ex-slave turned “black Spartacus” of Santo Domingo, without whom the Purchase would never have happened.5
Unfortunately, the various versions of the story have all been driven by the simplistic urge to assign credit to one person or another. Most of Jefferson’s biographers describe his management of the diplomacy as a tour de force, on a par with his inspirational role as author of the magic words of the Declaration of Independence. Other historians claim that Napoleon was the major player, that he, rather impetuously, “threw the province” at Jefferson and the American negotiators, that they “caught it and held it, and share between them equally—whatever credit there was.” Alexander Hamilton, not one disposed to acknowledge Jefferson’s brilliance, insisted that the story of the Purchase was really a tale about dumb luck. “Every man possessed of the least candor and reflection,” observed Hamilton, “will readily acknowledge that the acquisition has been solely owing to the fortuitous concurrence of unforeseen and unexpected circumstances, and not to any wise or vigorous measures on the part of the American government.”6
Though blatantly partisan, Hamilton’s assessment does have the virtue of its anti-Jefferson prejudices, for it calls attention to the multiple ingredients in the diplomatic equation beyond any single player’s control. In that sense the Louisiana Purchase was like the perfect storm in which European clouds, Caribbean winds, and North America’s prevailing westerlies converged in one place at one time. Jefferson’s genius was to seize that time, to recognize that acquiring an empire required an imperial president. Given the peaceful way the Purchase occurred, it might be more accurate to think of it as the perfect calm, and of Jefferson’s greatest diplomatic talent as the patience to stand still while history formed around him.
Given the triumphal tone of most histories of the Purchase, and the somewhat silly scramble to assign credit for the triumph, it is curious that Jefferson himself made a point of not listing it on his tombstone as one of his proudest achievements. Nor did he list his presidency, in which the Purchase was unquestionably his singular accomplishment. As we shall see, there were several reasons for this omission, and modesty was not one of them.
Perhaps the best way to put it is that there is a tragic as well as triumphal version of the story. As one version moved gloriously and inexorably toward the Pacific, the other moved ominously and just as inexorably toward the Civil War, whose immediate cause was the debate over slavery in the territory Jefferson had done so much to acquire. Indeed, the tragedy was double-barreled, since the Louisiana Purchase also proved to be the death knell for any Indian presence east of the Mississippi. And since the failure to end slavery and the failure to preserve and protect the indigenous peoples of North America were the two great stains on the legacy of the founding generation, the fact that the Purchase locked these failures into place was not an achievement Jefferson wished to advertise.
We could begin the story around 15,000 B.C., with the retreat of the glacial ice that formed the Mississippi Valley. But since we are doing history rather than geology, a more appropriate starting line is March 6, 1801, as Jefferson ascended to the presidency after one of the most controversial elections in American history. In his inaugural address, destined to become one of the best in the genre, he outlined the principles that would guide him, which were essentially the same principles that had shaped the agenda of the Republican Party over the past decade: “A wise and frugal government which…shall not take from the mouth of labour the bread it has earned” a reduction of the national debt, made possible by a slashing of all federal budgets and a transfer of all domestic policies to the states; an innocuous and almost invisible executive branch, rendered even more inconspicuous by Jefferson’s decision to file all presidential correspondence with the relevant cabinet officers in order to eliminate even a presidential paper trail. These were “the ancient Whig principles,” the values of “pure republicanism” that the Federalists had betrayed, what Henry Adams called “the strange hymn” that Americans “had learned to chant with their chief.” These were the cherished principles Jefferson proclaimed. He was about to violate every one of them.7
JEFFERSONIAN VISTAS
ALTHOUGH JEFFERSON never traveled further west than the Natural Bridge in the Shenandoah Valley, he shared with most Virginians, including Washington, the keen sense that Europe was the past and the American west was the future. The portico at Monticello faced west, just as the piazza at Mount Vernon faced the Potomac, which both men misguidedly believed to be the providentially placed water route over the Alleghenies into the interior, linking with the Ohio and then flowing into the Mississippi Valley. (The Mississippi, of course, was the mother lode, as Madison once put it, “the Hudson, the Delaware, the Potomac, and all the navigable rivers of the Atlantic states, formed into one stream.”) This early version of “Potomac fever” proved to be a hallucination—providence had somehow failed to provide a navigable water route from the Atlantic coast to the interior—but this inconvenient fact did little to deflect the westward flow of Jefferson’s thinking, which, as it turned out, was even more grandiose than Washington’s.8
A few months after he took office, Jefferson shared his vision with James Monroe, then serving as governor of Virginia: “It is impossible not to look forward to distant times,” Jefferson observed, “when our rapid multiplication will…cover the whole northern, if not the southern continent with a people speaking the same language, governed in similar forms, and by similar laws; nor can we contemplate with satisfaction either blot or mixture on that surface.” By “blot or mixture” Jefferson did not mean Native Americans, who could be assimilated if only they abandoned their tribal mores for the more confined space required by farming. (If they refused to do so, well, that was their choice, for which they must suffer the tragic consequences.) The prospective blots were the blacks, who could not be assimilated and must be shipped back to Africa or to some location in the West Indies, where, in Jefferson’s view, “nature seems to have formed these islands, to become the receptacle of the blacks transplanted into this hemisphere.” It seems safe to say, then, that Jefferson’s pre-Purchase view of the American west was breathtakingly bold, presumptively imperialistic, and thoroughly racist.9
This Jeffersonian vision depended upon two crucial assumptions. At the time of his election, the census of 1800 revealed a total population of slightly more than five million, with about 500,000 residing west of the Alleghenies. Jefferson assumed that the western population would steadily swell and move the frontier gradually but inexorably forward to the Mississippi and beyond. Unlike Washington, he did not believe that this wave of settlers could or should be managed by the federal government. It was like a force of nature that must be allowed its own momentum. The lands to the west did not need to be conquered by armies, but rather occupied by settlers. In that sense, it was demography that made American destiny so manifest. The only role for government was to stay out of the way and allow the wave to roll westward.10
The second assumption was that the only European power with a substantial presence on the North American continent would be Spain. A map of the Spanish Empire in the Western Hemisphere in 1800 made Spain’s colonial empire appear gigantic, including Florida, the Gulf Coast, and all the land west of the Mississippi to the Pacific, not to mention Mexico and much of South America. But the map was deceptive in its grandeur because Spain was a hollowed-out imperial power, in decline since the defeat of the Spanish Armada in 1588.
By 1800 the treasury in Madrid was empty, the Spanish army and navy were harmless pretenders, and the once proud diplomatic corps was adept only at posturing. “Spain is the most proper European nation,” observed one American diplomat, “to possess a great empire with insignificance.” Jefferson concurred: “We consider her possession of the adjacent country as the most favorable to our interests,” he remarked, “and should see with extreme pain any other nation substituted for them.” His only fear was that the Spanish Empire was so weak that it would abandon its American colonies “before our population can be sufficiently advanced to gain it from them piece by piece.” Spain was like an elderly mother hen, sitting the nest until the Americans arrived to relieve her.11
Jefferson’s continental calculus was confounded by a message he received from Secretary of State Madison only three weeks after the inauguration. The American ambassador to Great Britain, Rufus King, reported reliable rumors circulating in London that Spain had signed a secret treaty, ceding fully half of her North American colonies to France. If true, this transformed the entire strategic chemistry in North America by replacing the most feeble European nation with what had become under Napoleon the most potent military power on earth. For several months Jefferson monitored reports from Europe, most of which tended to confirm that Napoleon fully intended to reestablish the French Empire in America. Jefferson could only hope they were untrue. “I am willing to hope,” Jefferson sighed, “as long as anybody will hope with me.”12
By the spring of 1803, all such hoping had become a sentimental extravagance, since the secret treaty ceding Louisiana to France had become the worst-kept secret in Europe. (Talleyrand, true to his duty and his reputation for duplicity, denied all the rumors as outrageous fabrications.) By April of 1803 Jefferson had decided that the time for hoping had ended and the time for action had begun.
Pushing the quite capable Madison aside, Jefferson chose to become his own secretary of state. “I cannot forbear recurring to it personally,” he explained to Robert Livingston, the American minister in Paris, “so deep is the impression it makes on my mind.” For the simple truth was that the French occupation of Louisiana would be an unmitigated calamity for the United States, constituting the greatest threat to American destiny since the Revolutionary War: “It completely reverses all the political relations of the United States and will form a new epoch in our political course…. There is on the globe one single spot, the possessor of which is our natural and habitual enemy. It is New Orleans.” Spanish control of New Orleans was not threatening, since—Spain being Spain—the outcome of a conflict was certain. But French possession was another matter altogether. “From that moment,” wrote Jefferson, “we must marry ourselves to the British fleet and nation.”13
This was an extraordinary statement coming from Jefferson, whose entire career as minister to France, secretary of state, and leader of the Republican opposition to the Jay Treaty had consistently favored France over Great Britain as America’s most reliable European ally. But he was prepared to reverse himself once France became a threatening presence on the North American continent and a formidable challenge to America’s demographic destiny.
Jefferson then made an extremely shrewd observation. On the face of it, a war with France was a suicidal venture, given the enormous discrepancy in military and economic resources. But all such assessments were irrelevant and misleading, “for however greater her force is than ours, compared in the abstract, it is nothing compared to ours, when to be exerted on our own soil.” If Napoleon attempted to establish a French Empire in America by force of arms, he would encounter the same dilemma as the British in the War for Independence, marching hither and yon among a hostile population over a space even more immense. Livingston was instructed to apprise the French that if they attempted to occupy the Louisiana Territory, they would suffer the same fate as the British, for space and numbers were both on the American side.14
Any European nation that threatened Napoleon in this fashion usually found itself defeated and occupied. But space—both the Atlantic Ocean and the sheer vastness of the American interior—was a priceless strategic asset that no European nation could match. (The only exception was Russia, as Napoleon would discover at considerable cost a decade later.) Jefferson practiced what has come to be called “back-channel diplomacy” by soliciting the assistance of a prominent French aristocrat, Pierre Samuel Du Pont de Nemours, to carry Livingston’s instructions back to Paris and then to quietly disseminate within the corridors of power the same threatening message conveyed to Livingston. “If France proceeds to possess New Orleans,” Jefferson told Du Pont, “we must marry ourselves to the British fleet and nation.” Though this had the clear ring of an ultimatum, Jefferson wanted Du Pont—and eventually Napoleon—to know that he regarded war with France as a last resort. “You know how much I value peace,” he explained, “and how unwillingly I should see any event take place that would render war a necessary recourse.”15
Jefferson was utterly sincere on this score, since war, even a successful war, would completely destroy his domestic agenda of debt reduction and minimalist government. And an alliance with Great Britain would contradict every foreign policy principle he had ever championed. (It did not help that he regarded the entire British nation as the epicenter for global tyranny.) Indeed, it is entirely possible that Jefferson’s war threat was actually a bold bluff. (We can never know, because Napoleon never called it.) The preferred alternative for both sides, Jefferson informed Du Pont and Livingston, was a diplomatic resolution of the crisis. The United States was prepared to offer $6 million for the purchase of New Orleans and West Florida (the Gulf Coast from modern-day Pensacola to New Orleans). If Napoleon accepted this offer, the United States was, albeit reluctantly, prepared to accept French possession of the entire Louisiana Territory west of the Mississippi.
This was a huge concession. It is likely, though not certain, that Jefferson regarded any French presence in Louisiana as temporary. Once the advancing wave of American population reached the Mississippi, or, as Jefferson put it, “once we have planted such a population on the Mississippi as will be able to do their own business,” the French position would become untenable because the Americans could mobilize an overwhelming force “without the necessity of marching men from the shores of the Atlantic 1500 or 2000 miles hither.” Again, space, and more specifically space that was “peopled,” was a unique and incalculable strategic advantage that Jefferson was prepared to exploit. But such scenarios all lay in the future. For now, the immediate crisis required a peaceful resolution. It was now in the hands of our man in Paris, Robert Livingston.16
NAPOLEONIC VISIONS
WHEN LIVINGSTON presented his credentials to the French court, he was asked if he had ever been to Europe. He responded that he had not, and Napoleon purportedly said, “You have come to a very corrupt world.” As a five-year veteran of the Parisian court scene, Jefferson worried that Livingston would come off as the innocent American, lost within the intrigues of the French salon set and the sinister plottings of the inscrutable Talleyrand. “Any American contending by stratagem against those exercised in it from the cradle,” Jefferson worried, “would undoubtedly be outwitted by them.” For nearly a year Jefferson and Madison kept fretting that the entire future of the American republic rested in the hands of an inexperienced diplomat, a man whose confidential correspondence was often incomprehensible because of his improper use of the cipher and who carried the final burden of not being a Virginian.17
They need not have worried. It was true that Livingston was no confidence man in the European diplomatic mode, but he was a man of supreme confidence who could more than hold his own in sessions with Talleyrand, who found him strangely immune to duplicity, the kind of animal who could not be trapped because he always kept himself out of range. Throughout his career, Livingston had demonstrated a surprising knack for showing up where history was happening: serving with Jefferson on the committee that drafted the Declaration of Independence; delivering the oath of office to Washington in his capacity as chancellor of New York; and now representing the United States at a moment when and in a place where the destiny of the infant nation for the foreseeable future would be decided. His baronial estate on the Hudson, called Clermont—Robert Fulton named the first steamboat after it—gave him an aristocratic pedigree as secure as any Virginia grandee, and his survival within the clannish politics of New York gave him an innate sense of political agility. In retrospect, when all was said and done, it is difficult to imagine anyone better equipped or anyone who could have performed his duties more adroitly.18
Livingston’s first achievement was to confirm that the rumors were in fact true, that Spain had signed a secret treaty ceding the Louisiana Territory to France in return for several duchies in northern Italy, including Parma and Tuscany. (The more precise term is “retrocede,” since France had once claimed the territory and even named it after the French king.) Talleyrand was the mastermind of the deal, which envisioned the recovery of the French Empire in North America, a place where French debtors, criminals, and derelicts could be shipped, much like Great Britain subsequently regarded Australia, and a permanent barrier, what Talleyrand called “a wall of brass,” to block American expansion or any British effort at reestablishing a dominant presence on the American continent. Finally, Louisiana would become the granary or breadbasket for the highly lucrative French colonies in the Caribbean, chiefly Santo Domingo and Guadeloupe.19
It was a vision of Gallic grandeur in the Western Hemisphere appropriately Napoleonic in scope. But in order for the vision to be realized, Livingston reported, the French plan for its implementation needed to work like clockwork. The first ingredient in the plan, maintaining secrecy about the treaty, had already proven impossible. The second ingredient called for the dispatch of a massive French expeditionary force of over 25,000 troops to Santo Domingo, where they would crush the ongoing slave insurrection under the charismatic ex-slave Toussaint L’Ouverture and restore slavery to the island. Then, the third ingredient: the French troops would sail to New Orleans, garrison the city, occupy the west bank of the Mississippi, and present the Americans with a military fait accompli before they had time to mobilize. The man entrusted with the command of the expeditionary force was Charles Leclerc, one of France’s ablest officers, who also happened to be Napoleon’s brother-in-law. All this Livingston reported in code to Madison and Jefferson two months before Leclerc departed France.20
One might think that, upon hearing such news, Jefferson would have called for a substantial increase in the American army and a mobilization of the state militias. But he did neither. In fact, his budget requests for 1803 called for a reduction in the size of the army. He was prepared to run a high-stakes gamble against the odds that the French troops would get mired down in Santo Domingo and never make it to New Orleans. “What has been called a surrender of Toussaint to Leclerc,” he predicted, “I suspect will in reality be a surrender of Leclerc to Toussaint.” This proved to be an extraordinarily shrewd wager, but at the time it appeared to resemble a dangerous brand of wishful thinking.21
In the messy way that history happens, the congested diplomatic situation became even more complicated when a midlevel Spanish functionary in New Orleans declared the port closed to all American shipping. When news of this unexpected and startling development reached Washington in January of 1803, it produced a firestorm of protests against Jefferson’s aversion to military action. Senator James Ross of Pennsylvania demanded a call-up of fifty thousand militia, who would then march upon and seize New Orleans. Even Jefferson’s Republican supporters, not to be outdone, urged the raising of eighty thousand troops and then to “hold them in readiness to march at a moment’s warning.” Hamilton argued that there were two options: “Negociate and endeavor to purchase, and if this fails, go to war, or to seize at once on the Floridas and New Orleans, and then negociate.” The latter option, he believed, was demonstrably preferable, but required energy and decisiveness, and “for this, alas, Jefferson is not destined.”22
Still regarding war as a last resort, hopeful that the French troops in Santo Domingo would never reach Louisiana, and convinced that Madrid would soon overrule the decision to close the port of New Orleans to American commerce, Jefferson refused to move. But he did budge. He announced the decision to send James Monroe as his special emissary to join Livingston in Paris. Monroe, who was a former ambassador to France, would be given complete discretionary power to negotiate the purchase of New Orleans and the Floridas. This did not satisfy the saber rattlers in Congress, but it did answer critics who charged the president with the equivalence of criminal negligence in his response to events thus far. When Monroe indicated some reticence in accepting the assignment, Jefferson effectively ordered him to depart on the next ship. “The circumstances are such as to render it impossible to decline,” Jefferson observed, adding that “on the event of this mission depends the future destinies of the republic.” If he failed to make headway in Paris, Monroe was to proceed across the Channel to London and negotiate an alliance with Great Britain. And those instructions should be leaked to the French press in order to enhance his diplomatic leverage with Talleyrand and Napoleon.23
Meanwhile, back in Paris, Livingston was busy doing some leaking of his own. He distributed a memorandum to midlevel diplomats designed to expose the ludicrous lie that no secret treaty with Spain existed. He also revealed that France’s scheme to recover its North American empire was common knowledge throughout the capitals of Europe. Livingston then raised questions about the feasibility of the French plan, suggesting that it would drive the United States into the arms of Great Britain, that Louisiana would prove indefensible in the next round of the Napoleonic Wars, and instead of a strategic asset would turn out to be an economic and military albatross. Livingston’s leaks received reinforcement when the French press reported the extremely bellicose debates in the United States Senate—Livingston might have leaked these too—indicating that any putative French garrison in New Orleans would be confronted with a massive American military response.24
This was deft diplomacy of the highest order, but for the moment it made no difference because, as Livingston explained, Talleyrand remained obstinately wedded to the fiction that there was no secret treaty with Spain, so there was really nothing to negotiate. Then there was the Napoleonic problem: “There is no people, no legislature, no counsellors. One man is everything. He seldom asks advice, and never hears it unasked.” The so-called first consul of the French Republic was really the omnipotent emperor of the French Empire, a title made official one year later. Until he decided to abandon his plan for a recovery of France’s empire in North America, all diplomacy was essentially meaningless.25
CARIBBEAN CATASTROPHE
BECAUSE THE ENTIRE plan for reestablishing France’s presence in the Western Hemisphere depended upon Leclerc’s success in restoring French control over Santo Domingo, Napoleon assured that Leclerc’s expedition enjoyed massive military superiority—a first wave of 25,000 troops, to be followed by a second wave of the same size if necessary. Leclerc’s instructions were also brutally explicit. Upon landing his force, he should proclaim his support for Toussaint L’Ouverture and the black insurrectionaries, who had managed to seize control of the island and declare their own emancipation under the banner of “Liberty, Equality, Fraternity.” Once securely ensconced and once Toussaint was convinced that Leclerc was an ally, Leclerc should unleash a war of annihilation. A thousand bloodhounds from Jamaica would be provided to hunt down every black rebel, who should be hanged, drowned, decapitated, burned alive over coals, or, for ultimate dramatic effect, crammed in the backside with gunpowder and exploded. Then the infamous Code Noir, institutionalizing all these barbarities, should be restored and the entire black population returned to slavery. When this rather gory mission was accomplished—Napoleon estimated it would take six weeks—Leclerc should transport his troops to New Orleans, where he would soon be reinforced sufficiently to stave off all challenges to the French Empire in America.26
The first part of the scheme worked pretty much as planned. Toussaint and the rebel leaders allowed Leclerc’s force to land without opposition, though there were divisions in the rebel camp about the wisdom of this act of trust. Toussaint paid the ultimate price for trusting Leclerc, captured at a supposedly secure meeting, then shipped off to a dungeon on the Swiss border, where he died from starvation and exposure within the year. Before departing Santo Domingo, Toussaint warned Leclerc that his capture would make no appreciable difference in the outcome, because the French had no idea what they were up against.
Events soon proved Toussaint’s point. Once the black population of Santo Domingo realized that Napoleon’s plan called for their reenslavement, Leclerc’s mission became impossible. It was a matter of numbers. The black population, two-thirds of African birth and all former slaves, totaled 500,000. (There were another 30,000 mulattoes and 30,000 whites.) This meant that Leclerc’s army, even at its high point of nearly 40,000 troops, was outnumbered more than ten to one. Leclerc could not believe it when hundreds of black prisoners strangled themselves to death rather than return to slavery. Women and children laughed at their executioners as they burned to death. Meanwhile, Leclerc’s army was virtually annihilated by a combination of black reprisals, yellow fever, and malaria. In his last dispatch to Napoleon before his own death, Leclerc minced no words: “This colony is lost and you will never regain it…. My letter will surprise you, but what general could calculate on the mortality of four-fifths of his army.” It was a catastrophe for the French army, which kept pouring troops into the breach and eventually suffered over 60,000 casualties. For obvious reasons, no French expeditionary force ever made it to New Orleans.27
As the earthly embodiment of the all-or-nothing style, Napoleon immediately recognized that the debacle in Santo Domingo changed everything. In April of 1803 he apprised Talleyrand of his intention to sell the entire Louisiana Territory: “I renounce Louisiana,” he declared. “It is not only New Orleans that I will cede, it is the whole colony without any reservation. I know the price of what I abandon…. I renounce it with the greatest regret. But to attempt obstinately to retain it would be folly.” When warned by his advisors that his decision was likely to establish the foundation for a rising American empire, Napoleon dismissed the warning as too farsighted: “In two or three centuries the Americans may be found too powerful for Europe…but my foresight does not embrace such remote fears.” His immediate problem was gearing up for war with the current colossus, Great Britain.28
There was then the famous bath scene, where Napoleon lay in his tub, the water sprinkled with cologne, when his two brothers came in and accused him of impetuosity in deciding to sell all Louisiana. He lacked the authority to make such a huge decision without consulting the elected representatives of the legislature, they insisted, and when the debate in the legislature began, they intended to side with the opposition. “You will have no need to lead the opposition,” Napoleon replied, “for I repeat there will be no debate, for the reason that the project…conceived by me, negotiated by me, shall be ratified and executed by me, alone. Do you comprehend me?” The big decision had been made, and the only question that remained, best left to the diplomatic accountants, was how much money could be extracted from the Americans. Napoleon indicated that he would be satisfied with 50 million livres, or $12.5 million.29
Livingston was the only American in Paris who could make the big decision for the United States. Monroe had just landed in France, carrying full diplomatic authority, but it would take him several days to reach Paris, so Livingston decided to act on his own before Napoleon changed his mind. “The field open to us is infinitely larger than our instructions contemplated,” he wrote to Madison, but the opportunity “must not be missed.” Although the ultimate cost was sure to be much larger than he was authorized to spend, Livingston presumed that the sale of western land would yield revenues that more than made up the difference. He had to either exceed his instructions or allow the opportunity to pass. By the time Monroe arrived in Paris, Livingston had already committed the United States. All that remained was haggling over the price. On May 5, 1803, both sides agreed to the sale of the entire Louisiana Territory for 80 million francs, or $15 million. Napoleon got more than he expected and the Americans got an unexpected empire. Word of the Purchase reached Washington on July 3, 1803, so the celebration the following day coincided with the anniversary of American independence, thereby enhancing the prevalent sense of destiny in the air.30
A NOBLE BARGAIN
IN WHAT AMOUNTED to an eerily prescient act of anticipation, Jefferson had already decided to find out what lay within the immense region west of the Mississippi months before he bought it or even knew it was for sale. In January of 1803, as part of an innocuous bill establishing trading posts with Indian tribes on the Mississippi, he requested that Congress include a secret provision authorizing him to dispatch “an intelligent officer with ten or twelve chosen men” into the North American version of outer space. What became justifiably famous as the Lewis and Clark expedition, perhaps the greatest exploratory adventure in American history, actually began as a covert intelligence operation of dubious legality. Jefferson chose Meriwether Lewis, his private secretary, to lead the mission, which was described as “a literary and scientific pursuit” in order to conceal its real purpose: “The idea that you are going to explore the Mississippi has been generally given out,” Jefferson explained to Lewis. “It satisfies public curiosity and masks sufficiently the real destination,” which was in fact the Pacific Ocean. (In a far western version of his Potomac dream, Jefferson believed that providence must have placed a river route across the continent that Lewis could discover.) Lewis was already launched when Jefferson apprised him that he would now be exploring land that the United States actually owned.31
In August Jefferson retired for two months to Monticello, where his library contained more reliable maps of the American west than were available in the capital. As he hunched over these maps, it soon became apparent to him that locating the borders of the Purchase was an interpretive act. Back in Paris, Livingston was also looking at maps and conferring with Talleyrand about the boundaries of what he had just bought: “I can give you no direction,” Talleyrand said. “You have made a noble bargain for yourselves, and I suppose you will make the most of it.”32
Jefferson proceeded to do just that. His highly creative reading revealed that the eastern border of Louisiana was the Perdido River (near present-day Pensacola), so the United States had purchased West Florida (the current Gulf Coast). This imaginative interpretation later prompted Henry Adams to observe that Jefferson “was forced at last to maintain that Spain had retroceded West Florida to France without knowing it, that France had sold it to the United States without suspecting it, that the United States had bought it without paying for it, and that neither France nor Spain, although the original contracting parties, were competent to decide the meaning of their own contract.” Once unleashed, Jefferson’s expansive instincts roamed southwest to the Rio Grande, where he discovered that the Purchase included all of modern-day Texas.33
The Spanish, of course, regarded all such claims as outrageous. Indeed, the Spanish ambassador apprised Madison that the entire Purchase was illegal, since Napoleon and Talleyrand had offered their personal word to the Spanish king that they would never sell Louisiana to another country. This was unquestionably true, Madison replied, but wholly irrelevant from the American perspective, and he might have added that trusting the word of Napoleon or Talleyrand was the diplomatic version of believing in miracles. The deeper truth was that Spain was experiencing the frustrating fate that befalls a once great empire in decline, helplessly watching itself be dismembered.
The question of West Florida lingered on for months, eventually years, but from the very start Jefferson had decided that there was no need to risk war with Spain in pushing the American claims, because Spain’s inherent weakness assured that both of the Floridas and Texas would eventually, like ripe fruit, fall into the American lap, as he put it, “all in good time.” And though it took longer than Jefferson estimated, that is pretty much what happened.34
There is no evidence that Jefferson hunched over the Constitution with the same intensity that he hunched over maps, but there is considerable evidence that constitutional issues weighed heavily on his mind during the summer of 1803. Throughout the 1790s he had labeled the Federalists “monarchists” and insisted that any energetic projection of executive power violated republican principles. Now he had just performed the most aggressive executive action ever by an American president, a projection of executive authority that would stand the test of time as perhaps the boldest in American history. If one wished to acquire an empire, it turned out, one had to become an imperial president.
But Jefferson was extremely uncomfortable in any role that required him to exercise power conspicuously, no matter how worthy the cause. “The Executive,” he lamented, “in seizing the fugitive occurrence which so much advances the good of the country, have done an act beyond the Constitution.” He compared himself to the guardian of a young ward, in this case the infant American republic. “I thought it my duty to risk myself for you,” he explained, in effect placing his custodial duties above his own political principles.35
This was a plausibly pragmatic rationale, and one would be hard-pressed to find a single American historian over the next two hundred years who argued that Jefferson should have refused to seize the opportunity that Napoleon presented because of constitutional scruples. In fact, both Madison and Albert Gallatin, his extremely competent secretary of the treasury, tried to convince Jefferson that the Purchase fell within the treaty-making powers of the presidency, which meant it would be completely constitutional once ratified by three-fifths of the Senate. But Jefferson regarded that rationale as a vile Federalist doctrine that he and all devout Republicans, Madison included, had staunchly opposed when Hamilton deployed it to justify the Jay Treaty. For Jefferson, much more than a constitutional scruple was at stake. Limited executive power was the keystone of the entire republican (and Republican) edifice, the central tenet of his political religion. No matter how much grace his executive action conferred upon posterity, there was no getting around the blatant fact that it was a violation of his political creed, in effect a sin.
If we had taken Jefferson aside at this supercharged moment, we could have offered him a measure of consolation based on the advantages of hindsight. First, Jefferson’s political faith had taken shape as the ideology of an opposition party. As a weapon to wield against the Federalists, it enjoyed all the advantages that the American revolutionaries enjoyed in discrediting British authority in the 1770s. But once Jefferson and the Republicans rose to power the weapon became a liability, because it effectively rendered the federal government powerless in the domestic sphere and the executive branch the puppet of Congress in foreign policy. Jefferson was loath to face this fact, but republican government at the national level simply could not function if Republican political values were strictly enforced.
Second, looking forward instead of backward, Jefferson’s dilemma at the time of the Louisiana Purchase was a preview of coming attractions, most famously Abraham Lincoln’s expansion of executive authority during the Civil War and Franklin Roosevelt’s bold initiatives during the Great Depression. One of the beauties of the inherently ambiguous definition of executive power in the Constitution was that it could expand or contract like an accordion, making the music required in different historical contexts. Indeed, without the capacity to enlarge presidential power toward monarchical levels of authority, it is difficult to understand how republican government could effectively respond to any genuine crisis. In that sense, Jefferson might have seen himself as a political pioneer, the first but hardly the last president to exploit the ill-defined powers of his office when history required it.
However therapeutic such observations might have proved, they were obviously unavailable to Jefferson at the time. In between his expansive reading of the relevant maps, he devoted himself to the composition of a constitutional amendment, which he considered a somewhat clumsy but utterly essential companion to the treaty itself, indeed the only way to prevent the Louisiana Purchase from becoming a precedent for the kind of unfettered executive and federal power he had spent his whole career opposing. He went back and forth with Madison revising the drafts—and back and forth in his own mind about whether the constitutional amendment had to be ratified before the vote on the treaty or could come afterward. Gallatin tried to persuade him, again, that the cumbersome and time-consuming procedure for ratifying a constitutional amendment was unnecessary, and that the delay it entailed might put the entire Purchase at risk. But Jefferson remained adamant: “I think it will be safer not to permit the enlargement of the Union but by amendment of the Constitution.”36
The final draft of the amendment Jefferson submitted looks strange to modern eyes, because it did not propose any new legal or constitutional provisions at all. Instead, it merely reiterated that the Louisiana Territory, and Florida “whenever it shall be rightfully obtained,” could become parts of the national domain. But from Jefferson’s perspective, insistence on a constitutional amendment effectively laundered the Purchase through the ratification process, which required approval by two-thirds of both branches of Congress and three-fourths of the state legislatures. The first part of the ratification process, requiring approval by supermajorities in both houses of Congress, transformed the Purchase from an executive action into a joint executive and congressional action. The second part recognized the sovereignty of the states as equal partners in the Purchase, thereby preserving Jefferson’s compact theory of the Constitution.37
But Jefferson’s best-laid plans fell victim to dispatches from Livingston, who warned that Napoleon was having second thoughts about the treaty and that any delay on the American side would offer him the opportunity to back out. If forced to choose between losing Louisiana or abandoning his constitutional principles, Jefferson never hesitated. “I infer that the less we say about constitutional difficulties respecting Louisiana the better,” he wrote Madison, “and that what is necessary for surmounting them must be done sub silentio.” This meant moving the treaty through the Congress as quickly as possible, abandoning the idea of a constitutional amendment, and remaining silent about his constitutional reservations. “To lose our country by a scrupulous adherence to written laws,” he later observed, “would be to lose the law itself.”38
More accurately, it would have meant losing Louisiana itself. Always an optimist about the future and the judgment of “the people,” Jefferson consoled himself that “the good sense of our country will correct the evil of construction when it shall produce evil effects,” meaning the constitutional precedent he was setting would not become a precedent at all, a prediction that proved wrong.39
Ratification by the Senate was a foregone conclusion. Once that body was called into special session on October 17, the final vote (21–7) took only three days, and it probably would have occurred even sooner if procedural rules did not require three separate readings for any proposed treaty. Senator William Plumer of New Hampshire, who voted with the minority, somewhat caustically claimed that the treaty received less critical attention “than the most trivial Indian contract.” The debate, such as it was, took place under the shadow of doubt about Napoleon’s prospective change of mind. (Over in Paris, Monroe made a major contribution by ordering the transfer of $2 million of American stock to France, a down payment that rendered Napoleon’s withdrawal less likely.) Given the extraordinary opportunity to double the size of the nation, haggling over details seemed like negotiating with Saint Peter at the pearly gates after God had already admitted you to heaven.40
Though perfunctory, the debate was revealing in two senses. First, the New England Federalists, who opposed the treaty, questioned its constitutionality on the same strict-construction grounds that the Republicans had used against the National Bank and the Jay Treaty. And the Republicans, defending it, embraced the more expansive doctrine of implied powers (i.e., the “necessary and proper” clause) that the Federalists had deployed in those earlier controversies. In effect, both sides switched, suggesting that how one interpreted the Constitution was less a matter of principle than a function of one’s location in or out of power. Oddly, Jefferson actually agreed with the Federalists, but remained true to his vow of silence.41
Second, beyond the shifting sands of the constitutional terrain, the main Federalist argument was that this immense prize was in fact too immense. As Fisher Ames, the philosopher-king of New England federalism, so graphically put it, the great space to the west was really “a great waste, a wilderness unpeopled with any beings except wolves and wandering Indians.” Attempting to occupy it was “like sending a comet into infinite space.” New England’s apprehension, to be sure, was rooted in the fear that its own political influence would dwindle as the union expanded westward. But another part derived from its doubt that the United States could absorb such a massive area without overloading the still fragile republic beyond its capacity to govern, that the union itself would explode as it expanded.42
Jefferson dismissed such concerns as splendid examples of the pessimistic temperament one might expect from a region reared on the dark doctrines of Calvin. As he saw it, size was an American asset, not a liability: “The larger our association,” he argued, “the less will it be shaken by local passions; and in any view, is it not better that the opposite bank of the Mississippi should be settled by our own brethren and children, than by strangers from another family?” And why was the preservation of the union such an unquestioned priority anyway? “Whether we remain in one confederacy, or form into Atlantic and Mississippi confederacies, I believe not very important to the happiness of either part. Those of the western confederacy will be as much our children and decedents as those of the eastern, and I feel myself as much identified with that country in future time, as with this.”43
This was an astonishing statement, suggesting as it did that Jefferson did not worry about the assimilation of the Louisiana Territory into the United States because he thought about the process more dynamically, as part of a mutual transformation. The United States would not just integrate the west into the union; instead, the west would integrate the older states into a newer version of America. “By enlarging the empire of liberty,” Jefferson wrote, “we multiply its auxiliaries, and provide new sources of renovation, should its principles at any time degenerate in those portions of our country which gave them birth.” This was a truly inspirational way of thinking about the American west, and nearly a century later Frederick Jackson Turner would make it the centerpiece of his landmark interpretation of the transformative role of the frontier in American history.44
In 1803, however, Jefferson’s main goal was to disarm his Federalist critics by challenging their dreary depiction of the Louisiana Territory as some morbid combination of a monstrous weight and the forbidden fruit. It was, he insisted, a beckoning sky under which untold generations would keep rediscovering their own version of the American promise, the geographic equivalent of the Fountain of Youth.
AN IMPERIAL REPUBLIC
IN JEFFERSON’S pre-Purchase view of American westward expansion, the wave of settlers would move gradually but steadily across the continent, reach the Mississippi River in another one or two generations, then continue its march toward the Pacific, a process of “peopling” the far west that would probably take another century. The beauty of this gradualist vision was that demography would do all the work. The process did not need to be managed by government, which needed only to harvest the fruits of inevitable American occupation. Once the population of the new territories reached the requisite size, the Constitution specified that Congress could approve their admission as new states in the union on a par with all the existent states.
The Purchase altered these expectations by replacing a series of small sips with one gigantic gulp. And it suddenly presented the federal government with a massive management problem that could not await the arrival of a somewhat distant demographic wave. The questions were daunting: How should Louisiana be carved up? Who already lived there? What form of government should be installed in the new territories? How should the resident Indian tribes be treated? Most ominously of all, should slavery be permitted or prohibited? Some guidance was provided by Article III of the treaty, drafted by Livingston and Monroe: “The inhabitants of the ceded territory shall be incorporated in the Union of the United States and admitted as soon as possible according to the principles of the Federal Constitution to the enjoyment of all the rights, advantages and immunities of Citizens of the United States, and in the meantime they shall be maintained and protected in the free enjoyment of their liberty, property and the Religion they profess.”45
This seemed clear enough, and was obviously intended to preclude the possibility that Louisiana should be regarded as an American colony whose residents would be treated as subjects rather than fellow citizens. France, Spain, and Great Britain could have colonies, but the American republic, by definition, could not. This in turn meant that if the annexation of Louisiana created an American empire, as it quite clearly did, it was a highly unusual and historically unprecedented kind of empire. Jefferson’s rather poetical resolution of the nomenclature problem was to coin the term “empire of liberty.” This solved everything verbally but nothing politically.
The response of Congress to all the nettlesome questions posed by the Purchase was more prosaic. What was termed “enabling legislation,” passed in November of 1803, delegated all responsibility for federal policy in the Louisiana Territory to the president. If Jefferson was troubled by the constitutional implications of his executive action to make the Purchase, he should have been apoplectic about the unlimited authority granted him to implement it. John Quincy Adams, who was the only New England Federalist to vote for the Purchase, led the opposition—feeble as it was—against what he described as Congress’s abdication of responsibility, arguing that Jefferson was being granted more arbitrary power than George III ever enjoyed over the American colonies. Adams was always his most eloquent in lost causes, and he thoroughly relished the opportunity to propose that whatever Jefferson should decide for the current residents of Louisiana, it must be specified that they could not be taxed without their consent.
“With more boldness than wisdom,” Jefferson confessed, he had decided to draft the new constitution for the Louisiana Territory himself. He wished that fact kept confidential, he informed John Breckenridge of Kentucky, “because you know with what bloody teeth and fangs the federalists will attack any sentiment or principle known to come from me, and what black guardisms and personalities they make it the occasion of vomiting forth.” Jefferson was absolutely right to keep his authorship a secret, because his draft constitution proposed a wholly autocratic government and made Louisiana a de facto American colony. (The Federalist press would have had a field day quoting Jefferson’s own words in the Declaration back at him.) Even Madison acknowledged that “it will leave the people of that District for a while without the organization of power dictated by the Republican theory.”46
The entire government would consist of presidential appointees, a governor and a thirteen-person council, which Jefferson suggested be called “the Assembly of Notables” to provide an air of familiarity for the French-speaking residents nostalgic for the ancien régime. A year later, in November of 1804, a delegation from the Louisiana Territory traveled to Washington and presented a remonstrance, protesting their colonial status and lack of any voice in their own government. “Do the political axioms on the Atlantic become problems when transplanted to the Mississippi?” they asked rhetorically. Jefferson never responded, indeed refused even to meet with them. He confided to friends that it was an awkward situation, but the unvarnished truth was that “our new fellow citizens are yet as incapable of self-government as children.”47
Why Jefferson believed that is an interesting question. In a variety of other contexts, he had reiterated his faith in the capacity of ordinary Americans to understand their political interest more sensibly than their wealthier and better-educated superiors. Jefferson truly believed in the integrity of the ordinary citizenry, and in the inherent fraudulence of all political systems that arbitrarily relegated the common man to inferior status. Why, then, did he regard the roughly fifty thousand non-Indian occupants of the Louisiana Territory, most living in and around New Orleans, as unprepared for citizenship?
One rather revealing clue about his thinking on the score is the insertion of a single word in his proposed constitutional amendment for Louisiana that effectively amended Article III of the treaty. The treaty described the full range of rights enjoyed by “the inhabitants of the ceded territory.” Jefferson changed it to “the white inhabitants.” Strangely, no one in the Congress or the press remarked on the change at the time, so Jefferson was never forced to explain it. But it does seem plausible, indeed probable, that the Creole character of the residential population—blood mixed for generations among Spanish, French, African, and Native American residents—did not match the picture of American settlers that Jefferson saw in his mind’s eye. New Orleans was more like an extension of the Caribbean than a western outpost of the Atlantic coast, especially the black and mulatto population, some of whom were wealthy and socially prominent local leaders, and the mixed bloods that defied clear racial categories. Jefferson preferred binary racial distinctions: blacks and whites. New Orleans confounded his categories. It also did not help that the bulk of the residents—white, black, and mixed—spoke French.48
From the very start, Jefferson had envisioned the vast tract north of the Arkansas River all the way to the Canadian border as a huge Indian reservation that would, at least for the foreseeable future, be blocked from white settlement. At first glance, this had the look of an enlightened effort to protect Native American culture along the lines of the Knox-Washington initiative over a decade earlier. But Jefferson was not thinking primarily about creating an enclave for Indian tribes across the Mississippi. (Until Lewis and Clark returned from their exploratory adventure, neither Jefferson nor anyone else was quite sure about the size and location of the trans-Mississippi Indian tribes.) Instead, he envisioned the land north of the Arkansas River as a depository for the tribes of the Ohio Valley and southward, who were currently being overwhelmed by the demographic wave rolling over them.49
What came to be called Indian removal could be imagined before the Louisiana Purchase, but it could not be seriously contemplated, for the simple reason that there was no place where the eastern tribes could be relocated. Now there was. Even before the Purchase was finalized, Jefferson had urged governors and military commanders in the Ohio Valley and Mississippi Territory to sign supply contracts designed to drive the Indian tribes into debt in order to accelerate the pace of their impoverishment and desperation, thereby speeding their extinction or removal. “Should any tribe be foolhardy enough to take up the hatchet,” he instructed, their behavior should be used as a rationale “to seize the whole country of the tribe, driving them across the Mississippi as an example to others, and a furtherance of our final consolidation.”50
As a general rule, Jefferson seldom used the word “consolidation” positively. He customarily used it as an epithet to criticize the concentration of political power by the federal government under the Federalists. In this case, however, it referred to the establishment of complete white dominance east of the Mississippi, an inevitability that Jefferson could claim he did not cause, only facilitated.
The Indian homeland west of the Mississippi needed to be huge, because it would eventually have to accommodate all the eastern tribes. Jefferson preferred “Indian exchange” to “Indian removal,” arguing against all evidence that the eastern tribes “will be glad to cede us their country here for an equivalent there.” The American government could then sell off the vacated Indian land in parcels and “pay the whole debt contracted [to France] before it becomes due.” It was almost too good to be true. The Purchase had made Indian removal possible, and Indian removal would provide the revenue required to pay off the Purchase. From the Indian perspective, however, it was too true to be good, for the Louisiana Purchase sealed their doom east of the Mississippi. It is difficult to avoid the conclusion that Jefferson’s poetic phrase, like his draft of the Louisiana constitution, required amending. He had indeed created an “empire of liberty,” but for whites only.51
The triumphal and the tragic versions of the Louisiana Purchase were, therefore, joined at the hip from the very start. Or perhaps it is more accurate to say that they were linked together seamlessly in the depths and shallows of Jefferson’s famously elusive mind. The depths were truly and impressively deep: the strategic recognition of America’s demographic advantage over the major European powers on the North American continent; the parallel recognition that expanded executive power, despite his long-standing hostility toward its monarchical implications, was a latent constitutional weapon of incalculable value in a national crisis; the ability to move decisively when the shifting weather conditions in the diplomatic world presented a momentary once-in-a-lifetime opportunity.
On the shallow side, however, the list is also depressingly long: the inability to think about any racially mixed presence on the continent as anything other than a blot; the failure to recognize the opportunity presented by the Purchase to revisit the Native American question so as to avoid removal, rather than to exploit it in order to hasten it; the unwillingness to use this extraordinary occasion to promote the possibility of prohibiting the expansion of slavery into the Louisiana Territory. To be sure, it would have required an act of incredible leadership to have raised the forbidden question of slavery, leadership on a par with that demonstrated by Jefferson and the other founders in 1776 and 1787. Though it is somewhat difficult to believe, and the Virginia code of silence about “that species of property” meant that private thoughts and conversations on the subject never found their way into the written record, the evidence that has survived suggests that Jefferson never gave the matter any thought. If true, this was his greatest failure of all, and the tragedy that would come back to haunt his triumph with a vengeance.
THE MISSOURI EPILOGUE
HINDSIGHT HISTORY, sometimes called counterfactual history, is usually not history at all, but most often a condescending game of one-upmanship in which the living play political tricks on the dead, who are not around to defend themselves. At least on the face of it, to accuse Jefferson of failure in refusing to place the abolition of slavery in Louisiana on the political agenda would seem to commit the presentist fallacy in its most blatant form, imposing our own hindsight wisdom on a president trapped in his own time and no more capable of envisioning the Civil War than we are of predicting the effects of global warming.
Except that he was. Jefferson’s long-standing position was that slavery was incompatible with the republican values on which the American nation was based, a conviction of considerable credibility since he had composed the most lyrical and memorable statement of what those values were. During his brief time as a delegate to the Confederation Congress, he had proposed a bill, which lost by only one vote, for prohibiting the extension of slavery into all the territories, not just the Northwest Territory. And throughout his retirement years at Monticello, he repeatedly condemned slavery as a moral travesty, a violation of all that the American Revolution stood for, the one issue capable of destroying the republican experiment that he and his fellow founders had sacrificed so much to launch. In short, when it comes to the intrinsic evil of slavery, we are not imposing our superior modern sensibilities on an oblivious or time-bound and morally challenged predecessor. Jefferson understood just as fully as we do, indeed perhaps more so, that slavery was wrong as well as a permanent stain on the legacy of the entire revolutionary generation.52
Once we are absolved of the charge of judging him unfairly against our own superior standards, two questions present themselves: First, what opportunities did the Louisiana Purchase present to put slavery in the United States on the road to extinction? Second, why was Jefferson incapable of seizing those opportunities?
The answer to the first question is reasonably clear. The Louisiana Purchase provided the last realistic opportunity for the United States to implement a policy of gradual emancipation. Two things needed to happen: first, slavery in the Louisiana Territory must be prohibited and abolition made a condition for admission into the union; second, a portion of the enormous revenues destined to accrue to the federal government from the sale of western land must be set aside in a fund for the compensation of slave-owners south of the Potomac and east of the Mississippi, who would free their slaves on an agreed-upon schedule. Many freed slaves would probably remain as hired laborers, so the exploitation of a black underclass would not be ended by this policy. But slavery would. To the extent that ending slavery was primarily an economic problem, the Louisiana Purchase offered a viable solution.53
The answer to the second question is more complicated. Part of the explanation is that Jefferson came under no pressure from the Federalist opposition to make slavery in the Louisiana Territory an issue. It never came up in the admittedly perfunctory congressional debate over the treaty, and then the delegation of all authority over Louisiana to the executive branch short-circuited any subsequent debate at the federal level. The Federalist press did sustain its criticism of Jefferson on the racial front, recycling his remarks in Notes on the State of Virginia about black biological inferiority, gossiping about his putative sexual relationship with Sally Hemings, charging him with being “the Negro president” because the three-fifths clause had provided him with the electoral votes needed to win. But instead of making slavery in the Louisiana Territory a major item in their opposition, the Federalists opted to plot a secession of the northeastern states from the now vastly expanded union, a fateful and ultimately suicidal decision that left Jefferson free to act toward Louisiana with impunity while the Federalists self-destructed.54
We can be absolutely certain how Jefferson himself would have explained his refusal to block the spread of slavery into the trans-Mississippi territories because the issue eventually surfaced in 1819, when Missouri became the first territory acquired in the Purchase to petition for statehood, and Jefferson spelled out his position in considerable detail.
What came to be called the Missouri Question was triggered by an amendment to the bill admitting Missouri into the union that made the prohibition of slavery a condition of statehood. The question, of course, was hardly new; it had been lurking in the political shadows ever since the Louisiana Purchase. Jefferson’s position was that the issue ought to remain in the shadows or, shifting his metaphors, should be allowed to pass “like waves in a storm pass under the ship.” But as the debate in Congress heated up, and it became clear that this particular wave possessed the potential to capsize the entire ship of state, Jefferson unburdened himself. An old colleague from presidential days who visited him at Monticello described Jefferson as obsessed with the Missouri Question, gesturing dramatically as he walked his fields, warning that this was the one issue that could lead to civil war, the end of the republican experiment with self-government, eventually to “a war of extermination toward the African in our land.”55
In a justifiably famous letter to John Holmes, a congressman from Massachusetts, Jefferson claimed that the Missouri Question had aroused him “like a fire bell in the night, awakened and filled me with terror.” No man on earth wished an end to slavery more than he did, Jefferson insisted, and banishing slavery from the entire United States “would not cost me a second thought, if, in that way a general emancipation and expatriation could be affected,” meaning a removal of the freed black population back to Africa or some location in the Caribbean. But until a realistic plan to compensate slave-owners and remove the black population could be devised, to raise the slavery question was a treasonable act. At the moment, “we have the wolf by the ears, and we can neither hold him, nor safely let him go.” It was a deplorable and, at least as Jefferson saw it, an insoluble dilemma in which “justice is on one scale and self-preservation the other.” He concluded his letter to Holmes with the most pessimistic remark about America he ever made: “I regret that I am now to die in the belief, that the useless sacrifice of themselves by the generation of 1776…is to be thrown away by the unwise and unworthy passions of their sons, and that my only consolation is to be, that I shall not live to weep over it.”56
Biographers of Jefferson and historians of the period have frequently misread this letter, thinking that the “fire bell in the night” for Jefferson was slavery, when in fact it was the act of talking publicly about slavery. In our search for an answer to the question about Jefferson’s failure to prohibit the expansion of slavery into the Louisiana Territory, it seems clear that a big part of the answer is that Jefferson believed that doing so would provoke a debate akin to the debate over the Missouri Question, a destructive debate that might lead to civil war. He wished to extend the Virginia code of silence over the entire nation.
In that sense, Jefferson’s failure in 1803 to assume a leadership position on the issue of slavery in the territories was not an inadvertent act of negligence, but rather a conscious decision to avoid placing the nation on a road that he firmly believed led to the dismemberment of the union. Fifty years later, when Abraham Lincoln, rather ironically and misguidedly citing Jefferson as his role model, decided to go down the same road, the result was the Civil War, just as Jefferson had predicted.
There are two more pieces to the puzzle that the Missouri Crisis, like a flare in the night, helps to illuminate. As we have seen, Jefferson did not believe that he possessed the constitutional authority to make the Louisiana Purchase, but concluded that the opportunity was too extraordinary to miss merely because of constitutional niceties. Just as he had feared, however, the Purchase became the constitutional precedent for federal sovereignty over the territories, to include the question of slavery. When the southern delegates in Congress challenged the authority of the federal government to impose its will on Missouri, their opponents cited the precedent of the Purchase. John Adams, long retired at Quincy, relished the irony of it all: “That the purchase of Louisiana was unconstitutional or extra Constitutional I never had a doubt,” he remarked with bemused satisfaction, “but I think the Southern gentlemen who thought it Constitutional then ought not to think it constitutional to restrain the extension of slavery now.”57
If anyone had dared to ask Jefferson why he refrained from prohibiting slavery in the Louisiana Territory, he would have claimed that he lacked the constitutional authority to do so. But, and this was the rub that the Missouri Crisis rendered raw, he had exercised that very authority he disclaimed in making the Purchase itself. Like any successful political leader, indeed more than most, Jefferson was accustomed to having it both ways, and when his constitutional inconsistency was tossed back at him, he took refuge in his time-honored charge that the whole Missouri debate was a Federalist plot concocted by New Englanders, who cared not a whit about slavery or slaves but only about eviscerating him.
In an extremely revealing letter to Albert Gallatin in 1820, he simultaneously railed against this Federalist plot and confessed his utter dread at the constitutional precedent he had somehow set establishing federal control over slavery in both the territories and the states: “For if Congress once goes out of the Constitution to arrogate a right of regulating the conditions of the inhabitants of the States,” he warned, “its majority may, and probably will, next declare that the condition of all men in the United States shall be that of freedom; in which case all the whites south of the Potomac and Ohio must evacuate their States, and most fortunate those who can do it first.”58
This apocalyptic prophecy exposed the unspoken reason why Jefferson regarded any extension of federal authority over the states or territories as calamitous, for it would eventually lead to emancipation, which would then lead to racial war. No gradual emancipation plan, to include a plan that prohibited slavery in the territories, could proceed until arrangements were made to deport the free black population elsewhere, because Jefferson did not believe that blacks and whites could coexist peacefully. His most thorough assessment, made in 1824, estimated the total cost of relocating the 1.5 million slaves at $900 million, which was exactly sixty times the cost of Louisiana. This number was so daunting that, as Jefferson himself acknowledged, once you looked at it squarely, it was unnecessary to look at the emancipation question ever again. By his lights, then, there was no political solution to the slavery problem in the United States. And the ultimate reason why he did not step forward in 1803 to provide moral leadership, despite his rhetorical condemnations of slavery as a despicable disease, was that Jefferson believed that it was akin to an inoperable cancer, and that any effort by government to remove it would only end up killing the patient.59
The national debate over Missouri, especially the fact that he had established the constitutional precedent for federal action, deeply irritated Jefferson, and the fact that the debate also exposed the inherent hypocrisy of his own oft-stated desire to see slavery ended only made matters worse. Perhaps that is the best explanation for his final utterance on the issue, which was the bizarre claim that allowing slavery to spread into the territories was the best way to extinguish it. He called this idea “diffusion,” arguing that “diffusion over a greater surface would make them [slaves] individually happier, and proportionally facilitate the accomplishment of their emancipation.” When Adams learned that his old friend and rival had embraced the doctrine of diffusion, he observed that Jefferson had temporarily lost his mind, since he had somehow convinced himself that allowing a cancer to spread through the body politic would diminish its lethality. There is no rational way to explain Jefferson’s belief in diffusion, except as the desperate effort to put a good face on his failure, or perhaps as a romantic hope that slavery would migrate to the west, then simply disappear in the vastness of boundless space.60
It is a sad, even pathetic, end to the story of the Louisiana Purchase, which explains why Jefferson never wanted it placed on his tombstone. There were, it turned out, some self-evident truths of the darker sort that Jefferson had neglected to mention in the Declaration of Independence. One was that blacks and whites could never live together in harmony. Another was that the way of life of the Native Americans was doomed to extinction. Yet another was that slavery defied resolution and any effort to do so would lead to a very bloody civil war. These were not the kind of convictions calculated to buoy the spirits. Tragedy trumped triumph in the story of the Purchase for several reasons, but mostly because race more than space defined the outer limits of Jefferson’s political imagination.
AFTERWORD
The American founding lasted for twenty-eight years, from 1775 to 1803. During that time the United States declared and won its independence, a gradual revolution in the social landscape was begun that, truth be told, has yet to run its course, the political architecture for a viable nation-state was invented and implemented, a dialogue was institutionalized about how best to live within that architecture, and the prospects for a truly continental empire were rendered plausible. These were all precedent-setting triumphs.
On the tragic side, slavery south of the Potomac became a deeply embedded presence, now spreading relentlessly westward. And a vital Native American existence east of the Mississippi was put on the road to extinction. On the one hand, an enduring American republic, previously regarded as either improbable or impossible, now appeared quite likely. On the other hand, the prospects for a sectional battle over the preservation of slavery appeared inevitable. Both the seminal achievements and enduring failures of the American founding were now locked in place.
If the stories told in the preceding pages are essentially correct, then one venerable interpretation of the founding era, namely that it was a clash between “democracy” and “aristocracy,” is fatally flawed, since none of the founders, to include Jefferson, regarded democracy as a goal of the American Revolution. Throughout the founding era, the term “democracy” remained an epithet, used to tar an opponent with the charge of demagogy or popular pandering. Those founders who lived long enough to experience the early manifestations of a democratic culture—Adams, Jefferson, and Madison—all expressed the same baffled disappointment that their hard-won republic was being corrupted by an alien force.
The core question posed at the founding was not whether the United States should become a democracy, but whether it should become a viable nation-state. And the chief difference of opinion was not a clash between elitists and egalitarians—both the Federalists and the Republicans were elitists—but between those favoring a wholly sovereign federal government and those anxious to preserve state sovereignty over all domestic policy. The triumph of the latter perspective with Jefferson’s election in 1800 did have some democratic implications, chiefly by limiting the authority of the federal government over individual lives. But it also eliminated any chance of providing a political solution to slavery, the most conspicuously undemocratic feature of the founding, which required precisely the kind of robust federal power that the Jeffersonians viewed as a betrayal of their principles. It also, not so incidentally, made a moral resolution of the Native American problem politically impossible.
Throughout the founding era space proved the most indispensable American asset, and recognition of that elemental advantage afforded the occasion for three of the most creative moments: Washington’s decision to forgo a conventional clash of armies in favor of a protracted struggle that placed impossible demands on the occupying British army; Madison’s counterintuitive argument that a large republic would prove more stable than a small one; and Jefferson’s recognition that, despite Napoleon’s military prowess, no French army could prevent American settlement of the Louisiana Territory, and that the annexation of such a huge area would prove Madison’s point about the viability of an extended republic.
Equally creative, though not so much a decision as the realization that one was not necessary, was the willingness to blur the question of political sovereignty. The unresolvable issue of the founding era was federal versus state sovereignty. Any effort to enforce an unambiguous answer to that question would probably have killed the infant American republic in the cradle. By avoiding that decision and allowing competing answers to coexist, the very purpose of government was subtly transformed from an ultimate arbiter to a framework for ongoing argument. The partisan bickering that ensued throughout the 1790s suggests that none of the founders, with the possible exception of Madison, fully fathomed the modern argumentative context they had created.
The founding succeeded in the elemental sense that the American republic survived its most vulnerable phase of development. Against all odds, the most liberal nation-state in the history of Western Civilization was now firmly embedded in the most extensive and richly endowed plot of ground on the planet. The plot itself was providential, a function of geographic and chronological good fortune. The political shape of the emerging American nation was a more human creation, flawed as all human creations must be, most notably in its prevailing racial prejudices and its inability to envision the multicultural ideal we now take for granted.
But the design of the political foundation was ingenious in its combination of stability and agility, most especially its prudent placement of an expanding liberal mandate at the start that left room, up ahead, for an Abraham Lincoln and a Martin Luther King to join the list of founders. In that sense, perhaps the most creative act of the founding era was to make time as well as space an indispensable ally, in effect extending the founding moment everlastingly into the future.
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